
 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 

 
 

             
 

AGENDA 
Board of Supervisors Room - County Administrative Center 

224 North Edwards, Independence, California 
 

NOTICES TO THE PUBLIC:  (1) This meeting is accessible to the public both in person and, for convenience, via Zoom webinar. The Zoom webinar is accessible to the 
public at https://zoom.us/j/868254781. The meeting may also be accessed by telephone at the following numbers: (669) 900-6833; (346) 248-7799; (253) 215-8782; 
(929) 205-6099; (301) 715-8592; (312) 626-6799. Webinar ID: 868 254 781. Anyone unable to attend the Board meeting in person who wishes to make either a general 
public comment or a comment on a specific agenda item may do so by utilizing the Zoom "hand-raising” feature when appropriate during the meeting (the Chair will 
call on those who wish to speak). Generally, speakers are limited to three minutes.  
 
Remote participation for members of the public is provided for convenience only. In the event that the remote participation connection malfunctions for any reason, 
the Board of Supervisors reserves the right to conduct the meeting without remote access. Regardless of remote access, written public comments, limited to 250 
words or fewer, may be emailed to the Assistant Clerk of the Board at boardclerk@inyocounty.us 

 
(2) In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting please contact the Clerk of the Board at (760) 
878-0373 (28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II). Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure 
accessibility to this meeting. Should you because of a disability require appropriate alternative formatting of this agenda, please notify the Clerk of the Board 72 hours 
prior to the meeting to enable the County to make the agenda available in a reasonable alternative format. (Government Code Section 54954.2).  (2) If a writing, that is 
a public record relating to an agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, is distributed less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, 
the writing shall be available for public inspection at the Office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, 224 N. Edwards, Independence, California and is available per 
Government Code § 54957.5(b)(1). 

REGULAR MEETING 
August 8, 2023 

 

(Unless otherwise specified by time, items scheduled for either the morning or afternoon 
sessions will be heard according to available time and presence of interested persons.) 
  

 Start Time 
 

8:30 A.M. 1) Public Comment on Closed Session Item(s)  
Comments may be time-limited 

  
 

CLOSED SESSION  
  

 

  2) Public Employee Performance Evaluation – Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957 – Title: County Administrator. 

  
 

  3) Conference with County's Labor Negotiators – Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.6 – Regarding employee organizations: Deputy Sheriff’s 
Association (DSA); Elected Officials Assistant Association (EOAA); Inyo 
County Correctional Officers Association (ICCOA); Inyo County Employees 
Association (ICEA); Inyo County Probation Peace Officers Association 
(ICPPOA); IHSS Workers; Law Enforcement Administrators’ Association 
(LEAA). Unrepresented employees: all. County designated representatives – 
Administrative Officer Nate Greenberg, Assistant County Administrators Sue 
Dishion and Meaghan McCamman, Deputy Personnel Director Keri Oney, 
County Counsel John-Carl Vallejo, Senior Budget Analyst Denelle Carrington, 
Health and Human Services Director Marilyn Mann, and Chief Probation Officer 

 

 

 
 

 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS  •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY  

 

 
DAN TOTHEROH   •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I NG S LE Y  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NATE GREENBERG 
CO U NT Y ADM I NI ST R AT IV E  O FF IC ER  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

DARCY ELLIS 
AS S T .  CLE RK  O F T HE  BO ARD  

 

 

https://zoom.us/j/868254781
mailto:boardclerk@inyocounty.us


 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 

 
 

Jeff Thomson. 
  

 

OPEN SESSION (With the exception of timed items, which cannot be heard prior to their scheduled 
time, all open-session items may be considered at any time and in any order during the meeting in 
the Board’s discretion.) 

  
 

10 A.M. 4) Pledge of Allegiance 
  

 

  5) Report on Closed Session as Required by Law 
  

 

  6) Public Comment  
Comments may be time-limited 

  
 

  7) County Department Reports 
  

 

CONSENT AGENDA (Items that are considered routine and are approved in a single motion; 
approval recommended by the County Administrator) 

  
 

   

 8) Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes 

  Clerk of the Board | Assistant Clerk of the Board 
 

Recommended Action: Approve the minutes from the regular Board of 
Supervisors meeting of August 1, 2023 and the special Board of Supervisors 
meeting of August 2, 2023.  

 

   

  
9) 

 
Approval of Broadband Network Design Contract with Onward 

  County Administrator | Scott Armstrong 
 

Recommended Action: Approve the agreement between the County of Inyo 
and Inyo Networks, Inc., doing business as Onward, of Rancho Cucamonga, 
CA, for the provision of detailed network engineering design services in an 
amount not to exceed $225,000 for the period of August 8, 2023 through 
January 1, 2024, contingent upon Board approval of the Fiscal Year 2023-
2024 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all 
appropriate signatures being obtained.  

 

   

  
10) 

 
Appointments to the Child Abuse Prevention Council 

  Health & Human Services - First 5 | Marilyn Mann 
 

Recommended Action: A) Appoint Anonda Nelson, Chrystina Pope, Holly 
DeVincent, and Jeff Thomson each to unexpired two-year terms on the Child 
Abuse Prevention Council (CAPC) ending December 31, 2025; and B) Appoint 
Griselda Ortiz, Stephanie Tanksley, and Susanne Rizo each to unexpired two-
year terms on the CAPC ending December 31, 2024. 

 

   

  
11) 

 
Lone Pine Sidewalk Construction and American with Disability Act 
Improvements Project Bid Package and Advertising Approval 

  Public Works | Michael Errante 
 

Recommended Action: Approve the plans and specifications for the Lone 
Pine Sidewalk Construction and ADA Improvements Project and authorize the 
Public Works Director to advertise the project.  

 



 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 

 
 

    

REGULAR AGENDA  

  
 

   

10:15 A.M. 12) First Reading of an Ordinance and Public Hearing to Consider Adopting a 
Resolution Revising the Drinking Driver Program Fees 

  Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health | Marilyn Mann 
10 minutes (5min. Presentation / 5min. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action:   
A) Waive further reading of the proposed ordinance titled, "An Ordinance 

of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California, 
Repealing Ordinance No. 1172 (2012) Regarding Fees for the Inyo 
County Driving Under the Influence Program," and schedule enactment 
for August 15, 2023 at 10 a.m., in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 
County Administrative Center, Independence; 

B) Pursuant to Government Code section 66018, conduct a public hearing 
regarding Resolution No. 2023-22, which proposes to increase fees for 
the Inyo County Drinking Driver Program; and 

C) Adopt the proposed Resolution 2023-22 titled, "A Resolution of the 
Board of Supervisors, County of Inyo, State of California, Revising Inyo 
County Drinking Driver Program (DDP) Fees," which will go into effect 
upon the repeal of Ordinance No. 1172. 

 

   

  
13) 

 
Public Health and Prevention Community Health Assessment  

  Health & Human Services | Stephanie Tanksley, Jynx Frederick 
20 minutes (15min. Presentation / 5min. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action: Conduct a joint workshop with Stantec Consulting 
Services Inc. regarding Inyo County Public Health and Prevention's upcoming 
Community Health Assessment.   

  
14) 

 
Emergency Contract for Whitney Portal Road Repairs 

  Public Works | Michael Errante 
3 minutes  
 

Recommended Action:  
A) Amend the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Preliminary County Budget as 

follows: increase appropriation in the Road Budget 034600, 
Construction in Progress Object Code 5700 by $300,000 utilizing the 
Road Fund Balance (4/5ths vote required);  

B) Find, by a 4/5ths vote, that an emergency situation exists on Whitney 
Portal Road that will not permit a delay resulting from a competitive 
solicitation for bids, and that the action is necessary to respond to the 
emergency; and 

C) Approve the contract between the County of Inyo and Clair Concrete, 
Inc. of Bishop, CA for the provision of emergency culvert repair 
services in an amount not to exceed $1,290,548 and authorize the 
Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being 
obtained. 

 

   

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 

 
 

15) Personal Services Contract Amendments 

  County Administrator - Personnel | Keri Oney 
10 minutes (5min. Presentation / 5min. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action:  Approve the following: Amendment No. 1 to the 
contract between County of Inyo and Allison Krohn for the provision of 
personal services effective August 17, 2023; Amendment No. 1 to the contract 
between County of Inyo and Christie Martindale for the provision of personal 
services effective August 17, 2023; and Amendment No. 1 to the contract 
between County of Inyo and Carolynn Phillips for the provision of personal 
services effective August 17, 2023.  

 

   

 
 
16) 

 
Update on Regional Broadband Activities 

  County Administrator | Scott Armstrong 
20 minutes (15min. Presentation / 5min. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action:  This is an informational item only. 
 

   

  
17) 

 
Bishop Emergency Medical Services Status Update 

  County Administrator | Nate Greenberg 
70 minutes (10min. Presentation / 1hr. Discussion) 
 

Recommended Action:  A) Receive update on current status of 911 
Emergency Medical Services in the greater Bishop area, including a brief 
overview of responses received for the interim Request for Proposals; and B) 
Provide staff direction as appropriate. 
  

 

ADDITIONAL PUBLIC COMMENT & REPORTS  
  

 

  18) Public Comment  
Comments may be time-limited 

  
 

  19) Board Member and Staff Reports 
Receive updates on recent or upcoming meetings and projects 

  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4045  

 

Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes 
Clerk of the Board 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Clerk of the Board Assistant Clerk of the Board 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve the minutes from the regular Board of Supervisors meeting of August 1, 2023 and the special 
Board of Supervisors meeting of August 2, 2023. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
The Board is required to keep minutes of its proceedings. Once the Board has approved the minutes as 
requested, the minutes will be made available to the public via the County’s webpage, 
www.inyocounty.us. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

N/A Budget Unit  

Budgeted? N/A Object Code  
Recurrence N/A  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
N/A 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Draft August 2, 2023 Minutes 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D

https://www.inyocounty.us/government/publications-reports-plans-proclamations/meeting-agendas-minutes


 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

2. Draft August 1, 2023 Minutes 
  
APPROVALS: 
Hayley Carter Created/Initiated - 8/2/2023 
Darcy Ellis Final Approval - 8/2/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Board of Supervisors MINUTES                                                                                                                                  1                                                                                                                                     August 2, 2023      

    

County of Inyo
Board of Supervisors

August 2, 2023
 
The Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California, met in special session at the hour of 10:30 a.m., on 
August 2, 2023, in the Board of Supervisors Room, County Administrative Center, Independence, with the following 
Supervisors present: Chairperson Jennifer Roeser, presiding, Trina Orrill, Scott Marcellin, Matt Kingsley, and Jeff 
Griffiths, who was participating remotely from 5385 Road 110, Hopland, CA, pursuant to California Government Code 
54953(b)(1). Also present: County Administrator Nate Greenberg, County Counsel John-Carl Vallejo, and Assistant Clerk 
of the Board Darcy Ellis. 

Pledge of Allegiance Chairperson Roeser led the Pledge of Allegiance.

CAO –
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
Budget Workshop

CAO Nate Greenberg, Senior Budget Analyst Denelle Carrington, and Auditor-Controller 
Amy Shepherd provided an informational workshop on the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget. 
Topics for the morning session of the workshop included an overview of the budget process, 
the current big-picture budget position, and closing the gap between revenues and 
expenditures.

Recess/Reconvene The Chairperson recessed the meeting at 10:50 a.m. and reconvened the meeting at 11:22 
a.m. with all Board members present.

CAO –
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
Budget Workshop
(Continued)

CAO Nate Greenberg, Senior Budget Analyst Denelle Carrington, and Auditor-Controller 
Amy Shepherd continued their workshop on the FY 23-24 Budget. Topics for the post-lunch 
session included labor and staffing, deferred maintenance and special funding, and a wrap-
up/review.

Adjournment The Chairperson adjourned the meeting at 1:59 p.m. to 8:30 a.m. Tuesday, August 8, 2023, 
in the County Administrative Center in Independence.

                                                                                    Chairperson, Inyo County Board of Supervisors

Attest:   N A T E  G R E E N B E R G
         C l e r k  o f  t h e  B o a r d
              
           
 

 by:       _____________________________________
 Darcy Ellis, Assistant



Board of Supervisors MINUTES                                                                                                                                  1                                                                                                                                     August 1, 2023      

    

County of Inyo
Board of Supervisors

August 1, 2023
 
The Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California, met in regular session at the hour of 8:31 a.m., on 
August 1, 2023, in the Board of Supervisors Room, County Administrative Center, Independence, with the following 
Supervisors present: Chairperson Jennifer Roeser, presiding, Trina Orrill, Scott Marcellin, Matt Kingsley, and Jeff 
Griffiths, who was participating remotely from 5385 Road 110, Hopland, CA, pursuant to California Government Code 
54953(b)(1). Also present: County Administrator Nate Greenberg, County Counsel John-Carl Vallejo, and Assistant Clerk 
of the Board Darcy Ellis. 

Closed Session 
Public Comment

The Chairperson asked for public comment related to closed session items and there was 
nobody wishing to speak.

Closed Session Chairperson Roeser recessed open session at 8:32 a.m. to convene in closed session with 
all Board members present to discuss the following item(s): No. 2  Public Employee 
Performance Evaluation – Pursuant to Government Code §54957 – Title: County 
Administrator; No. 3 Conference with County's Labor Negotiators – Pursuant to 
Government Code §54957.6 – Regarding employee organizations: Deputy Sheriff’s 
Association (DSA); Elected Officials Assistant Association (EOAA); Inyo County Correctional 
Officers Association (ICCOA); Inyo County Employees Association (ICEA); Inyo County 
Probation Peace Officers Association (ICPPOA); IHSS Workers; Law Enforcement 
Administrators’ Association (LEAA). Unrepresented employees: all. County designated 
representatives – Administrative Officer Nate Greenberg, Assistant County Administrators 
Sue Dishion and Meaghan McCamman, Deputy Personnel Director Keri Oney, County 
Counsel John-Carl Vallejo, Senior Budget Analyst Denelle Carrington, Health and Human 
Services Director Marilyn Mann, and Chief Probation Officer Jeff Thomson.

Open Session Chairperson Roeser recessed closed session and reconvened the meeting in open session 
at 10:09 a.m. with all Board members present.

Pledge of Allegiance Film Commissioner Jesse Steele led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Report on Closed 
Session

County Counsel Vallejo reported that no action was taken during closed session that is 
required to be reported.

Intros The following new employees were introduced to the Board: Hazardous Materials Program 
Manager Richard Medina, Environmental Health; Aracely Mendoza, Social Services Aide, 
and Luz Nunez, Program Services Assistant, HHS; and Dispatcher Nina Potter, Sheriff's 
Office. 

Public Comment II. Chairperson Roeser asked for public comment related to items not calendared on the 
agenda and there was no one wishing to speak.

County Department 
Reports 

Public Works Director Mike Errante provided updates on damages to various County roads 
from this year’s storm and runoff events – including Whitney Portal Road – and discussed 
reimbursement from state and federal agencies.

Samantha Rottner, Program Manager for Child Support Services, announced on behalf of 
Child Support Services Director Amy Weurdig that August is National Child Support 
Awareness Month.



Board of Supervisors MINUTES                                                                                                                                  2                                                                                                                                     August 1, 2023      

Clerk of the Board –
Approval of Minutes

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to approve the minutes of 
the regular Board of Supervisors meeting of July 18, 2023. Motion carried unanimously.

CAO-Risk 
Management –
Emergency Water 
Mitigation Payment

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Oriill to declare Belfor USA 
Group, Inc. a sole-source provider for the Emergency Mitigation Water services provided at 
the Commander's House in the previous fiscal year and approve the payment of Invoice 
#1790754 in the amount of $86,357.06 to Belfor USA Group, Inc. Motion carried 
unanimously.

HHS-First 5 –
First 5 Children and 
Families Commission 
Alternate Appointment

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to appoint Mr. Alex 
Burciaga to an unexpired three-year term on the First 5 Commission for an alternate ending 
December 5, 2023. Motion carried unanimously.

HHS-Health & 
Prevention –
MCAH Agreement

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to ratify and approve the 
Maternal Child and Adolescent Health (MCAH) Agreement No. 202314 between the County 
of Inyo and California Department of Public Health in the amount of $129,402.93 in State and 
Federal reimbursement for the period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024, contingent 
upon the Board's adoption of the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget, and authorize Marissa 
Whitney, MCAH Director, and the Board Chairperson to sign the Agreement Funding 
Application (AFA) Policy Compliance and Certification, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained. Motion carried unanimously.

HHS-Fist 5 –
MCAH/CA Home 
Visiting Program 
Agreement

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to ratify and approve the 
Maternal Child and Adolescent Health (MCAH) Agreement No. CHVP SGF EBHV 23-14 
between the County of Inyo and California Department of Public Health in the amount of 
$412,058 in State funding for the period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024, contingent 
upon the Board's adoption of the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget, and authorize Marissa 
Whitney, MCAH Director, and the Board Chairperson to sign the Agreement Funding 
Application (AFA) Policy Compliance and Certification, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained. Motion carried unanimously. 

HHS-Social Services –
eXemplar Human 
Services Contract 
Amendment No. 1

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to ratify and approve 
Contract Amendment No. 1 between the County of Inyo and eXemplar Human Services for 
the provision of Independent Contractor Services, revising the Term of Agreement and Limit 
on Amount Payable Under Agreement to include one additional month of services for Fiscal 
Year 2022-2023. Motion carried unanimously.

Public Works – 
Emergency South Lake 
Culvert Installation 
Project

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to: 
A) As authorized by Public Contract Code section 20395(c), find that a threat of flood 

and/or storm damage to South Lake Road necessitated immediate action to 
safeguard life, health, or property such that the Department of Public Works had to 
take immediate action to perform work on a county road without soliciting bids; and 

B) Approve the payment of an invoice from Spiess Construction in the amount of 
$43,400, covering the performance of emergency work on South Lake Road.

Motion carried unanimously.

Public Works – Bishop, 
Indy Airport USFS 
Helitack Agreements

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to:
A) Approve the lease agreement between the County of Inyo and the United States of 

America for the real property, located at the Bishop Airport, described as 700 Wye 
Rd., in an amount not to exceed $29,716.63 per year for the five-year firm term of 
August 1, 2023 through July 31, 2028, and an amount not to exceed $30,608.13 per 
year for a five-year soft term of August 1, 2028 through July 31, 2033, and authorize 
the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained; 
and 

B) Approve the lease agreement between the County of Inyo and the United States of 
America for the real property, located at the Independence Airport, described as 800 
N. Edwards St., in an initial amount not to exceed $14,035.03 per year for the 10-
year firm term of August 1, 2023 through July 31, 2033, and a 10-year soft term of 
August 1, 2033 through July 31, 2043, with rate escalations of 3% every five years, 
and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures 



Board of Supervisors MINUTES                                                                                                                                  3                                                                                                                                     August 1, 2023      

being obtained. Motion carried unanimously.

Public Works – United 
Rentals
Sole-Source Purchase 
Order

Moved by Supervisor Kingsley and seconded by Supervisor Orrill to:
A) Declare United Rentals of Ridgecrest, CA a sole-source provider of equipment 

rentals; and 
B) Ratify and approve the additional amount of $65,000 for United Rentals of 

Ridgecrest, CA and authorize the issuance of a purchase order in an amount not to 
exceed $120,222.63, payable to United Rentals of Ridgecrest, CA for equipment 
rentals in the event the agreement needs to be extended for the continued runoff. 
Motion carried unanimously.

CAO-Advertising 
County Resources –
Film Commissioner 
Written Report

Inyo County Film Commissioner Jesse Steele presented a written report to the Board on Film 
Commission activities.

CAO - Emergency 
Response Multi-
Agency Cost Share 
Agreement

Moved by Supervisor Orrill and seconded by Supervisor Marcellin to approve and authorize 
the Board Chair to sign the Cost Share Agreement for Multi-Agency Response to 2023 
Winter Storms. Motion carried unanimously.

Recess/Reconvene Chairperson Roeser recessed open session for a break at 10:48 a.m. and reconvened the 
meeting in open session at 11:23 a.m. with all Board members present.

CAO –
Bishop EMS Status 
Update

CAO Greenberg updated the Board on the status of EMS service in the greater Bishop area, 
referencing the August 18 meeting where previous interim EMS provider Coast 2 Coast 
announced it could no longer provide services without the assistance of a subsidy. 

Greenberg explained that the 90-day agreement with Coast 2 Coast was terminated on 
August 21st. and an informal bid advertised for a 30-day emergency contract, not to exceed 
$25,000 which would extend through August 22, 2023. The County received two bids, one 
from Coast 2 Coast and the other from REACH Air Medical Services. At the last minute, 
Coast 2 Coast withdrew its bid and the contract was awarded to REACH.

Greenberg said the County has simultaneously continued to move forward with issuing a 
new Request for Proposals that will cover interim EMS service from August 22, 2023 through 
December 31, 2024. This RFP closes on August 7th.

Greenberg said the new RFP specifically requires interested parties to disclose whether a 
subsidy would be needed in order to maintain consistent services to the greater Bishop area 
and that the intention is to bring bids and information back to the table at the August 8, 2023 
Board meeting for review. He said the Board will then be asked to select a respondent at the 
August 15 Board meeting.

Public comment was given by Big Pine Fire Chief Damon Carrington, Mike Patterson with 
REACH/Sierra Life Flight, and Olancha Cartago Fire Department Chief Chelsea Benbrook.

Discussion between the Board and staff ensued, with the Board acknowledging that tackling 
the Bishop EMS issue – and countywide EMS shortage affecting volunteer fire departments 
– requires simultaneously addressing immediate, long-term, and permanent solutions. Board 
members cited the countywide EMS study as one way to reach a permanent solution. 
Discussion turned to local volunteer ambulance services. 

The Board acknowledged that the County simply does not have the funding capacity to 
subsidize EMS services offered countywide. Supervisor Kingsley suggested appointing a 
liaison between the County and local volunteer fire departments while the EMS study is 
underway. He was subsequently nominated to be that liaison and accepted with the request 
that a staff member assist him. 

Chairperson Roeser said she wanted the consultant preparing the EMS study to provide a 



Board of Supervisors MINUTES                                                                                                                                  4                                                                                                                                     August 1, 2023      

public update to the Board at a later date. She also said she is not willing to sign or vote for a 
contract that proposes a subsidy from the General Fund unless the local volunteer fire 
departments are similarly subsidized. She proposed a one-time payment of $25,000 to the 
county’s six volunteer fire departments. The rest of the Board was supportive of the idea. 

The Board directed staff to identify a funding source with which to pay the one-time $25,000 
volunteer EMS subsidies.

Public Comment III. Chairperson Roeser asked if there was any public comment and there was no one wishing to 
speak.

Board Member & Staff 
Reports

CAO Greenberg reported being busy with budget meetings, EMS issues and attending a 
stakeholder meeting on the status of the County’s public safety radio system.

County Counsel John-Carl Vallejo reported that the Indian Wells Valley Groundwater 
Authority issued a Notice of Preparation of an Environmental Impact Report for a water 
pipeline project and will be seeking public comment through August 31, including at two 
public forums.

Supervisor Orrill said she attended the NACo Annual Conference in Austin, TX as well as the 
final session of CSAC’s New Supervisor Institute in Sacramento.

Supervisor Marcellin said he attended the Local Transportation Commission meeting last 
Wednesday, the Emergency Medical Care Committee meeting last Monday, and the the final 
session of CSAC’s New Supervisor Institute in Sacramento.

Supervisor Kingsley said he was traveling in the Midwest last week but still had lots of 
interaction with constituents concerned about Whitney Portal Road and the EMS issue.

Supervisor Griffiths reported attending the NACo Annual Conference in Austin, TX.

Chairperson Roeser said she participated in a Reimagine Recreation roundtable, attended 
the NACo Annual Conference in Austin, TX, and had several follow-up meetings with parties 
to the Local Transportation Commission Memorandum of Understanding. 

Adjournment The Chairperson adjourned the meeting at 12:45 p.m. to 10:30 a.m. Wednesday, August 2, 
2023, in the County Administrative Center in Independence.

                                                                                    Chairperson, Inyo County Board of Supervisors

Attest:   N A T E  G R E E N B E R G
         C l e r k  o f  t h e  B o a r d
              
           
 

 by:       _____________________________________
 Darcy Ellis, Assistant



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-3963  

 

Approval of Broadband Network Design Contract with 
Onward 

County Administrator 
 ACTION REQUIRED 

   
ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and Inyo Networks, Inc., doing business as Onward, 
of Rancho Cucamonga, CA, for the provision of detailed network engineering design services in an 
amount not to exceed $225,000 for the period of August 8, 2023 through January 1, 2024, contingent 
upon Board approval of the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, 
contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
The County of Inyo was awarded a $1,000,000 ($500,000 per year for two years) grant in January 2023 
under the California Public Utilities (CPUC) Local Area Technical Assistance (LATA) program to develop 
shovel-ready plans for last-mile broadband projects throughout underserved portions of the County. 
 
The County posted a Request for Proposals for detailed last-mile network engineering design plans and 
received responses from two companies.  Our evaluation team, comprised of the current Broadband 
Planning Team, reviewed the two proposals, and based on several criteria, selected Onward's proposal 
as the winning proposal.  Additionally, Onward's proposal included design services for all 17 locations 
identified in this Phase 1-A (first of four phases) of the grant-funded project and the other proposal only 
included design services for 13 of the 17 locations. 
 
The deliverables from this agreement will be last-mile network design plans that the County will submit to 
the CPUC for reimbursement, which we will then use to pay Onward for its design services. 
 
The expected timeline of this design work will overlap the grant application window for the CPUC Last-
Mile Federal Funding Account (FFA) construction grant.  In order to facilitate FFA grant applications, the 
County will work closely with Onward to prioritize the scheduling of the work for those areas that will be 
most likely to result in FFA construction grant awards. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

Grant Funded -- California Public Utilities 
Commission Local Agency Technical Assistance 

Budget Unit 612200 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

Budgeted? Yes Object Code 5265 

Recurrence This is the first of four expected contracts in the two-
year grant performance period 

 

Current Fiscal Year Impact 
Up to $500,000 for the current calendar year starting January 26, 2023, based on reimbursable work 
products. 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
Up to $500,000 for the future calendar year starting January 26, 2024, based on reimbursable work 
products. 
Additional Information 
This is a reimbursement grant based on actual expenditures and costs incurred, therefore budget 
numbers are provided for the upper limit in either grant. 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Your Board could choose to not approve this grant consent form, in which case we will not use grant 
funds to develop engineering plans for broadband deployment to support future broadband construction 
projects. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Inyo Broadband Expansion Design Request for Proposals (RFP) 
2. Onward RFP Response 
3. Onward Contract 
  
APPROVALS: 
Scott Armstrong Created/Initiated - 8/2/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/2/2023 
Scott Armstrong Approved - 8/2/2023 
John Vallejo Approved - 8/2/2023 
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/3/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

County of Inyo 
Request for Proposals (RFP) 

RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo 
 
 

County of Inyo  

Broadband Expansion Projects: Phase 1-A 
To create detailed, shovel-ready, last-mile network construction engineering designs to 

connect the unserved and underserved remote and rural population centers and cities in Inyo 
County to symmetrical 100Mbps or better broadband Internet service. 

 

Submit Proposals to: 

County of Inyo, Clerk of the Board 
P.O. Drawer N 

224 North Edwards Street 
Independence, CA 93526 

Attn:  RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo 
 

 

Date Released:   

April 21, 2023 (Submittal Date Updated on May 5, 2023) 

 

Submittal Deadline: 

Monday, June 5, 4:30 p.m. 

  



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 2 of 9 

Table of Contents 
 

I. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

County of Inyo LATA-Funded Broadband Expansion Projects .............................................................. 3 

II. Background ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

The County of Inyo is a governmental organization ............................................................................. 3 

Description of the current Internet service in Inyo County .................................................................. 4 

Purpose of the Broadband Expansion Projects ..................................................................................... 4 

III.    Project Scope of Work ........................................................................................................................... 4 

Project Deliverables .............................................................................................................................. 4 

Subprojects List ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

IV.    County Information and Responsibilities .............................................................................................. 6 

Administrative Information .................................................................................................................. 6 

Inquiries and County Project Contact ................................................................................................... 6 

Rights of the County .............................................................................................................................. 6 

V. Responsive Proposal ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Deadline ................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Proposal Format and Requirements ..................................................................................................... 7 

Use of Proposals and Respondent Guarantees .................................................................................... 8 

Standard County Contract .................................................................................................................... 8 

Obligations Assumed by Submitting a Proposal ................................................................................... 8 

Failure to Execute Contract ................................................................................................................... 9 

Insurance and Bonds ............................................................................................................................. 9 

Respondent Competency ...................................................................................................................... 9 

Prime Contractor Responsibility ........................................................................................................... 9 

Legal Address ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

VI.    Evaluation and Selection ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Selection and Award of Contract ........................................................................................................ 10 

Ranking ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Evaluation Criteria ............................................................................................................................... 10 

VII.   Funding and Timeline for the Broadband Expansion Projects ............................................................ 11 

 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 3 of 9 

I. Introduction 

County of Inyo LATA-Funded Broadband Expansion Projects 
The County of Inyo is soliciting proposals from firms with demonstrated experience in designing fiber-
optic network solutions to develop and deliver detailed engineering plans to be used for future 
construction projects of high-speed, last-mile broadband infrastructure to communities, households, 
and businesses in specified project areas.  

This project, funded by a State of California Local Agency Technical Assistance (LATA) grant, is intended 
to create shovel-ready, last-mile, detailed network construction engineering designs to connect the 
unserved and underserved remote and rural population centers and cities in Inyo County to symmetrical 
100Mbps or better, preferably 1Gbps or better, broadband Internet service.  This project will also result 
in shovel-ready construction engineering designs for middle-mile network extensions to support the 
last-mile construction plans in regions where there is no current middle-mile network and where there 
are no current plans for State-funded middle-mile construction. 

This project is for pre-construction work only, as the LATA Grant will not fund any construction.  The 
detailed engineering plans generated by this project are expected to be used for future construction 
projects funded by anticipated State of California Federal Funding Account (FFA) grants and other grant 
programs.  This project (Phase 1-A), is the first phase of four phases (1-A, 1-B, 2-A and 2-B), each of 
which will focus on several location-specific subprojects. 

II. Background 

The County of Inyo is a governmental organization 
Inyo County, California was organized in 1866 from land set aside from Mono and Tulare Counties.  The 
County was originally named Coso County, and the town of Independence is designated as the County 
seat. The County is characterized as rural and frontier and is in the central-eastern part of the state.  At 
10,227 square miles, Inyo County is geographically the second largest county in California.  The 
governmental agency was organized, in part, to provide safety and services to its population. 

According to 2020 census information, the population of Inyo County 
is 19, 016, up from 18,546 in the 2010 census.  Census data also 
indicates 7,954 Inyo County households in 2020. 

While the County seat is located in Independence, the largest 
population center of the County is approximately 45 miles to the 
north in Bishop, California.  The City of Bishop is the County’s only 
incorporated city and covers an area of approximately two-square 
miles with a population of nearly 4,000 residents.  Bishop and its 
immediate suburbs host a population of approximately 12,000. 

The County of Inyo governmental organization is the County’s largest 
single employer with approximately 460 employees. 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 4 of 9 

Description of the current Internet service in Inyo County 
The successful completion of the ambitious Digital 395 project in late 2013 that was funded by the 
American Reinvestment and Recovery Act project equipped the Owens Valley with a middle-mile 
broadband network capable of providing practically limitless broadband capacity for generations.  While 
the Digital 395 network has the potential to deliver high-speed broadband Internet service to most of 
the residents and businesses in Inyo County, many of our population centers are very remote and too 
small to be a reliable return on investment for an Internet Service Provider (ISP), offering very little 
Incentive for ISPs to construct and operate wireline broadband Internet networks in those areas. 

A large portion of our County is several miles from the Digital 395 middle-mile network and is essentially 
unserved by wireline Internet Service Providers.  These rural areas require significant investment in 
middle-mile network infrastructure to support last-mile broadband Internet service. 

Several of our smaller population centers do not offer enough return on investment for ISPs to be 
interested in constructing last-mile networks to provide services to those areas, even if they are close to 
the Digital 395 middle-mile network. 

Purpose of the Broadband Expansion Projects 
This project will develop shovel-ready, detailed engineering designs to deliver synchronous broadband 
Internet service at 100Mbps or better, preferably 1Gbps or better, to several unserved or underserved 
communities, households, and businesses throughout the County of Inyo.  For the purposes of this 
grant, “unserved and underserved households or businesses” means one or more households or 
businesses that are not currently served by a wireline connection that reliably delivers at least 25 Mbps 
download speed and 3 Mbps upload speed. 

We anticipate FFA Grant funding opportunities in late summer to fund construction of the last-mile 
networks designed as a part of this project. 

III. Project Scope of Work 

Project Deliverables 
Shovel-ready, last-mile detailed engineering designs that can be used by any reasonably capable and 
qualified network construction company to construct last-mile fiber-to-the-premise network 
infrastructure. 

● For each of the subprojects identified in the Subprojects List below that the contractor choses to 
propose, provide separate, detailed, shovel-ready, engineering designs for last-mile network 
infrastructure that is capable of providing 100Mbps, preferably 1Gbps, symmetrical or better 
Internet service. 

● For any of the subprojects that the contractor responds to that can be bundled as a single, 
larger, combined project that results in cost savings, describe the larger, combined project, and 
detail the savings and the changes to the associated standalone project descriptions. 

● Engineering designs should include network infrastructure connections from middle-mile 
network to all unserved communities, households and businesses associated with each 
subproject.  Unserved locations for the purposes of this grant are those with wireline Internet 
service speeds less than 25Mbps download and 3Mbps upload. 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 5 of 9 

● If your designs include middle-mile network to support your last-mile designs, identify those 
network segments in your designs as such. 

● Complete any required environmental review pursuant to CEQA or NEPA, including any required 
technical studies necessary to complete them.  In the event of any scope change due to project 
site conditions, provide all required professional environmental services necessary to obtain 
environmental clearance. Ensure that the project design documents comply with the 
requirements set forth in the environmental documents and any required regulatory agency 
permits. 

● Designs must comply with:  Federal laws; State laws; local laws; rules and regulations of 
governing utility districts; and rules and regulations of other authorities with jurisdiction over 
the construction of network infrastructure. 

● All deliverables for this project, Phase 1-A, must be submitted to the County of Inyo prior to July 
1, 2023. 

Subprojects List 
The list of subprojects by name for Phase 1-A is below: 

o Inyo-01-Aberdeen 
o Inyo-08-Black Rock 
o Inyo-09-Cartago 
o Inyo-12-Coso Junction 
o Inyo-19-Enchanted Village 
o Inyo-20-Fish Slough 
o Inyo-23-Haiwee 
o Inyo-26-Keeler 
o Inyo-27-Laws 
o Inyo-28-Little Lake 
o Inyo-32-Olancha 
o Inyo-33-Pearsonville 
o Inyo-35-Round Valley 
o Inyo-36-Rovana 
o Inyo-37-Rudolph Ranch 
o Inyo-46-Tinnemaha 
o Inyo-50-Wilkerson 

 
This is the first of four phases of projects that are grouped based on the availability of middle-mile 
network, incumbent providers’ plans to upgrade existing services, and existing broadband expansion 
priorities.  The census blocks associated with these subprojects are in the attached spreadsheet (LATA 
Census Blocks - 20220824 - County of Inyo.xlsx) and the County of Inyo GIS system at the following link:  
https://gis.inyoco.com/arcgis/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=e12ef7446c4e4923be659565a744266
8.   

https://gis.inyoco.com/arcgis/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=e12ef7446c4e4923be659565a7442668
https://gis.inyoco.com/arcgis/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=e12ef7446c4e4923be659565a7442668


 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 6 of 9 

IV. County Information and Responsibilities 

Administrative Information 
The County of Inyo through the Office of the County Administrator is sponsoring this project, and the 
Regional Broadband Coordinator is managing the project.  Respondents are specifically instructed to not 
contact any elected officials or other County employees for meetings, conferences or discussions related 
to this RFP.  Unauthorized contact with elected officials or County personnel may result in rejection of 
the respondent’s RFP response.   

Inquiries and County Project Contact 
County of Inyo, CAO – Regional Broadband Coordinator 
1360 N. Main Street 
Bishop, California  93514 
 
Fax: 760-872-4319 
Email:  sarmstrong@inyocounty.us 

 
All inquiries should be directed in writing via email to Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator, 
County of Inyo.  The closing time for inquiries related to this RFP is Friday, June 2, 4:30 p.m.  All inquiries 
and the associated County responses will be posted on the County website.  Interested parties are 
cautioned that the opportunity to obtain additional information should not be viewed as a sales 
presentation opportunity. 

Rights of the County 
The County retains sole discretion regarding every aspect of the RFP evaluation and selection process.  
The County reserves the right to, but is not limited to: 

● Select all, some or none of the proposed solutions for individual subprojects or groups of 
subprojects from a proposal for contract award 

● Accept other than lowest offer 
● Reject any or all responses without cause 
● Reject all responses and seek new responses when such action is judged to be in the best 

interest of the County 
● Request and receive additional information as the County believes is necessary, and disqualify 

any respondent and reject any responses for failure to promptly provide such additional 
information 

● Request additional information or clarification from respondents, or allow corrections of errors 
or omissions 

● Postpone or extend the RFP deadline for its own convenience or benefit 
● To disregard all non-conforming, non-responsive or conditional proposals 
● Approve or disapprove sub-contractors 
● Waive technical defects in responses and to accept the response which, in the sole judgment of 

the County, is in its best interest 
● Negotiate with any and all respondents 
● Change the amount of funding available 
● Enter into a contract with another respondent in the event the originally selected respondent 

fails to execute an contract with the County 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 7 of 9 

● Reject any or all proposals or portions thereof, and to reduce the scope of the Project 

V. Responsive Proposal 

Deadline 
The deadline for submitting a proposal for the Broadband Expansion Projects Phase 1-A is Monday, June, 
4:30 p.m.  

Proposal Format and Requirements 
Use the following format and requirements in developing a proposal in response to our request for 
proposals.  You can include additional information that you feel is relevant, but the evaluation team will 
evaluate your proposal based on the criteria and requirements identified in this RFP. 

● Identify clearly on the cover that your proposal is for RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo for the County of 
Inyo, California. 

● Include a Scope of Work statement to summarize the proposal and deliverables. 
● Identify the spreadsheet filename of the data that you used to prepare your proposal. 
● Identify the name of each of the subprojects included in your proposal. 
● Identify any groupings of subprojects included in your proposal. 
● Describe in detail how you will satisfy the Project Scope of Work for each subproject or group of 

subprojects in your proposal. 
● Detail the costs associated with the project deliverables for each subproject in your proposal. 
● Detail the costs associated with the project deliverables for each grouping of subprojects in your 

proposal. 
● Indicate the average cost of the detailed engineering design plans per subscriber location for 

each subproject or group of subprojects. 
● Indicate whether your company can construct the network infrastructure that you are 

proposing. 
● Estimate the rough-order-of-magnitude construction costs associated with each subproject in 

your proposal. 
● Estimate the rough-order-of-magnitude construction costs associated with each grouping of 

subprojects in your proposal. 
● Indicate the average cost of the anticipated network construction per subscriber location for 

each project or subproject. 
● For each subproject or grouping of subprojects, describe the Internet service speeds that will be 

attainable with this solution, including the following: 
o Meets 100Mbps / 20Mbps 
o Meets 100Mbps synchronous 
o Meets 1Gbps synchronous 
o Exceeds 1Gbps synchronous 

● Indicate whether the proposed solution will support open-access, last-mile network 
infrastructure. 

● Indicate whether the proposed solution will connect to an open-access, middle-mile network. 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 8 of 9 

● Indicate whether the proposed solution will include additional middle-mile network, and if so, 
whether that middle-mile network will be designed to be operated as an open-access, middle-
mile network. 

● Identify the networking technology proposed. 
● Describe any critical engineering design issues associated with each subproject and how you will 

address these. 
● Describe any additional equipment needed to support the proposed solution that is not included 

as part of the proposed solution. 
● Describe any critical environmental issues associated with each subproject and how you will 

address these. 
● Describe any additional steps beyond the solution being proposed that could reduce costs and 

shorten timelines. 
● Develop a project plan with staff resource scheduling and a timeline. 
● Demonstrate qualifications and experience by providing examples and descriptions of network 

infrastructure design projects for at least three customers that demonstrate the understanding 
of, and the ability to design last-mile network infrastructure solutions. 

● Include at least 3 customer references with email addresses and phone numbers. 
● Identify your company’s proximity to the County of Inyo for the purposes of understanding our 

region’s unique and challenging geography for this project. 
● Describe your financial, operational and technical capacity to execute the project successfully 

within the specified timeframe. 
● State whether you will be able to enter into a County of Inyo Contract #151 (Exhibit A to this 

RFP). 
● The proposal should be delivered to the Clerk of the Board.  The proposal should include two 

paper copies and a high-resolution, digitally readable file, preferably in PDF format. 

Use of Proposals and Respondent Guarantees 
The respondent’s proposal submitted in reply to this RFP acknowledges that the rights have been 
reserved to include the selected respondent’s proposal or any part or parts of the selected respondent’s 
proposal in the final contract.  Submission of any proposal indicates acceptance of the conditions 
contained in the RFP.  All proposals submitted shall be valid for a period of 120 calendar days from the 
date of proposal opening. 

Standard County Contract 
The respondent selected for contract award will be required to enter into a contract with the County of 
Inyo using the County of Inyo Contract #151 (Exhibit A to this RFP).  Identify any requested exceptions to 
the contract in the response to this RFP.  Only exceptions identified in the submittal responses to this 
RFP will be considered during contract negotiations with the selected vendor. 

Obligations Assumed by Submitting a Proposal 
By submitting a proposal, the respondent certifies that: 

● Those submitting proposals do so entirely at their expense.  There is no expressed or implied 
responsibility on the part of the County to reimburse respondents for any expenses incurred for 
preparing or submitting proposals, providing additional information when requested by the 
County, or participating in any selection interviews. 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 9 of 9 

● The respondent thoroughly understands the terms of the specifications and has successful 
experience in each area of the proposed work. 

● The respondent has made themselves familiar with all Federal and State Laws, local laws, 
ordinances, and regulations which in any manner affect the project work or the delivered 
product. 

● The prices in this proposal have been arrived at independently and without consultation, 
communication, or agreement, for the purpose of restricting competition as to any matter 
relating to such prices, with any other respondent. 

● The respondent has not paid or agreed to pay any fee or commission, or any other item of value 
contingent on the award of this contract to any employee, official, or current contracting 
consultant of the County of Inyo. 

No contract shall be considered binding upon the County until the County Board of Supervisors has 
made a final award and executed the contract.  The County is interested in working with a respondent 
able to initiate the project immediately following successful contract negotiations. 

Failure to Execute Contract 
Failure to properly execute and deliver the contract within thirty (30) days as specified, at the County’s 
discretion, may be cause for cancellation of the award. 

In the event the award to the successful respondent is cancelled, the award may then be made to the 
next highest ranked responsive and responsible respondent, and such respondent shall fulfill every 
stipulation embraced herein as if the original party to whom the award was made; or the County may 
reject all of the proposals, as its interest may require. 

Insurance and Bonds 
The successful respondent shall procure and maintain insurance as specified in Attachment D to the 
County of Inyo Contract #151, and with the provisions specified in said Attachment D. 

Respondent Competency 
The County may make such investigation as it deems necessary to determine the ability of the 
respondent to perform the work.  The County may require the respondent to present satisfactory 
evidence that it has sufficient experience and skilled workers to complete the work.  The County will use 
the forgoing information, if required, as an aid to selecting a proposal for contract award.  Nothing 
contained in this section shall be construed as depriving the County of its discretion in the matter of 
selecting a proposal for contract award.  The County reserves the right to reject any proposal if the 
evidence submitted by the respondent or an investigation of such respondent fails to satisfy the County 
that such respondent is properly qualified to carry out the obligations of the Project. 

Prime Contractor Responsibility 
Any respondent’s proposal that includes equipment, software or services that are marketed, supported 
or supplied by other companies or individuals must contain a statement that the respondent will act as 
the prime contractor for the entirety of project, not limited to the development, design and delivery of 
the project. 

Legal Address 
The address given in the proposal is hereby designated as the legal address of the Respondent.  Such 
address may be changed at any time by notice in writing via email delivered to the County Project 



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 10 of 9 

Contact.  The delivering at such legal address or the depositing in any post office, in a postpaid, 
registered wrapper, directed to the above-named address of any notice, letter, or other communication 
to the Respondent shall be deemed to be a legal and sufficient service upon the Respondent. 

VI. Evaluation and Selection 

Selection and Award of Contract 
The Contract award will be based on “best value.”  The County’s evaluation team will evaluate all of the 
relevant factors, including responsiveness to the proposal requirements, qualifications of the proposer, 
the proposer’s history in providing the service and any other reasonably established factor necessary to 
determine what proposer will provide the “best value” to the County.  The County may select a subset 
of your proposed solutions for subprojects or groupings of subprojects. 

As soon as practicable after evaluation and ranking of the proposals, selection of the top finalist, and 
contract negotiations resulting in a signed contract with the vendor, the contract will be presented to 
the Board of Supervisors for award at its sole discretion, contingent on funding.  The contract 
instrument will be a County of Inyo Contract #151. 

In the event the County is unable to negotiate a contract with the top finalist, the County may, at its sole 
discretion, negotiate a contract with another respondent, or choose not to award the contract, or put 
the proposal out to bid again.  

Ranking 
A team selected by the County will evaluate all proposals deemed responsive to the request.  The 
proposals will be ranked based on an analysis conducted by the evaluation team.   The top ranked 
respondents will be deemed finalists and may be asked to meet in person as a means of further 
evaluating the respondent’s claims provided in the proposed solution.     

Discussions and product demonstrations requested by the County may take place with the finalists to 
clarify the proposal and obtain a best and final offer.  Any award granted will be granted to the 
respondent proposing the best solution for the County as determined solely by the County. 

Evaluation Criteria 
No commitment will be made to select a respondent’s proposal solely on the basis of price.  Cost is an 
influence, but is not in the evaluation criteria. The County will evaluate the detail substantiating the 
general estimated costs provided as part of your response to this RFP. 

The primary basis for selection will be the proposed solution’s ability to meet the County’s project goal 
and associated requirements; however, consideration will also be given to overall value, as well as to the 
respondent’s reputation and ability to be a strong business partner. 

  



 
County of Inyo RFP-2023-LATA-1A-Inyo  Broadband Expansion Projects 
 

Page 11 of 9 

Responses to this RFP will be evaluated according to the following criteria for the overall proposal: 

Evaluation Criteria for the overall RFP Response 100 Points 
Completeness of Response Pass/Fail 
Ability to Satisfy the Scope of Work 25 
Experience and Qualifications 25 
Financial, Technical, and Operational Capacity 25 
Contractor’s proximity to and familiarity with the region 25 
Ability to enter into County of Inyo Contract #151 Pass/Fail 

 

Responses to this RFP will be evaluated according to the following criteria for each of the subprojects or 
groupings of subprojects: 

 

 

VII. Funding and Timeline for the Broadband Expansion Projects 

This project is funded by a State of California LATA grant.  Project work to develop the detailed 
engineering designs is expected to begin as soon as the RFP has been awarded.  The full scope of the 
work for this project is expected to be completed prior to July 1, 2023 in order to meet the anticipated 
FFA construction grant application window timeline of July 1 through August 31, 2023.  The project 
deliverables will be presented to the CPUC for reimbursement through the County of Inyo. 

 

*** 

Evaluation Criteria for each Subproject or Group of Subprojects 180 Points 
Last-mile solution meets 100Mbps/20Mbps bandwidth speeds Pass/Fail 
Last-mile solution meets 100Mbps synchronous bandwidth speeds 10 
Last-mile solution meets 1Gbps synchronous bandwidth speeds 10 
Last-mile solution exceeds 1Gpbs synchronous bandwidth speeds 10 
Design uses fiber-optic cable for last-mile network designs 10 
Design supports open-access, last-mile network infrastructure 10 
Design uses existing or planned open-access, middle-mile network 20 
Project Plan with Staff Resource Scheduling and Timeline 10 
Any middle-mile proposed will be open access Pass/Fail 
Proposed solution includes only CPUC eligible locations Pass/Fail 
Points from Overall RFP Response above 100 



 

 
 

& 
 

 
 
 
 
 

RESPONSE TO PROPOSAL 
FOR 

 
COUNTY OF INYO BROADBAND 

EXPANSION PROJECTS: PHASE 1-A 
___________________________________ 

 
RFP-2023-LATA-1A-INYO 

 
 
 

 
 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1. QUALIFICATION PACKAGE ....................................................................................................................... 7 

2. SCOPE OF WORK STATEMENT ................................................................................................................ 24 

A. IDENTIFY THE SPREADSHEET FILENAME OF THE DATA THAT YOU USED TO PREPARE YOUR PROPOSAL. .... 25 

3. IDENTIFY ANY GROUPINGS OF SUBPROJECTS INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL .......................................... 25 

4. IDENTIFY ANY GROUPINGS OF SUBPROJECTS INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL .......................................... 25 

5. DESCRIBE IN DETAIL HOW YOU WILL SATISFY THE PROJECT SCOPE OF WORK FOR EACH SUBPROJECT OR 
GROUP OF SUBPROJECTS IN YOUR PROPOSAL................................................................................................. 25 

6. DETAIL THE COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROJECT DELIVERABLES FOR EACH SUBPROJECT IN YOUR 
PROPOSAL ..................................................................................................................................................... 26 

7. INDICATE THE AVERAGE COST OF THE DETAILED ENGINEERING DESIGN PLANS PER SUBSCRIBER LOCATION 
FOR EACH SUBPROJECT OR GROUP OF SUBPROJECTS ...................................................................................... 26 

8. INDICATE WHETHER YOUR COMPANY CAN CONSTRUCT THE NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE THAT YOU ARE 
PROPOSING ................................................................................................................................................... 26 

9. ESTIMATE THE ROUGH-ORDER-OF-MAGNITUDE CONSTRUCTION COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EACH 
SUBPROJECT IN YOUR PROPOSAL. .................................................................................................................. 27 

10. ESTIMATE THE ROUGH-ORDER-OF-MAGNITUDE CONSTRUCTION COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EACH 
GROUPING OF SUBPROJECTS IN YOUR PROPOSAL ........................................................................................... 27 

11. INDICATE THE AVERAGE COST OF THE ANTICIPATED NETWORK CONSTRUCTION PER SUBSCRIBER 
LOCATION FOR EACH PROJECT OR SUBPROJECT .............................................................................................. 27 

12. FOR EACH SUBPROJECT OR GROUPING OF SUBPROJECTS, DESCRIBE THE INTERNET SERVICE SPEEDS 
THAT WILL BE ATTAINABLE WITH THIS SOLUTION, INCLUDING THE FOLLOWING: ............................................. 28 

13. INDICATE WHETHER THE PROPOSED SOLUTION WILL SUPPORT OPEN-ACCESS, LAST-MILE NETWORK 
INFRASTRUCTURE .......................................................................................................................................... 28 

14. INDICATE WHETHER THE PROPOSED SOLUTION WILL CONNECT TO AN OPEN-ACCESS, MIDDLE-MILE 
NETWORK ...................................................................................................................................................... 30 

15. INDICATE WHETHER THE PROPOSED SOLUTION WILL INCLUDE ADDITIONAL MIDDLE-MILE NETWORK, 
AND IF SO, WHETHER THAT MIDDLE-MILE NETWORK WILL BE DESIGNED TO BE OPERATED AS AN OPEN-ACCESS, 
MIDDLE- MILE NETWORK ............................................................................................................................... 30 

16. IDENTIFY THE NETWORKING TECHNOLOGY PROPOSED ...................................................................... 33 

17. DESCRIBE ANY CRITICAL ENGINEERING DESIGN ISSUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUBPROJECT AND HOW 
YOU WILL ADDRESS THESE ............................................................................................................................. 33 

18. DESCRIBE ANY ADDITIONAL EQUIPMENT NEEDED TO SUPPORT THE PROPOSED SOLUTION THAT IS NOT 
INCLUDED AS PART OF THE PROPOSED SOLUTION ........................................................................................... 34 

19. DESCRIBE ANY CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUBPROJECT AND HOW 
YOU WILL ADDRESS THESE ............................................................................................................................. 35 

20. DESCRIBE ANY ADDITIONAL STEPS BEYOND THE SOLUTION BEING PROPOSED THAT COULD REDUCE 
COSTS AND SHORTEN TIMELINES .................................................................................................................... 36 

21. DEVELOP A PROJECT PLAN WITH STAFF RESOURCE SCHEDULING AND A TIMELINE .............................. 38 



 

22. DEMONSTRATE QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE BY PROVIDING EXAMPLES AND DESCRIPTIONS OF 
NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE DESIGN PROJECTS FOR AT LEAST THREE CUSTOMERS THAT DEMONSTRATE THE 
UNDERSTANDING OF, AND THE ABILITY TO DESIGN LAST-MILE NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE SOLUTIONS ......... 39 

23. INCLUDE AT LEAST 3 CUSTOMER REFERENCES WITH EMAIL ADDRESSES AND PHONE NUMBERS .......... 39 

24. IDENTIFY YOUR COMPANY’S PROXIMITY TO THE COUNTY OF INYO FOR THE PURPOSES OF 
UNDERSTANDING OUR REGION’S UNIQUE AND CHALLENGING GEOGRAPHY FOR THIS PROJECT ....................... 40 

25. DESCRIBE YOUR FINANCIAL, OPERATIONAL, AND TECHNICAL CAPACITY TO EXECUTE THE PROJECT 
SUCCESSFULLY WITHIN THE SPECIFIED TIMEFRAME ......................................................................................... 40 

26. STATE WHETHER YOU WILL BE ABLE TO ENTER INTO A COUNTY OF INYO CONTRACT #151 (EXHIBIT A TO 
THIS RFP) ....................................................................................................................................................... 41 

 

 

 

 

  



 

1. Qualification Package 

  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

  



 

 
  



 

 
 

  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
  



 

 
2. Scope of Work Statement 
 
Onward is proposing a FTTH network to all the communities outlined in phase 1-a of the Inyo 
County RFP-2023-LATRA-Inyo. Onward will focus on the estimated 365 homes that are currently 
not served or underserved while keeping in mind that the last mile FTTH and middle mile 
networks are going to be operated as open access networks. Onward as part of its field will 
design and engineer access points to interconnect future FTTH projects into the open access 
network. Onward will do this as a phase approved in order to produce baseline maps and 
engineering to take advantage of any State or Federal Grants designed to close the digital 
divide. Onward's phases and timeline are as follows:  
 
Phase 1 Desktop Study:  
 
The engineering team will create initial engineering drawings that connect the last mile to the 
middle-mile network. These drawings will be developed through a desktop study using Google 
Earth (aerial and Streetview) to show conduit, splice boxes, and fiber design. A comprehensive 
bill of materials will also be included to estimate costs for grant funding.  
 
Phase 2 Fielding:  
 
The field engineer team will utilize the initial engineering design from Phase 1 to conduct on-
site fieldwork. The purpose of this fielding process is to update the Phase 1 Engineering designs 
based on the actual conditions in the field, such as existing utilities and culverts, which may 
impact the overall design.  
 
Phase 3 Final Engineering for Construction/Permitting:  
 
The engineering team will incorporate the field engineer's revisions into the designs. Once 
completed, the final engineering drawings will be ready for construction and permitting, 
ensuring they meet all requirements.  
 
Timeline:  

 

- Phase 1 Desktop Study – Week 1 to Week 4  

- Phase 2 Fielding – Week 2 to Week 7 (This is roughly two areas per day)  

- Phase 3 Final Engineering for Construction/Permitting – Week 6 to Week 8 
 
 



 

3. Identify the spreadsheet filename of the data that you used to prepare 
your proposal.  

 
- Final LATA CensusBlocks - 20220824 - County of Inyo_rv1.xlsm 

 

4. Identify any groupings of subprojects included in your proposal 
 
Onward's proposal for the Inyo County RFP-2023-LATA-Inyo does not segregate the project into 
discrete subprojects for cost estimation. Given the scale of the smaller locations within 1-A, we 
approached the entire 1-A section holistically, using a weighted average to derive our overall 
pricing. This strategic decision reflects our unified and comprehensive approach to project 
delivery. 
 

5. Identify any groupings of subprojects included in your proposal  
 
N/A - No subprojects. 
 

6. Describe in detail how you will satisfy the Project Scope of Work for 
each subproject or group of subprojects in your proposal 

 
Phase 1 Desktop Study:  
 
The engineering team will create initial engineering drawings that connect the last mile to the 
middle-mile network. These drawings will be developed through a desktop study using Google 
Earth (aerial and Streetview) to show conduit, splice boxes, and fiber design. A comprehensive 
bill of materials will also be included to estimate costs for grant funding.  
 
Phase 2 Fielding:  
 
The field engineer team will utilize the initial engineering design from Phase 1 to conduct on-
site fieldwork. The purpose of this fielding process is to update the Phase 1 Engineering designs 
based on the actual conditions in the field, such as existing utilities and culverts, which may 
impact the overall design.  
 
Phase 3 Final Engineering for Construction/Permitting:  
 
The engineering team will incorporate the field engineer's revisions into the designs. Once 
completed, the final engineering drawings will be ready for construction and permitting, 
ensuring they meet all requirements.  



 

 
Timeline:  
 

- Phase 1 Desktop Study – Week 1 to Week 4  

- Phase 2 Fielding – Week 2 to Week 7 (This is roughly two areas per day)  

- Phase 3 Final Engineering for Construction/Permitting – Week 6 to Week 8 
 

7. Detail the costs associated with the project deliverables for each 
subproject in your proposal  

 
Onward has established a comprehensive quote of $225,000.00 for the entirety of the 1-A 
project scope. As our approach does not separate the communities into distinct subprojects but 
rather by project phases, our billing procedure aligns with the completion of each phase. The 
cost distribution for each phase is as follows: 
 
Phase 1: Desktop Study will constitute 34% of the total cost. 
Phase 2: Fielding will make up 33% of the overall expense. 
Phase 3: Final Engineering for Construction/Permitting will also account for 33% of the project 
cost. 
 
This phased billing method ensures cost transparency and allows for the systematic allocation 
of resources throughout the project. 
 

8. Indicate the average cost of the detailed engineering design plans per 
subscriber location for each subproject or group of subprojects  

 
Onward did not use subprojects. See answer above. 

 

9. Indicate whether your company can construct the network 
infrastructure that you are proposing  

 
Onward is equipped to provide comprehensive services for the Inyo County Open Access 
Network project, encompassing design, engineering, operation, and construction management. 
However, it's important to note that the actual construction work will be outsourced in 
accordance with Inyo County's procurement guidelines. 

 



 

10. Estimate the rough-order-of-magnitude construction costs 
associated with each subproject in your proposal.  

 
Please see attached spreadsheet (combined tab): Final LATA CensusBlocks - 20220824 - County 
of Inyo_rv1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Estimate the rough-order-of-magnitude construction costs 
associated with each grouping of subprojects in your proposal  

 
Please see attached spreadsheet (combined tab): Final LATA CensusBlocks - 20220824 - County 
of Inyo_rv1 

 

12. Indicate the average cost of the anticipated network construction 
per subscriber location for each project or subproject  

 
Please see attached spreadsheet (combined tab): Final LATA CensusBlocks - 20220824 - County 
of Inyo_rv1 

 



 

13. For each subproject or grouping of subprojects, describe the Internet 
service speeds that will be attainable with this solution, including the 
following:  

 
- Meets 100Mbps / 20Mbps 
- Meets 100Mbps synchronous 
- Meets 1Gbps synchronous  
- Exceeds 1Gbps synchronous  

 
 
Onward proposes a fiber-to-the-home project that involves dedicated fiber connections to each 
home, which then connects back to a distribution cabinet. This cabinet can be either active or 
passive, depending on the availability of the middle-mile network. For the layer 2 distribution, 
we propose utilizing Calix's XSGPON technology.  
 
With the implementation of Calix's XSGPON, we can achieve internet service speeds that meet 
the current demand for 1 Gbps synchronous speeds and can scale up to 10 Gbps synchronous 
speeds. This scalability is achieved by simply changing out the ONT (Optical Network Terminal) 
without requiring additional hardware changes. 
 
The proposed solution supports synchronous speeds of up to 2 Gbps without hardware 
modifications. Along with the high-speed connectivity, the solution also includes the integration 
of Calix U4 enhanced Wi-Fi router, further enhancing the overall wireless network performance. 
 
In summary, the fiber-to-the-home project, utilizing Calix's XSGPON technology, offers the 
capability to deliver synchronous internet speeds of up to 2 Gbps initially, with the flexibility to 
scale up to 10 Gbps in the future by upgrading the ONT. Including the Calix U4 enhanced Wi-Fi 
router ensures users a robust and efficient wireless network experience. 
 
 

14. Indicate whether the proposed solution will support open-access, 
last-mile network infrastructure  

 
The proposed solution from Onward would indeed support open-access network infrastructure, 
although it operates at the layer 2 level of the OSI model rather than layer 1. To enable open-
access, Onward's approach involves assigning different Virtual Local Area Networks (VLANs) to 
each Internet Service Provider (ISP). These VLANs serve as pathways to transport the ISP's 
customer traffic to their respective routers or peering points. 
 
To interconnect with the county's last-mile networks, each ISP would be required to collocate 
at a predetermined location or data center. This collocation would facilitate the necessary 



 

interconnections between the ISPs and the last-mile networks, allowing for seamless traffic 
flow and network integration. 
 
While the solution doesn't operate at the layer 1 level, the implementation of VLANs and the 
designated collocation points enable multiple ISPs to access and utilize the last-mile network 
infrastructure, promoting open-access capabilities within the network architecture. 
 
Please see the diagram below for a visual representation:  
  



 

15. Indicate whether the proposed solution will connect to an open-
access, middle-mile network 

 
The proposed solution will connect to an open-access, middle-mile network. Specifically, it 
requires backhaul and transport to the existing open-access middle-mile network owned by 
California Broadband Cooperative Inc., also known as Digital 395. 
 
By leveraging the infrastructure provided by Digital 395, the proposed solution can establish the 
necessary connectivity between the last-mile network and the wider internet. This connection 
enables efficient data transmission and access to various online services and resources. 
 
The utilization of Digital 395's open-access middle-mile network ensures that multiple service 
providers and users can benefit from the connectivity, promoting a competitive and diverse 
internet landscape. It facilitates the efficient exchange of data and promotes the availability of 
high-quality, reliable internet services across the region. 
 

  

16. Indicate whether the proposed solution will include additional 
middle-mile network, and if so, whether that middle-mile network will 
be designed to be operated as an open-access, middle- mile network 
 

The proposed solution does require the construction of additional middle-mile infrastructure to 
facilitate interconnections. This newly built middle-mile network would be designed and 
operated as an open-access middle-mile network, fostering competition and accessibility. 
 
The implementation of the open-access middle-mile network encompasses both the layer 1 and 
layer 2 levels of the OSI model. This ensures that service providers and users can connect and 
exchange data seamlessly, regardless of their specific network requirements. 
 
By operating as an open-access middle-mile network, the infrastructure enables multiple 
service providers to utilize the network for interconnections, promoting a competitive and 
diverse internet landscape. This open-access approach fosters innovation, choice, and fair 
market participation among service providers, ultimately benefiting end-users with enhanced 
connectivity and a wider range of services. 
 
(Map detail on following pages)  



 

©
 
2

0
2

3
 
M

ic
r
o

s
o

f
t
 
C

o
r
p

o
r
a

t
io

n
 
E
a

r
t
h

s
t
a
r
 
G

e
o

g
r
a
p

h
ic

s
  

S
IO

 ©
 
2

0
2

3
 
T

o
m

T
o

m
 2

1

N
O

T
 T

O
 
S

C
A

L
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 
O

F
 I

N
Y

O

B
R

O
A

D
B

A
N

D
 E

X
P

A
N

S
I
O

N
 
 P

R
O

J
E

C
T

S
: 

P
H

A
S

E
 
1

-
A

R
F

P
-
2

0
2

3
-
L

A
T

A
-
1

A
-
I
N

Y
O

L
E

G
E

N
D

:

N
E

W
 
M

I
D

D
L
E

 
M

I
L

E

E
X

IS
T

.
 M

ID
D

L
E

 M
IL

E

IN
Y

O
 
C

O
U

N
T

Y

A
R

E
A

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

V
E

R
S

I
O

N
:0

6
/
0

2
/
2

0
2

3

A
B

E
R

D
E

E
N

B
L

A
C

K
 
R

O
C

K

C
A

R
T

A
G

O

C
O

S
O

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N

E
N

C
H

A
N

T
E

D

V
I
L

L
A

G
E

F
I
S

H
 S

L
O

U
G

H

H
A

I
W

E
E

K
E

E
L

E
R

L
A

W
S

L
IT

T
L

E
 L

A
K

E

O
L

A
N

C
H

A

P
E

A
R

S
O

N
V

IL
L

E

R
O

U
N

D
 
V

A
L

L
E

Y

R
O

V
A

N
A

R
U

D
O

L
P

H
 
R

A
N

C
H

T
I
N

N
E

M
A

H
A

W
I
L

K
E

R
S

O
N

 
 
  



 
©

 2
0

2
3

 M
ic

r
o

s
o

f
t
 
C

o
r
p

o
r
a
t
io

n
 E

a
r
t
h

s
t
a
r
 
G

e
o

g
r
a

p
h

ic
s
 
 S

I
O

 ©
 
2

0
2

3
 
T

o
m

T
o

m
 

©
 
2

0
2

3
 
M

ic
r
o

s
o

f
t
 C

o
r
p

o
r
a

t
i
o

n
 
E
a

r
t
h

s
t
a
r
 
G

e
o

g
r
a
p

h
ic

s
 
 S

I
O

 
©

 
2

0
2

3
 
T
o

m
T

o
m

 

2
2

N
O

T
 T

O
 
S

C
A

L
E

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 
O

F
 I

N
Y

O

B
R

O
A

D
B

A
N

D
 E

X
P

A
N

S
IO

N
  

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
:
 P

H
A

S
E

 
1

-
A

R
F

P
-
2

0
2

3
-
L

A
T

A
-
1

A
-
I
N

Y
O

L
E

G
E

N
D

:

N
E

W
 
M

I
D

D
L
E

 
M

I
L

E

E
X

IS
T

.
 M

ID
D

L
E

 M
IL

E

I
N

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

A
R

E
A

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

V
E

R
S

I
O

N
:
0

6
/
0

2
/
2

0
2

3

A
B

E
R

D
E

E
N

B
L
A

C
K

 R
O

C
K

C
A

R
T

A
G

O

C
O

S
O

J
U

N
C

T
IO

N

E
N

C
H

A
N

T
E

D

V
I
L

L
A

G
E

F
IS

H
 S

L
O

U
G

H

H
A

IW
E

E

K
E

E
L

E
R

L
A

W
S

L
I
T

T
L

E
 L

A
K

E

O
L

A
N

C
H

A

P
E

A
R

S
O

N
V

IL
L

E

R
O

U
N

D
 V

A
L

L
E

Y

R
O

V
A

N
A

R
U

D
O

L
P

H
 R

A
N

C
H

T
IN

N
E

M
A

H
A

W
I
L

K
E

R
S

O
N

  



 

 

17. Identify the networking technology proposed 
 
The proposed networking technology is a fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) network with dedicated 
fiber connections to each home, utilizing Calix's XSGPON technology for layer 2 transport of the 
OSI model. 
 
XSGPON, which stands for 10 Gigabit Symmetric Passive Optical Network, is a fiber optic 
technology that provides ultra-fast internet speeds. It offers both high downstream and 
upstream bandwidth, allowing for synchronous transmission speeds. XSGPON can deliver 
speeds of up to 10 Gbps, making it highly suitable for high-speed residential and business 
internet connectivity. 
 
In addition to XSGPON, the proposed solution includes the use of Calix U4's enhanced Wi-Fi, 
which is a router designed to provide advanced wireless network capabilities. The Calix U4 
enhances Wi-Fi performance, coverage, and reliability, ensuring a seamless and efficient 
wireless experience for users within the fiber-to-the-home network. 
 
To manage, support, and ensure the operation of the county's open-access network, the 
proposed solution utilizes Calix OSS/BSS software. OSS (Operations Support System) and BSS 
(Business Support System) software are comprehensive platforms that provide network 
management, provisioning, billing, and other crucial functions for service providers. Calix's 
OSS/BSS software enables efficient management and support of the open-access network 
infrastructure, ensuring its smooth operation and facilitating the delivery of services by multiple 
providers. 
 
In summary, the proposed networking technology includes fiber-to-the-home with dedicated 
fiber connections, utilizing Calix's XSGPON for layer 2 transport. It incorporates the Calix U4's 
enhanced Wi-Fi for wireless connectivity, and Calix OSS/BSS software to manage and support 
the open-access network infrastructure. 
 

18. Describe any critical engineering design issues associated with each 
subproject and how you will address these 

 
Designing and engineering Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) middle mile networks to interconnect 
with the California Broadband Cooperative's Digital 395 network or the State of California's 
proposed Middle Mile Network presents several critical engineering design issues. Let's break 
them down and outline how they can be addressed: 
 
Choice of Routes: The most critical design issue is selecting the optimal route. Minimizing the 
overall cost and maximizing the service's efficiency and reliability is important. These routes 



 

should ideally be in the public right-of-way (ROW) to avoid potential legal issues. We'll carry out 
comprehensive route planning to address this, using GIS data to identify the most appropriate 
ROWs. We'll also collaborate with local authorities and stakeholders to minimize disruption and 
gain necessary permissions. 
 
Aerial vs Underground Installation: Another critical decision is choosing between aerial and 
underground routes. Aerial routes are usually cheaper and faster to install but can be more 
susceptible to weather-related damage and aesthetic concerns. On the other hand, 
underground routes offer greater protection but are more expensive and require more complex 
installation processes. To solve this issue, we'll conduct a cost-benefit analysis for each 
potential route, taking into account factors such as local weather patterns, ground conditions, 
existing infrastructure, and community feedback. The solution could be a mix of both, 
depending on the conditions of the location. 
 
Interoperability: The new FTTH network needs to be interoperable with the existing Digital 395 
network and the State's proposed Middle Mile Network. This requires careful selection and 
design of the network hardware and protocols. To ensure compatibility, we'll address this issue 
by collaborating with the teams managing these existing networks. We'll also adhere to 
industry-standard protocols and consider the use of open-source or flexible network 
technologies to ease integration. 
 
Capacity and Scalability: The network design ensures it has enough capacity to handle current 
demand and the ability to scale for future growth. We'll address this by implementing a 
modular network design, which allows for easy addition of capacity as demand increases. This 
could involve designing the network in sections or zones that can be individually upgraded. The 
biggest decision is the purchase of Dark-Fiber or Transport services.  
 
Resiliency and Redundancy: The network needs to be resilient to ensure consistent service 
delivery. This can be challenging due to the potential for natural disasters, equipment failure, or 
other disruptions. We'll design redundancy at critical points in the network to ensure that there 
are backup paths for data if the primary route is disrupted. 
By methodically addressing these critical issues, we can ensure the successful implementation 
and operation of the FTTH middle mile networks, providing reliable, high-speed internet 
connectivity to the communities served 

 

19. Describe any additional equipment needed to support the proposed 
solution that is not included as part of the proposed solution 

 
While Onward’s solution encompasses a vast range of equipment necessary to build and 
operate a Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) middle-mile network, a few additional components or 
systems may be required but not included in your current proposal. They might be important 
for network operation, maintenance, and management. 



 

 
Network Management System (NMS): Even if the network is open access, there still needs to 
be a central system to manage the network's operation, monitor its performance, and 
troubleshoot any issues. This might not be a physical piece of equipment, but it's still an 
important part of supporting the proposed solution. 
 
Field Service Equipment: Technicians will need tools and equipment for installation, 
maintenance, and repair tasks. These could include fiber optic cable splicing machines, optical 
power meters, and OTDRs (Optical Time-Domain Reflectometers) for diagnosing issues with the 
fiber. 
 
End User Equipment: While the network equipment is vital, so are the devices at the user end - 
the Optical Network Units (ONUs) or Optical Network Terminals (ONTs). These devices convert 
the fiber-optic light signals into electrical signals that user devices can understand. 
 
Training & Support: Since Inyo County will own and operate this network, the county's 
personnel may require comprehensive training to manage and troubleshoot the network 
effectively. It's also crucial to have a reliable source of ongoing technical support, whether in 
the form of a contract with an external company such as Onward or a dedicated internal team. 
 
Physical Infrastructure: Depending on the existing infrastructure, there may be a need for 
additional physical assets like fiber ducts, towers, or poles for aerial routes and potentially even 
construction equipment for digging trenches for underground routes. 
 
Environmental Control Systems: Network hardware, especially in remote cabinets, need a 
controlled environment to operate efficiently. HVAC systems might be necessary to maintain 
temperature and humidity within safe operating levels, and such equipment might not be 
included in your proposal. 
While your solution is turn-key, these additional considerations ensure the smooth running of 
the network beyond just the hardware and materials involved in its construction. 

 

20. Describe any critical environmental issues associated with each 
subproject and how you will address these 

 
Implementing Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) middle-mile networks certainly brings about several 
environmental considerations, especially in California's stringent environmental laws and the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Here are some potential environmental issues 
associated with each subproject and how they can be addressed. 
 
Land Disturbance: Using existing disturbed Rights of Way (ROW) can minimize land disturbance 
associated with new construction and the need to clear natural areas. In cases where 



 

disturbance is unavoidable, the best construction practices will be used to minimize impact, and 
restoration plans will be implemented after the construction phase. 
 
Emission from Construction Equipment: Heavy equipment used in the project may generate 
emissions that contribute to air pollution. This will be mitigated using the latest machinery that 
meets emission standards and scheduling and planning construction to minimize equipment 
use. 
Noise and Vibration: Construction activities can create noise and vibration that disrupt local 
communities and wildlife. Noise control measures will be taken, including limiting construction 
hours to less sensitive times of the day and using noise barriers where necessary. 
 
Waste Generation: The project will inevitably generate waste, including packaging materials, 
scrap materials, and potentially hazardous materials like batteries. We'll implement a waste 
management plan to minimize, recycle, or dispose of waste. 
 
Effects on Wildlife and Habitats: The project might impact local wildlife and their habitats, 
particularly aerial routes that could interfere with bird migration patterns. An environmental 
impact study can help identify these issues and find ways to minimize them, such as placing 
infrastructure along existing corridors like roads or implementing bird-friendly designs. 
 
Cultural and Historic Preservation: Some areas may have cultural or historical significance, and 
their disturbance may have legal and ethical implications. Careful surveying and consultations 
with local communities and cultural preservation authorities will help ensure these areas are 
respected. 
 
Climate Change Considerations: The long-term resilience of the infrastructure to climate 
change (such as the increased risk of wildfires or floods) needs to be considered during the 
design phase. This might involve selecting more resilient materials, designing for redundancy, 
or choosing routes that are less exposed to these risks. 
 
By addressing these environmental issues proactively and adhering to the principles of CEQA, 
the FTTH project can minimize its environmental impact and contribute to sustainable 
development goals. 

 

21. Describe any additional steps beyond the solution being proposed 
that could reduce costs and shorten timelines 

 
Several strategies can be employed beyond the proposed solution to decrease expenses further 
and expedite the project timeline: 
 
Enhancing Field Engineering Quality: The accuracy of field engineering is crucial in minimizing 
project costs. It involves ground-truthing the assumptions made during desktop engineering 



 

based on baseline maps, verifying soil conditions, and determining the most effective 
construction methods. High-quality field engineering can significantly reduce unexpected costs 
and project delays. 
 
Centralization of Network Infrastructure: We will assess each community to determine if we 
can return the FTTH connections to central locations. By doing so, we can leverage economies 
of scale with the XGS-PON equipment, thereby reducing per-unit costs and enhancing network 
management efficiency. 
 
Partnership with Middle Mile Providers: Collaborating with middle-mile providers to negotiate 
backhaul costs can reduce overall costs. By establishing agreements that consider future 
network growth, we can ensure that backhaul costs remain manageable as the network scales 
up. 
 
Optimization of Network Design: An optimized network design could enable sharing of 
resources among different communities, reducing the need for redundant equipment or 
infrastructure and leading to cost and time savings. 
 
Proactive Permitting Process: Engaging early and proactively with local regulatory bodies can 
streamline the permitting process, reducing time delays and potential administrative costs. 
By implementing these additional steps, we can significantly reduce costs and shorten the 
project timeline, ensuring efficient and cost-effective deployment of the FTTH network. 
 

  



 

22. Develop a project plan with staff resource scheduling and a timeline 
 
 
 
  



 

23. Demonstrate qualifications and experience by providing examples 
and descriptions of network infrastructure design projects for at least 
three customers that demonstrate the understanding of, and the ability 
to design last-mile network infrastructure solutions 

 
Onward brings substantial qualifications and experience in designing and implementing last-
mile network infrastructure solutions, as demonstrated by our work on several significant 
projects: 
 
Nicasio, CA: In Nicasio, Onward designed and constructed a Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) network 
that served 290 residences. This project involved deploying Calix XGS-PON technology, 
positioning Onward as the first service provider in California to offer multi-gig services. The 
California Advanced Services Fund (CASF) funded the project, reflecting our ability to secure 
funding and deliver high-quality infrastructure solutions. 
 
Hidden Hills, CA: Onward designed another FTTH network in Hidden Hills, California, serving 
690 homes. While the construction will be outsourced, Onward will manage the project, 
overseeing the installation and ensuring all requirements are met. Our involvement resulted in 
a network that provides a minimum of 2 Gig synchronous Internet service to each customer, 
showcasing our commitment to delivering high-speed connectivity. 
 
California Broadband Cooperative: Onward played a significant role in the design, engineering, 
and construction management of the Digital 395 project, a grant initiative sponsored by the 
National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) and CASF. The Digital 395 
network extends 450 miles from Reno, Nevada, to Barstow, California, and serves over 290 
anchor institutions. This project is a testament to our capacity to manage large-scale 
infrastructure initiatives, particularly those involving multiple stakeholders and geographic 
areas. 
 
In each of these examples, Onward has demonstrated a thorough understanding of last-mile 
network infrastructure design and the ability to implement these solutions successfully. Our 
experience and expertise enable us to deliver high-quality services tailored to the needs of 
diverse communities and stakeholders. 

 

24. Include at least 3 customer references with email addresses and 
phone numbers 

 
1. Kerry Kallman, City Manager, City of Hidden Hills 

kerry@hiddenhillscity.org 
818-888-9281 
 

mailto:kerry@hiddenhillscity.org


 

2. Michele Williams, CIO, Culver City 
michele.williams@culvercity.org 
310-253-5950 
 

3. Eric Blantz 
eblantz@gmail.com  
415-847-1232   

 

25. Identify your company’s proximity to the County of Inyo for the 
purposes of understanding our region’s unique and challenging 
geography for this project 

 
Onward maintains a strong local presence in the region surrounding Inyo County, which places 
us in an advantageous position to understand and address the unique geographical challenges 
of this project. We currently have four dedicated employees stationed on the eastern side of 
the Sierra Nevada mountain range. 
 
Additionally, we operate an office in Bishop, California, and have a maintenance yard in Laws, 
California. This proximity and existing infrastructure demonstrate our established commitment 
to the region and ensure that we can promptly address any project requirements or challenges 
that arise during the implementation of the network infrastructure in Inyo County. 

 

26. Describe your financial, operational, and technical capacity to 
execute the project successfully within the specified timeframe 

 
Onward possesses financial, operational, and technical capabilities that successfully position us 
to execute the proposed project within the stipulated timeline. As detailed in our response to 
this Request for Proposals (RFP), we have demonstrated considerable resources and expertise. 
 
In terms of our staff, we have a dedicated team of engineers who are experienced and skilled in 
managing and executing projects of this scale and complexity. This guarantees that we have the 
necessary human resources to handle the technical demands of the project efficiently. 
 
Furthermore, Onward has a well-established operational presence in Inyo County, underpinned 
by extensive local knowledge and practical experience. This ensures that we can swiftly address 
any regional-specific issues or challenges that may arise during project execution, contributing 
to our ability to deliver within the specified timeframe. However, the timeline outlined in the 
RFP is not feasible.  
 

mailto:michele.williams@culvercity.org
mailto:eblantz@gmail.com


 

Overall, our stability and operational and technical proficiency equip us with the capacity to 
successfully execute this project, adhering to the defined timeline and delivering a high-quality 
network infrastructure solution. 

 

27. State whether you will be able to enter into a County of Inyo 
Contract #151 (Exhibit A to this RFP) 

 
Affirmative, Onward is fully prepared to enter into Contract #151 with the County of Inyo as 
stipulated in Exhibit A to this Request for Proposals (RFP). We are ready to commit to the terms 
and conditions laid out in the contract and look forward to the opportunity to collaborate on 
this project. 

 
 
 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 1 

7/25/2023 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND INYO NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 
 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 
 INTRODUCTION 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Inyo (hereinafter referred to as "County") has the need for the detailed 
network engineering design services of Onward (hereinafter referred to as (“Design Professional / 
Consultant”), and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter 
contained, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
 TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

1. SCOPE OF WORK. 
 
 The Design Professional/Consultant shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and 
work set forth in Attachment A, attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein. Requests by the 
County to the Design Professional/Consultant to perform under this Agreement will be made by the Regional 
Broadband Coordinator. Requests to the Design Professional/Consultant for work or services to be 
performed under this Agreement will be based upon the County's need for such services.  The County makes 
no guarantee or warranty, of any nature, that any minimum level or amount of services or work will be 
requested of the Design Professional/Consultant by the County under this Agreement.  County by this 
Agreement incurs no obligation or requirement to request from Design Professional/Consultant the 
performance of any services or work at all, even if County should have some need for such services or work 
during the term of this Agreement. 
 
 Services and work provided by the Design Professional/Consultant at the County's request under 
this Agreement will be performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established 
by applicable federal, state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions. 
 

2. TERM. 
 
 The term of this Agreement shall be from August 8, 2023 to January 1, 2024 unless sooner 
terminated as provided below. 

 
 

3. CONSIDERATION. 
 
 A. Compensation. County shall pay Design Professional/Consultant in accordance with the 
Schedule of Fees (set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which 
are performed by Design Professional/Consultant at the County's request. 
 B. Travel and per diem. County shall reimburse Design Professional/Consultant for the 
travel expenses and per diem which Design Professional/Consultant incurs in providing services and work 
requested by County under this Agreement.  Design Professional/Consultant shall request approval by the 
County prior to incurring any travel or per diem expenses.  Requests by Design Professional/Consultant for 
approval to incur travel and per diem expenses shall be submitted to the Regional Broadband Coordinator.  
Travel and per diem expenses will be reimbursed in accordance with the rates set forth in the Schedule of 
Travel and Per Diem Payment (Attachment C).  County reserves the right to deny reimbursement to Design 
Professional/Consultant for travel or per diem expenses which are either in excess of the amounts that may 
be paid under the rates set forth in Attachment C, or which are incurred by the Design 
Professional/Consultant without the prior approval of the County. 
 C. No additional consideration. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Design 
Professional/Consultant shall not be entitled to, nor receive, from County, any additional consideration, 
compensation, salary, wages, or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 2 

7/25/2023 

Specifically, Design Professional/Consultant shall not be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to 
consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance benefits, retirement benefits, disability retirement 
benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other paid leaves of absence of any type or kind 
whatsoever. 
 D. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement. The total sum of all payments made by 
the County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement shall not exceed  
$ 225,000  (hereinafter referred to as "Contract Limit").  County expressly reserves the right to deny any 
payment or reimbursement requested by Contractor for services or work performed which is in excess of the 
contract limit. 
 E. Billing and payment. Design Professional/Consultant shall submit to the County, once a 
month, an itemized statement of all hours spent by Design Professional/Consultant in performing services 
and work described in Attachment A, which were done at the County's request.  This statement will be 
submitted to the County not later than the fifth (5th) day of the month.  The statement to be submitted will 
cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the last day of the 
preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the hours were worked and describe the 
nature of the work which was performed on each day. This information will be used to provide the California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) the required Contractor Reporting updates.    
 Upon receipt of the completed project designs from the Design Professional/Consultant, County 
shall submit those designs to the CPUC for reimbursement.  Upon receipt of a reimbursement from the 
CPUC, County will remit the full amount of the reimbursement up to the Contract Limit to the Design 
Professional/Consultant within ten (10) business days. 
 Design Professional/Consultant understands and agrees that, despite the submission of monthly 
invoices to County, it shall receive no payment under this agreement until County receives a reimbursement 
from the CPUC at the end of the Term of this Agreement.  Design Professional/Consultant further agrees 
that final payment to the Design Professional/Consultant shall be based solely on the reimbursement 
amount received by the County from the CPUC, not on the invoices submitted to the County throughout the 
life of this Agreement.   
 F. Federal and State taxes. 
  (1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal 
or state income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Design 
Professional/Consultant under the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
  (2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent Design Professional/Consultant’s when it is anticipated 
that total annual payments to Design Professional/Consultant under this Agreement will exceed one 
thousand four hundred ninety-nine dollars ($1,499.00). 
  (3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or 
payments from sums paid by County to Design Professional/Consultant under this Agreement.  Payment of 
all taxes and other assessments on such sums is the sole responsibility of Design Professional/Consultant. 
County has no responsibility or liability for payment of Design Professional/Consultant's taxes or 
assessments. 
(4) The total amounts paid by County to Design Professional/Consultant, and taxes withheld from 
payments to non-California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and 
the California State Franchise Tax Board. To facilitate this reporting, Design Professional/Consultant shall 
complete and submit to the County an Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 upon executing this 
Agreement. 

 
4. WORK SCHEDULE. 

 
 Design Professional/Consultant's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and 
work identified in Attachment A, which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Design 
Professional/Consultant that the performance of these services and work will require a varied schedule.  
Design Professional/Consultant will arrange his/her own schedule but will coordinate with County to ensure 
that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement will be performed within the time 
frame set forth by County. 
 

5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 3 

7/25/2023 

 
 A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, or municipal 
governments for Design Professional/Consultant to provide the services and work described in Attachment 
A must be procured by Design Professional/Consultant and be valid at the time Design 
Professional/Consultant enters into this Agreement or as otherwise may be required. Further, during the 
term of this Agreement, Design Professional/Consultant must maintain such licenses, certificates, and 
permits in full force and effect.  Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's 
licenses, professional licenses or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and 
permits will be procured and maintained in force by Design Professional/Consultant at no expense to the 
County. Design Professional/Consultant will provide County, upon execution of this Agreement, with 
evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates and permits which are required to perform the services 
identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute between Design Professional/Consultant and County 
as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the services identified in Attachment A, 
County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of this Agreement. 
 B. Design Professional/Consultant warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, 
proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered 
transactions by any federal department or agency.  Design Professional/Consultant also warrants that it is 
not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from 
Federal Procurement or Non-procurement Programs issued by the General Services Administration 
available at: http://www.sam.gov. 
 

6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ETC. 
 
 Design Professional/Consultant shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, 
reference materials, and telephone service as is necessary for Design Professional/Consultant to provide 
the services identified in Attachment A to this Agreement.  County is not obligated to reimburse or pay 
Design Professional/Consultant, for any expense or cost incurred by Design Professional/Consultant in 
procuring or maintaining such items. Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by Design 
Professional/Consultant in providing and maintaining such items is the sole responsibility and obligation of 
Design Professional/Consultant. 
 

7. COUNTY PROPERTY. 
 
 A. Personal Property of County. Any personal property such as, but not limited to, 
protective or safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Design 
Professional/Consultant by County pursuant to this Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement 
remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.  Design Professional/Consultant will use reasonable care 
to protect, safeguard and maintain such items while they are in Design Professional/Consultant's 
possession.  Design Professional/Consultant will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such 
items, partial or total, which is the result of Design Professional/Consultant's negligence. 
 B. Products of Design Professional/Consultant's Work and Services. Any and all 
compositions, publications, plans, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, 
slides, video tapes, computer programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, 
audio recordings, films, audio-visual presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, 
patents, trademarks, copyrights, or intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, 
assembled, compiled by, or are the result, product, or manifestation of, Design Professional/Consultant 's 
services or work under this Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and 
exclusive property of the County.  At the termination of the Agreement, Design Professional/Consultant will 
convey possession and title to all such properties to County. 
 

8. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. 
 
 For the duration of this Agreement Design Professional/Consultant shall procure and maintain 
insurance of the scope and amount specified in Attachment D and with the provisions specified in that 
attachment. 
 

http://www.sam.gov/


County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 4 

7/25/2023 

9. STATUS OF DESIGN PROFESSIONAL/CONSULTANT. 
 
 All acts of Design Professional/Consultant, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the 
performance of this Agreement, shall be performed as independent Design Professional/Consultant’s, and 
not as agents, officers, or employees of County.  Design Professional/Consultant, by virtue of this 
Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of County.  Except as expressly 
provided in Attachment A, Design Professional/Consultant has no authority or responsibility to exercise any 
rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Design Professional/Consultant 
is to be considered an employee of County. It is understood by both Design Professional/Consultant and 
County that this Agreement shall not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an 
employer-employee relationship or a joint venture.  As an independent Design Professional/Consultant: 
 

A. Design Professional/Consultant shall determine the method, details, and means of 
performing the work and services to be provided by Design Professional/Consultant under this Agreement. 

B. Design Professional/Consultant shall be responsible to County only for the requirements 
and results specified in this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be 
subjected to County's control with respect to the physical action or activities of Design 
Professional/Consultant in fulfillment of this Agreement. 

C. Design Professional/Consultant, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times 
during the term of this Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent Design 
Professional/Consultant’s, and not as employees of County. 
 

10. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and its officers, officials, employees 

and volunteers from and against liability, loss, damage, expense, costs arising out of or in connection with 
Contractor’s performance of work hereunder or its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in 
the agreement, except such loss or damages which was caused by the sole negligence or willful 
misconduct of the County. 
 

11. RECORDS AND AUDIT. 
 
 A. Records. Design Professional/Consultant shall prepare and maintain all records 
required by the various provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, and municipal law, ordinances, 
regulations, and directions. Design Professional/Consultant shall maintain these records for a minimum of 
four (4) years from the termination or completion of this Agreement.  Design Professional/Consultant may 
fulfill its obligation to maintain records as required by this paragraph by substitute photographs, 
microphotographs, or other authentic reproduction of such records. 
 B. Inspections and Audits. Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any 
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Design 
Professional/Consultant, which County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of 
making audit, evaluation, examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be 
maintained by Design Professional/Consultant. Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to 
audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work performed or being performed under this Agreement. 
 

12. NONDISCRIMINATION. 
 
 During the performance of this Agreement, Design Professional/Consultant, its agents, officers, and 
employees shall not unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any 
employee, or applicant for employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of 
race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age, or 
sex. Design Professional/Consultant and its agents, officers, and employees shall comply with the 
provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the 
applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the California Code of Regulations. Design 
Professional/Consultant shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352) and all 
amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 5 

7/25/2023 

 
13. CANCELLATION. 

 
 This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 
Design Professional/Consultant thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel.  Design 
Professional/Consultant may cancel this Agreement without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever 
by giving thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel to County. 
 

14. ASSIGNMENT. 
 
 This is an agreement for the services of Design Professional/Consultant. County has relied upon 
the skills, knowledge, experience, and training of Design Professional/Consultant as an inducement to enter 
into this Agreement.  Design Professional/Consultant shall not assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any 
part of it, without the express written consent of County.  Further, Design Professional/Consultant shall not 
assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior written consent of County. 
 

15. DEFAULT. 
 
 If the Design Professional/Consultant abandons the work or fails to proceed with the work and 
services requested by County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and 
services as required by County, County may declare the Design Professional/Consultant in default and 
terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days written notice to Design Professional/Consultant. Upon such 
termination by default, County will pay to Design Professional/Consultant all amounts owing to Design 
Professional/Consultant for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination. 
 

16. WAIVER OF DEFAULT. 
 
 Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 
subsequent default.  Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a 
waiver of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of 
this Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-two (22) below. 
 

17. CONFIDENTIALITY. 
 
 Design Professional/Consultant further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, 
state, and county laws, regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, 
or accessible by Design Professional/Consultant in the course of providing services and work under this 
Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, or confidential.  Design Professional/Consultant agrees to keep 
confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such confidential, privileged, or protected 
information shall be made by Design Professional/Consultant only with the express written consent of the 
County. Any disclosure of confidential information by Design Professional/Consultant without the County’s 
written consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Design Professional/Consultant in all 
respects. 
 
 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 
services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 
and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 
thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 
beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure. 
 

18. CONFLICTS. 
 
 Design Professional/Consultant agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, 
direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and 
services under this Agreement. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 6 

7/25/2023 

 
19. POST AGREEMENT COVENANT. 

 
 Design Professional/Consultant agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged 
information which is gained from the County in the course of providing services and work under this 
Agreement, for any personal benefit, gain, or enhancement.  Further, Design Professional/Consultant 
agrees for a period of two years after the termination of this Agreement, not to seek or accept any 
employment with any County, association, corporation, or person who, during the term of this Agreement, 
has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who has been an adverse party in litigation 
with the County, and concerning such, Design Professional/Consultant by virtue of this Agreement has 
gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information. 
 

20. SEVERABILITY. 
 
 If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 
county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 
thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 
provisions of this Agreement are severable. 
 

21. FUNDING LIMITATION. 
 
 The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources. 
 In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 
option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 
Design Professional/Consultant of the cancellation, reduction, or modification of available funding.  Any 
reduction or modification of this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the 
requirements of paragraph twenty-two (22) (Amendment). 
 

22. AMENDMENT. 
 
 This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 
consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 
formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity. 
 

23. NOTICE. 
 
 Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 
change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Design Professional/Consultant 
or County shall be required, or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served, or 
sent by prepaid first-class mail to, the respective parties as follows: 
 

County of Inyo: 
  County Administrator – Broadband Coordinator  
  1360 N. Main Street 
  Bishop, CA 
 
  Design Professional/Consultant: 
  Inyo Networks, Inc., dba Onward 
  10621 Church Street, Suite 100 
  Rancho Cucamonga, CA City 
 

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
 
 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 7 

7/25/2023 

reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 
discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto. 
 

#       # 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 8 

7/25/2023 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ONWARD NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 
 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 
 IN WITNESS THEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE SET THEIR HANDS AND SEALS THIS 
_______ DAY OF _________________________, _________. 
 
 
COUNTY OF INYO     DESIGN PROFESSIONAL/CONSULTANT  
 
 
By: _____________________________   By: _________________________________ 
  Signature       Signature 
 
________________________________   ____________________________________ 
        Print or Type Name      Print or Type Name 
 
Dated: ___________________________   Dated: ______________________________ 
 
        
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 
        
_____________________________________________  
County Counsel  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM: 
 
_____________________________________________ 
County Auditor 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS: 
 
______________________________________________ 
Personnel Services  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: 
 
______________________________________________ 
County Risk Manager  
 

Nicolas Keeler (Aug 3, 2023 13:00 PDT)
Nicolas Keeler

Nicolas Keeler

Aug 3, 2023



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 9 

7/25/2023 

ATTACHMENT A 
  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
 AND ONWARD NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 
 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 

TERM: 
 
 

FROM: August 8, 2023 TO: January 1, 2024 
 
 
 

SCOPE OF WORK: 
 

Project Deliverables 
Shovel-ready, last-mile detailed engineering designs that can be used by any reasonably capable and 
qualified network construction company to construct last-mile fiber-to-the-premise network 
infrastructure. 

● For each of the subprojects identified in the Subprojects List below, provide separate, detailed, 
shovel-ready, engineering designs for last-mile network infrastructure that is capable of 
providing 100Mbps, preferably 1Gbps, symmetrical or better Internet service. 

● For any of the subprojects that can be bundled as a single, larger, combined project that results 
in cost savings, describe the larger, combined project, and detail the savings and the changes to 
the associated standalone project descriptions. 

● Engineering designs should include network infrastructure connections from middle-mile 
network to all unserved communities, households and businesses associated with each 
subproject.  Unserved locations for the purposes of this grant are those with wireline Internet 
service speeds less than 25Mbps download and 3Mbps upload. 

● If your designs include middle-mile network to support your last-mile designs, identify those 
network segments in your designs as such. 

● Complete any required environmental review pursuant to CEQA or NEPA, including any required 
technical studies necessary to complete them.  In the event of any scope change due to project 
site conditions, provide all required professional environmental services necessary to obtain 
environmental clearance. Ensure that the project design documents comply with the 
requirements set forth in the environmental documents and any required regulatory agency 
permits. 

● Designs must comply with:  Federal laws; State laws; local laws; rules and regulations of 
governing utility districts; and rules and regulations of other authorities with jurisdiction over 
the construction of network infrastructure. 

● All deliverables for this project, Phase 1-A, must be submitted to the County of Inyo in a timely 
manner to support FFA grant applications. 

● Collaborate with the County to verify the eligible locations. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 10 

7/25/2023 

● Coordinate the prioritization of the locations to design with the County to support FFA grant 
applications. 

Subprojects List 
The 17 subprojects by name for Phase 1-A are listed below: 

o Inyo-01-Aberdeen 
o Inyo-08-Black Rock 
o Inyo-09-Cartago 
o Inyo-12-Coso Junction 
o Inyo-19-Enchanted Village 
o Inyo-20-Fish Slough 
o Inyo-23-Haiwee 
o Inyo-26-Keeler 
o Inyo-27-Laws 
o Inyo-28-Little Lake 
o Inyo-32-Olancha 
o Inyo-33-Pearsonville 
o Inyo-35-Round Valley 
o Inyo-36-Rovana 
o Inyo-37-Rudolph Ranch 
o Inyo-46-Tinnemaha 
o Inyo-50-Wilkerson 

 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 11 

7/25/2023 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
AND ONWARD NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 

 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 
 
 TERM: 
 
 

FROM: August 8, 2023 TO: January 1, 2024 
 
 
 
 SCHEDULE OF FEES: 
 
The Local Agency Technical Assistance grant is a reimbursement grant.  The completed project 
deliverables will be presented to the CPUC as a completed work product for reimbursement through the 
County of Inyo. 
 
Design Engineering work to be billed at $150 per hour. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 12 

7/25/2023 

 ATTACHMENT C 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
AND ONWARD NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 

 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 
 
 TERM: 
 
 

FROM: August 8, 2023 TO: January 1, 2024 
 
 
 
 SCHEDULE OF TRAVEL AND PER DIEM PAYMENT: 
 
No travel or per diem to be paid under this contract. 

 
 

 
 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 151 (Independent Design Professional/Consultant)  
Page 13 

7/25/2023 

ATTACHMENT D 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
AND ONWARD NETWORKS, INC D/B/A ONWARD 

 FOR THE PROVISION OF DETAILED NETWORK ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES 
 

 TERM: 
 
 

FROM: August 8, 2023 TO: January 1, 2024 
 
 

SEE ATTACHED INSURANCE PROVISIONS   
 



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for  
Most Professional Services Agreements 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Most Professional Services Agreements 20230611/ah 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for 
injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance 
of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or employees.  

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an 
“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily 
injury and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence. If a 
general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this 
project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the 
required occurrence limit.  

2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any 
auto), or if Contractor has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less 
than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. (Coverage requirement 
may be waived if Contract scope of work specifies that performance shall be remote.)  

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, 
and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. (Provision may be waived if Contractor provides written declaration of the 
following: (a) Contractor has no employees and agrees to obtain workers’ compensation 
insurance and notify Inyo County if any employee is hired, (b) Contractor agrees to verify proof of 
coverage for any subcontractor, and (c) Contractor agrees to hold Inyo County harmless and 
defend Inyo County in the case of claims arising for failure to provide benefits.) 

4. Professional Liability: Insurance appropriate to the Contractor’s profession, with limit no less 
than $2,000,000 per occurrence or claim, 2,000,000 aggregate. 

5. Abuse/Molestation Liability: Sexual assault and misconduct (“SAM”) coverage with limits no 
less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 aggregate. (Coverage requirement is waived if 
contract does not include service to minors or other potentially vulnerable populations. Minors 
are persons under the age of 18.)  

6. Cyber Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence. Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to respond to 
the duties and obligations undertaken by Contractor in this agreement as to maintaining the 
security of client medical information and/or County financial and/or personnel records. 
Coverage shall include, but not be limited to, claims involving security breach, system failure, 
data recovery, business interruption, cyber extortion, social engineering, infringement of 
intellectual property, including but not limited to invasion of privacy violations, information 
theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, release of private information, and 
alteration of electronic information. The policy shall provide coverage for breach response costs, 
regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit monitoring expense. (Coverage requirement is 
waived if contractor has no access to client medical information and/or County financial and/or 
personnel records. Coverage requirement is reinstated if access is granted or acquired.) 

If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, 
Inyo County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained 
by the contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of 
insurance and coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for  
Most Professional Services Agreements 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Most Professional Services Agreements 20230611/ah 

OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 
 
Additional Insured Status: Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be 
covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or 
operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment 
furnished in connection with such work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the 
form of an endorsement to the Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or 
if not available, through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if 
a later edition is used).  

Primary Coverage: For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory and at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo 
County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. This requirement shall also apply to any Excess or Umbrella liability policies.  

Umbrella or Excess Policy: The Contractor may use Umbrella or Excess Policies to provide the liability 
limits as required in this agreement. This form of insurance will be acceptable provided that all of the 
Primary and Umbrella or Excess Policies shall provide all of the insurance coverages herein required, 
including, but not limited to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured Retentions 
(SIRs), indemnity, and defense requirements. The Umbrella or Excess policies shall be provided on a true 
“following form” or broader coverage basis, with coverage at least as broad as provided on the 
underlying Commercial General Liability insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional 
Insureds, whether primary or excess, and which also apply to a loss covered hereunder, shall be called 
upon to contribute to a loss until the Contractor’s primary and excess liability policies are exhausted. 
 
Notice of Cancellation: Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be 
canceled, except with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation: Contractor hereby grants to Inyo County a waiver of any right to subrogation 
which any insurer of said Contractor may acquire against Inyo County by virtue of the payment of any 
loss under such insurance. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect 
this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County has 
received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer.  
 
Self-Insured Retentions: Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo 
County may require the Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of 
ability to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the 
retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention 
may be satisfied by either the named insured or Inyo County. The CGL and any policies, including Excess 
liability policies, may not be subject to a self-insured retention (SIR) or deductible that exceeds $50,000 
unless approved in writing by Inyo County. Any and all deductibles and SIRs shall be the sole 
responsibility of Contractor or subcontractor who procured such insurance and shall not apply to the 
Indemnified Additional Insured Parties. Inyo County may deduct from any amounts otherwise due 
Contractor to fund the SIR/deductible. Policies shall NOT contain any self-insured retention (SIR) 
provision that limits the satisfaction of the SIR to the Named. The policy must also provide that Defense 



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for  
Most Professional Services Agreements 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for Most Professional Services Agreements 20230611/ah 

costs, including the Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, will satisfy the SIR or deductible. Inyo County 
reserves the right to obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification. 
 
Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the 
state with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  
 
Claims Made Policies: If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning 

of contract work.  
2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years 

after completion of the contract of work.  
3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form 

with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must purchase 
“extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.  

 
Verification of Coverage: Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original certificates and amendatory 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause and 
a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy and any Excess policies listing all 
policy endorsements. All certificates and endorsements and copies of the Declarations and 
Endorsements pages are to be received and approved by Inyo County before work commences. 
However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the 
Contractor’s obligation to provide them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any 
time. Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature 
of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.  
 
Subcontractors: Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting 
all the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional insured 
on insurance required from subcontractors.  
 
Duration of Coverage: CGL & Excess liability policies for any construction related work, including, but 
not limited to, maintenance, service, or repair work, shall continue coverage for a minimum of 5 years 
for Completed Operations liability coverage. Such Insurance must be maintained and evidence of 
insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 
 
Special Risks or Circumstances: Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including 
limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special 
circumstances. 
 
-end- 



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-3977  

 

Appointments to the Child Abuse Prevention Council 
Health & Human Services - First 5 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Katelyne Lent, First 5 Program Manager Marilyn Mann, HHS Director 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
A) Appoint Anonda Nelson, Chrystina Pope, Holly DeVincent, and Jeff Thomson each to unexpired two-
year terms on the Child Abuse Prevention Council (CAPC) ending December 31, 2025; and B) Appoint 
Griselda Ortiz, Stephanie Tanksley, and Susanne Rizo each to unexpired two-year terms on the CAPC 
ending December 31, 2024. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
The purpose of the Inyo County Child Abuse Prevention Council, Pursuant to Section 18980, et seq. of 
the Welfare and Institutions Code (also known as the Child Abuse Prevention Coordinating Council Act), 
is to coordinate the community's efforts to prevent and respond to child abuse neglect. The mission of 
the CAPC is to eliminate child abuse and neglect and the adversity it causes by ensuring a safe and 
nurturing home environment for all children. The CAPC stands firmly in the belief that all children 
deserve support and advocacy, especially in regard to race, color, gender, gender identity or expression, 
sexual orientation or disability. 
 
The CAPC shall consist of a minimum of five members, but no greater than eleven members. As the 
prevention of child abuse encourages the involvement of the entire community, the CAPC seeks to 
obtain representation from a wide range of agencies, organizations and the community at large. Eleven 
member positions became available in order to establish the Inyo County Child Abuse Prevention 
Council following the passing of the bylaws by the Board in September of 2022. Per Board policy, the 
vacancies were advertised in the newspaper - first in April and then again in June - and community 
members were invited to apply. 
 
Seven Applications were received by the application deadlines from, Anonda Nelson, Stephanie 
Tanksley, Chrystina Pope, Griselda Ortiz, Holly DeVincent, Jeff Thomson, and Suzanne Rizo. Each 
applicant will be a valuable member of the Child Abuse Prevention Council and bring various degrees of 
expertise and perspectives. 
 
The department respectfully requests your board appoint all seven applicants to unexpired terms on the 
CAPC with Anonda Nelson, Chrystina Pope, Holly DeVincent, and Jeff Thomsons' terms expiring 
December 31, 2025, and Stephanie Tanksley, Griselda Ortiz, and Susanne Rizos' terms expiring 
December 31, 2024.  
  

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

N/A Budget Unit N/A 

Budgeted? N/A Object Code N/A 
Recurrence N/A  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Your board could choose not to appoint the applicants and re-open the recruitment for the Child Abuse 
Prevention Council. This could cause a delay in the Child Abuse Prevention Council reaching a quorum 
and conducting regular business. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. CAPC Proof of Publication 
2. Nelson Application 
3. Pope Application 
4. Ortiz Application 
5. DeVincent Application 
6. Thomson Application 
7. Tanksley Application 
8. Rizo Application 
  
APPROVALS: 
Katelyne Lent Created/Initiated - 7/24/2023 
Katelyne Lent Approved - 7/24/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/25/2023 
Stephanie Tanksley Approved - 7/25/2023 
Marilyn Mann Approved - 7/28/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PROOF OF PUBLICATION
(2015.5CCP)

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF INYO

I am a citizen of the United States
and a resident of the County aforesaid.
I am over the age of eighteen years,

And not a party to or interested in the
above-entitled matter. lam the principal
clerk of the printer of the

The lnyo Register

County of lnyo
The lnyo Register has been adjudged a
newspaper of general circulation by the
Superior Court of the County of lnyo,
State of California, under date of
Oct. 5, 1953, Case Number 5414'
that the notice, of which the annexed
is a printed copy (set in type not
smaller than non-pareil), has been
published in each regular and entire
issue of said newspaper and not in
any supplement thereof, on the
following date, to with:

June 3d,
ln the year of 2023

I certify (or declare) under penalty of perjury
that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated at Bishop, California, on this
sth Day of June, 2023

Proof of Publication of
Public Notice

NOTICE OFVACANCY
CH]LD ABUSE PREVENTION

COUNCIL
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN
that the lnyo CountY Board of
Superyisors is now accePting
applications to fill a maximum
of 10 vacancies on the Child

Abuse Prevention Council
(oAPC).
Between 5 and |1 two'Year
terms are available on the
council. As the prevention ol
child abuse encourages the in-
volvement of the entire com-
munity, the CAPC seeks to ob'
tain representation from a wide
range of agencies, organiza-
tions, and the community at
large. An application from one
or more representatives lrom
the lollowing organizations and
groups shall be encouraged:

Public child welfare services
Public or private schools
Medical and mental health Pro'
viders
Criminai juslice system
Tribal representalion
Latinx representation
Prevention and treatment serv'
ices
Community representatives;
community volunteers, civic or-
ganizations, religious commu'
nities
Parent or primary caregiver
lndividuals inierested in aPPIY'

ing for membership must sub-
mit an application to the Assis-
tant Clerk of the Board, parcY
Ellis, found on the CAPC web-
site at
https ://www, inyocounty. us/CAP
C. Applications must be re'
ceived no later than MondaY,
June 19, 2023.aI5 p.m. PoSt-

marks are not accepted. (lR
06.03, 2023 #21527)-

This spa Cou Clerk's Filing Stamp

/:o3 P1
GEtI WE

iuN 0 7 2023

By

IE

ignature













































 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4002  

 

Lone Pine Sidewalk Construction and American with 
Disability Act Improvements Project Bid Package and 

Advertising Approval 
Public Works 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Travis Dean, Engineering Assistant Michael Errante, Public Works Director 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve the plans and specifications for the Lone Pine Sidewalk Construction and ADA Improvements 
Project and authorize the Public Works Director to advertise the project. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) has allocated $1,589,000 of Active 
Transportation Program (ATP) funds, and $226,000 of Covid Relief Funds (allocated through the State 
Transportation Improvement Program (STIP)), for the construction of the Lone Pine Sidewalk 
Construction and ADA Improvements Project. 
 
This project consists of rehabilitating portions of sidewalk along Willow Street, Bush Street, Jackson 
Street, and Locust Street, bringing said sidewalks to ADA standards. A portion of this project also 
includes the re-alignement of water lines, specifically in Bush Street. 
 
This project will improve pedestrian facilities in the commercial district of Lone Pine, as well as from 
schools, churches and apartment complexes to the downtown area. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

State ATP Funds and STIP Covid Relief Funds 
(Non-General Funds) 

Budget Unit 034601 

Budgeted? No (request to advertise only) Object Code 5708 
Recurrence Ongoing Expenditure  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Your Board could choose not to approve the project plans and specifications. This is not recommended 
as Caltrans has allocated the funds to complete construction of this project. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Lone Pine Sidewalks Plans 
2. Lone Pine Sidewalks Bid Package 
  
APPROVALS: 
Travis Dean Created/Initiated - 7/25/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/26/2023 
Travis Dean Approved - 7/26/2023 
Shannon Platt Approved - 7/26/2023 
Grace Chuchla Approved - 7/26/2023 
Breanne Nelums Approved - 7/26/2023 
Amy Shepherd Approved - 7/26/2023 
Michael Errante Approved - 7/31/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATE

LONE PINE SIDEWALKS CONSTRUCTION
 &

ADA IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

140 WHITNEY ALLEY, BISHOP, CA
TEL: (442) 228-5049, FAX: (775) 828-7221

INYO COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF  PUBLIC WORKS

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

JACKSON ST

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

T1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

T
IT

L
E

 S
H

E
E

T

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

BUSH ST

LOCUST ST

VICINITY MAP

LONE PINE SIDEWALKS

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

WILLOW ST

Sheet List Table
Sheet Number Sheet Title Sheet Description
T1 TITLE SHEET
C1 SITE PLAN
C2 NOTES LEGEND AND ABBREVIATIONS
C3 UTILITY INDEX
C4 JACKSON ST PLAN "JS" 22+50 TO 25+50
C5 JACKSON ST PLAN "JS" 25+50 TO 28+25
C6 JACKSON ST PLAN "JS" 28+25 TO 31+25
C7 BUSH ST PLAN "BS" 7+00 TO 9+75
C8 WILLOW ST PLAN "WL" 7+28 TO 9+50
C9 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 7+28 TO 10+00
C10 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 10+00 TO 12+75
C11 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 12+75 TO 15+50
C12 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 15+50 TO 18+50
C13 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 18+50 TO 21+50
C14 LOCUST ST PLAN "LS" 21+50 TO 24+00
C15 BUSH ST UTILITIES PLAN & PROFILE "BS" 7+25 TO 10+00
C16 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS JACKSON ST
C17 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS BUSH AND JACKSON INTERSECTION
C18 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS WILLOW AND JACKSON INTERSECTION
C19 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS LOCUST AND JACKSON INTERSECTION
C20 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS LOCUST ST
C21 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS LOCUST ST
S1 JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "JS" 22+50 TO 25+50
S2 JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "JS" 25+50 TO 28+25
S3 JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "JS" 28+25 TO 31+25
S4 BUSH ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "BS" 7+00 TO 9+75
S5 WILLOW ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "WS" 7+28 to 9+50
S6 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 8+00 TO 10+00
S7 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 10+25 TO 12+75
S8 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 12+75 TO 15+50
S9 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 15+50 TO 18+50
S10 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 18+50 TO 21+50
S11 LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN "LS" 21+50 TO 24+00
S12 SIGN & STRIPING DETAILS
W1 JACKSON & BUSH ST BMP PLAN "JS"22+50 TO 27+15 "BS" 11+00 TO 8+75
W2 JACKSON ST BMP PLAN "JS" 27+25 TO 32+00
W3 LOCUST ST BMP PLAN "LS" 10+75 TO 15+25
W4 LOCUST ST BMP PLAN "LS" 15+25 TO 20+75
W5 LOCUST ST BMP PLAN "LS" 20+75 TO 24+25
DE1 DEMOLITION PLAN
DE2 DEMOLITION PLAN
DE3 DEMOLITION PLAN
CS1 CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS
D1 DETAILS
D2 DETAILS
D3 DETAILS



WILLOW STREET

JA
C

K
SO

N
 STR

E
E

T

LOCUST STREET

LOCUST STREET

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

H
A

Y
 A

V
E

N
U

E

BUSH STREET

JA
C

K
SO

N
 STR

E
E

T

E MOUNTAIN VIEW STREET

H
W

Y 395/M
A

IN
 STR

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

SI
T

E
 P

L
A

N

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

SITE PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C2 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

N
O

T
E

S 
L

E
G

E
N

D
 A

N
D

 A
B

B
R

E
V

IA
T

IO
N

S

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



UTILITY NOTES:

JACKSON STREET - UTILITY LOCATION INDEX

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C3 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

U
T

IL
IT

Y
 I

N
D

E
X

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

LOCUST STREET - UTILITY LOCATION INDEX BUSH STREET - UTILITY LOCATION INDEX

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

WILLOW STREET - UTILITY LOCATION INDEX



JACKSON STREET

E
A

ST
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 V
IE

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

B
U

SH
 S

T
R

E
E

T

CONTRACTOR TO
COORDINATE WITH
INYO COUNTY AND
FIRE STATION FOR
EMERGENCY
VEHICLE ACCESS.

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C4 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

2+
50

 T
O

 2
5+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

5

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C7

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



JACKSON STREET

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

B
U

SH
 S

T
R

E
E

T

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

4

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C5 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

5+
50

 T
O

 2
8+

25
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

6

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C7

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C8



W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

JACKSON STREET

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
R

E
E

T

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

5

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C6 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

8+
25

 T
O

 3
1+

25
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST PLAN

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C10

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C9MATCH LINE

SEE SHEET C8

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

10



BUSH STREET

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

N
 M

A
IN

 S
T

R
E

E
T

SEE SHEET C15 FOR WATER AND STORM DRAIN

BUSH ST PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

5

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C7 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

B
U

SH
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"B

S"
 7

+
00

 T
O

 9
+

75
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C4

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



WILLOW STREET

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

R
E

E
T

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C8 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"W

L
" 

7+
28

 T
O

 9
+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

6

WILLOW ST PLAN

 MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C5



LOCUST STREET

N
. J

A
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LOCUST STREET

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C9 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 7

+
28

 T
O

 1
0+

00
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

6

LOCUST ST PLAN

 MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C6

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

10



LOCUST STREET LOCUST STREET

N
. J

A
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LOCUST ST PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C10 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

0+
00

 T
O

 1
2+

75
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

11

 MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C6

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

6

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

9



LOCUST STREET

LOCUST ST PLAN

 M
A

TC
H

 LIN
E

SE
E

 SH
E

E
T #

#
#

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C11 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

2+
75

 T
O

 1
5+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

12



LOCUST STREET

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 A

V
E

LOCUST ST PLAN

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

11

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C12 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

5+
50

 T
O

 1
8+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

13



LOCUST STREET

H
A

Y
 A

V
E

LOCUST ST PLAN

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

12

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C13 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

8+
50

 T
O

 2
1+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

14



LOCUST STREET

M
T

 W
H

IT
N

E
Y

 D
R

LOCUST ST PLAN

 M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 C

13

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C14 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 2

1+
50

 T
O

 2
4+

00
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

../SHEET SET/Lone Pine Sidewalks.dst
../SHEET SET/Lone Pine Sidewalks.dst
../SHEET SET/Lone Pine Sidewalks.dst


BUSH STREET JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

N
 M

A
IN

 S
T

R
E

E
T

SD1 PROFILE VIEW

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C15 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

B
U

SH
 S

T
 U

T
IL

IT
IE

S 
P

L
A

N
 &

 P
R

O
F

IL
E

"B
S"

 7
+

25
 T

O
 1

0+
00

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

C
A

BUSH ST UTILITIES PLAN & PROFILE

WL1 PROFILE VIEW



N JACK
SO

N STREET

BUSH STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E MOUNTIAN VIEW STREET

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF N JACKSON AND E MOUNTAIN VIEW

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT SOUTHEAST CORNER OF N JACKSON AND BUSH ST

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C16 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

--
--

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
JA

C
K

SO
N

 S
T

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A



BU
SH

 S
TR

EE
T

JACKSON STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E BUSH STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E BUSH STREET

BUSH STREET

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF E BUSH AND N JACKSON

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C17 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

--
--

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
B

U
SH

 A
N

D
 J

A
C

K
SO

N
 I

N
T

E
R

SE
C

T
IO

N
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF E BUSH AND N JACKSON

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF E BUSH AND N JACKSON

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT "BS" 8+80



N JACK
SO

N STREET

E WILLOW STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E WILLOW STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E WILLOW STREET

E WILLOW STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF E WILLOW AND N JACKSON PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF E WILLOW AND N JACKSON

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF E WILLOW AND N JACKSON

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C18 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

--
--

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
W

IL
L

O
W

 A
N

D
 J

A
C

K
SO

N
 I

N
T

E
R

SE
C

T
IO

N
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF E WILLOW AND N JACKSON



N JACK
SO

N STREET

E LOCUST STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E LOCUST STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E LOCUST STREET

N JACK
SO

N STREET

E LOCUST STREET

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N JACKSON

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C19 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

--
--

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
L

O
C

U
ST

 A
N

D
 J

A
C

K
SO

N
 I

N
T

E
R

SE
C

T
IO

N
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N JACKSON

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N JACKSON

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT NORTHEAST CORNER E LOCUST AND N JACKSON



E LOCUST STREET

E LOCUST STREET

E LOCUST STREET

JACKSON STREET

PED RAMP AT STA "LS" 13+37

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C20 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
L

O
C

U
ST

 S
T

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT STA "LS" 11+43

PED RAMP AT STA "LS" 14+70

STAIRS AT STA "JS" 24+23



E LOCUST STREET

E LOCUST STREET

E LOCUST STREET

E LOCUST STREET

N 
M

T 
W

H
IT

NE
Y 

DR
IV

E

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT NORTHWEST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N HAY

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT NORTHEAST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N LONE PINE

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

C21 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

P
E

D
E

ST
R

IA
N

 R
A

M
P

S
L

O
C

U
ST

 S
T

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF E LOCUST AND N LONE PINE

PEDESTRIAN RAMP AT NORTHWEST SIDE OF E LOCUST AND E MT WHITNEY



E
A

ST
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 V
IE

W

JACKSON STREET

B
U

SH
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

2+
50

 T
O

 2
5+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

2

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S4



B
U

SH
 S

T
R

E
E

T

JACKSON STREET

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S2 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

5+
50

 T
O

 2
8+

25
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

1

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

3

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S4

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S5



W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

JACKSON STREET

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S3 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"J

S"
 2

8+
25

 T
O

 3
1+

25
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

JACKSON ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

2

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

7

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S5

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S6

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S7



BUSH ST

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S4 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

B
U

SH
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"B

S"
 7

+
00

 T
O

 9
+

75
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

BUSH ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

2

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

3



PARKING
HOUR

4
N

O
VEH

IC
LES

7 FEET
O

R
TALLER

1:00 AM
 TO

 4:00 PM

WILLOW STREET

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S5 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"W

S"
 7

+
28

 T
O

 9
+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

WILLOW ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

2

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S6 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 8

+
00

 T
O

 1
0+

00
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

7

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

3

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S3



LOCUST STREET

NO PARKING

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S7 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

0+
25

 T
O

 1
2+

75
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

3

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

8

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET S3

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

6



LOCUST STREET

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S8 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

2+
75

 T
O

 1
5+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

7

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

9

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 A
V

E

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S9 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

5+
50

 T
O

 1
8+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

8

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

10

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET

H
A

Y
 A

V
E

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S10 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 1

8+
50

 T
O

 2
1+

50
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

11

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

9

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET

M
T

 W
H

IT
N

E
Y

 D
R

IV
E

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S11 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 S

IG
N

 &
 S

T
R

IP
IN

G
 P

L
A

N
"L

S"
 2

1+
50

 T
O

 2
4+

00
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

LOCUST ST SIGN & STRIPING PLAN

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 S

10

STRIPING LEGEND: SIGN LEGEND:STRIPING NOTES: SIGN NOTES:SIGN LEGEND:

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

S12 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

SI
G

N
 &

 S
T

R
IP

IN
G

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

STREET NAME SIGN DETAILS

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

STRIPING AT INTERSECTION STRIPING AT CROSSWALK



B
U

SH
 S

T
R

E
E

T

JACKSON STREET

E
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 V
IE

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

HWY 395/MAIN STREET

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

W1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 &

 B
U

SH
 S

T
 B

M
P

 P
L

A
N

"J
S"

22
+

50
 T

O
 2

7+
15

 "
B

S"
 1

1+
00

 T
O

 8
+

75
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

T
IO

N
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

3

JACKSON ST BMP PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T
R

E
E

T

JACKSON STREET

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
R

E
E

T

HWY 395/MAIN STREET

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/1/2020
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DBG

W2 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
 B

M
P

 P
L

A
N

"J
S"

 S
T

A
 2

7+
25

 T
O

 3
1+

25
IN

Y
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

S
&

 A
D

A
 I

M
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

1

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET W3

JACKSON ST BMP PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

W3 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 B

M
P

 P
L

A
N

"L
S"

 1
0+

75
 T

O
 1

5+
25

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

2

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
SE

E
 S

H
E

E
T 

W
4

LOCUST ST BMP PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

H
A

Y
 A

V
E

N
U

E

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

W4 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 B

M
P

 P
L

A
N

"L
S"

 1
5+

25
 T

O
 2

0+
75

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

3

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

5

BMP LOCUST ST PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



LOCUST STREET

M
T

 W
H

IT
N

E
Y

 D
R

IV
E

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

W5 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T
 B

M
P

 P
L

A
N

"L
S"

 2
0+

75
 T

O
 2

4+
25

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 W

4

BMP LOCUST ST PLAN

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



JACKSON STREET

E
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 V
IE

W

B
U

SH
 S

T

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T

JACKSON STREET

JACKSON ST

W
IL

L
O

W
 S

T

JACKSON STREET

L
O

C
U

ST
 S

T

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET DE3

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

DE1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

D
E

M
O

L
IT

IO
N

 P
L

A
N

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
2

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET DE2

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
1

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
1

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET DE2



JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LOCUST STREET

LOCUST ST

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

LOCUST ST

L
O

N
E

 P
IN

E
 A

V
E

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET DE1

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

DE2 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

D
E

M
O

L
IT

IO
N

 P
L

A
N

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
3

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
2

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T 
D

E
2



LOCUST ST

H
A

Y
 S

T

M
T

 W
H

IT
N

E
Y

 D
R

WILLOW ST
WILLOW ST

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

29

BUSH ST
BUSH ST

JA
C

K
SO

N
 S

T

H
W

Y
 3

95
/M

A
IN

 S
T

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
2 R

EV
IS

IO
N

S
D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

DE3 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

D
E

M
O

L
IT

IO
N

 P
L

A
N

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
1

M
A

T
C

H
 L

IN
E

SE
E

 S
H

E
E

T
 D

E
1



ROAD WORK END

G20-2

36x18"

ROAD W
ORK

END

G20-2
36x18"

ROAD WORK
END

G20-2
36x18"

G20-2
36x18"

G20-2
36x18"

G20-2
36x18"

RO
AD

 W
OR

K
EN

D

G20-236x18"

36x36"

ROAD

WORK

AHEAD

C23(CA)
36x36"

R
O

A
D

W
O

R
K

A
H

EA
D

C23(CA)

36x36"
C23(CA)

36x36"
C23(CA)

36x36"

36x36"C23(CA)

LOCUST AVE

HW
Y 

39
5

E MOUNTAIN VIEW ST

JA
CK

SO
N 

ST

N 
LO

NE
 P

IN
E 

AV
E

N 
HA

Y 
ST

N 
MT

 W
HI

TN
EY

 D
R

N 
LA

KE
 V

IE
W

 S
T

WHITNEY PORTAL RD

W BUSH ST

W WILLOW ST

C23(CA)

36x36"C23(CA)

36x36"C23(CA)

RO
AD

 W
OR

K
EN

D

G20-236x18"

RO
AD

 W
OR

K
EN

D

G20-236x18"

RO
AD

W
O

RK

AHEAD

RO
AD

W
O

RK

AHEAD

RO
AD

W
O

RK

AHEAD

RO
AD

W
O

RK

AHEAD

36x36"

ROAD
WORK
AHEAD

C23(CA)

ROAD WORK
END

ROAD WORK
END

ROAD WORK
END

ROAD
WORK
AHEAD

ROAD
WORK
AHEAD

CONSTRUCTION AREA SIGNS

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

CS1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 A
R

E
A

 S
IG

N
S

--
--

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100



R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

D1 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

D
E

T
A

IL
S

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

CURB RAMP CASE A CURB RAMP CASE C

6" CURB & GUTTER SIDEWALK ABUTTING CURB

CURB AND GUTTER

PED RAMP CASE A

SIDEWALK ABUTTING CURB

PED RAMP CASE C
DETECTABLE SURFACE DETAIL

DETECTABLE SURFACE DETAIL

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

CORNER RAMP RAMP WITH HANDRAIL

PAVEMENT PATCH

PCC CURB



COMMERCIAL DRIVEWAY

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

D2 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

D
E

T
A

IL
S

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

STANDARD UTILITY BURIALRESIDENTIAL DRIVEWAY WITH CURB

RESIDENTIAL DRIVEWAY UTILITY BURIAL

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

ALLEY

ALLEY

FIRE HYDRANT WATER TRENCH GATE VALVE

SECTION A-A

A A

PLAN

DETAIL 'A'

SIDEWALK CROSS DRAIN



R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
at
e

N
o.

BY
AP

PD

SHEET  No.

 OF

ST
AM

P

1 2 3 4

TI
TL

E

PR
O
JE
C
T

5

Designed:
Drawn By:
Approved By:
Job No:
Scale:
Date:

 1
4
0
 W

H
IT

N
E
Y
 A

L
L
E
Y
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
 M

A
IN

: 
(4

4
2
) 
2
2
8
-5

0
4
9

B
IS

H
O

P
, 
C

A
 9

3
5
1
4

  
  

  
 F

A
X
: 
(7

7
5
) 
8
2
8
-7

2
2
1

12/5/2022
AS SHOWN

20346

DVS
EB

DDJ

D3 46

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y

--
--

D
E

T
A

IL
S

--
--

IN
Y

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
L

O
N

E
 P

IN
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
S 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T

IO
N

&
 A

D
A

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
C

A

STAIRS WITH HANDRAIL

DATE:
SUBMITTAL

PERCENT 

12/5/2022

100

INFILTRATION CHAMBER

A-A B-B

THRUST BLOCKREDUCER THRUST BLOCK

ADJUST MANHOLE



Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 1 of 33 Cover 
 

 

FOR CONSTRUCTION ON COUNTY ROADS 
IN INYO COUNTY 

 
Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project 

 
County of Inyo, California 

 
 
 

August 2023 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 2 of 33 Notice to Bidders 
 

Notice To Bidders 
Sealed proposals will be received at the County of Inyo Public Works office, 168 North Edwards 
Street, Independence, California 93526 until three o’clock (3:00) in the afternoon on 24 August 
2023, for furnishing all labor, materials, tools, implements and machinery to do and complete all 
work in a manner satisfactory to the County Engineer, for the following project: 
 
Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project 
 
Together with such other incidental items as are necessary to complete the work in the manner and 
time prescribed and in strict conformity with the contract documents. 
 
At 3:01 in the afternoon on the above date, said proposals will be publicly opened and read aloud. 
 
All proposals shall be made using the forms furnished by the County and shall be enclosed and 
sealed in an envelope which is addressed to the County Board of Supervisors, 168 North Edwards 
Street, Independence, California, Independence, California, and is clearly labeled: 
 
Bid for Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project 
 
Bid books including plans, specifications, bid forms to be used for bidding on this project and other 
contract documents can be obtained at the County of Inyo Public Works office, 168 North Edwards 
Street, Independence, California. Only bids referencing all addendums issued for the project shall be 
considered. To receive addendums and other information issued on the project during the 
advertisement period, provide your contact information to Inyo Public Works at the above addresses 
at least two working days prior to bid opening. 
 
This project is located on North Jackson Street from East Mountain View to East Locust Street, on 
East Bush Street from North Main Street to North Jackson Street, on East Willow Street from North 
Main Street to North Jackson Street, and on East Locust Street from North Main Street to North 
Mount Whitney Drive. This is a sidewalks project consisting of the construction of sidewalks on 
county roads within 80 foot right of ways including patching pavement, curb and gutter, curb ramps, 
driveways, storm drain, and removal of existing facilities that interfere with the construction. The 
project includes furnishing of all labor, implements, tools, machinery, materials and all other work 
required to complete the project. 
 
Bidders may attend a pre-bid review of the project site with project staff at ten o’clock (10:00) in the 
morning on 18 August 2023.  To participate in this review, be at the intersection of Jackson Street 
and Bush Street at this date and time. 
 
The estimated range for the construction cost of this phase of the project is from about $1 to $1.5 
million depending on construction option. 
 
This project is entirely funded with State funds. As a result, contracting preferences do not apply to 
this project. 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 3 of 33 Notice to Bidders 
 

Technical questions should be directed to Travis Dean, County of Inyo, 168 North Edwards Street, 
Independence, California 93526, (760) 878-0203 
 
The successful bidder shall furnish all items required in the contract documents. The contract for 
this project is a Non-Informal-Bid Contract. 
 
All proposals shall include prices for all items of work for all construction options contained in the 
contract documents.  The County intends to award the contract to the bidder with the lowest 
responsive bid for the most extensive construction option the County is able to fund from the 
allotment available for this project. Responsive bid proposals shall include all items required in the 
“bid book”. The bid book consists of the following: 
 

1. Completed Bid Form 

2. Bid Bond or other security 

3. Completed Non-collusion Declaration form 

4. Completed Contractor's Certificate Regarding Worker's Compensation form 

5. Completed Proposed Equipment and Material Manufacturers form 

6. Completed Proposed Subcontractors form 

7. Completed Contractor Licenses form 

The County of Inyo hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full 
opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin in consideration for an award. 
 
The contract is subject to state contract nondiscrimination and compliance requirements pursuant to 
Government Code, Section 12990. 
 
Pursuant to Section 1773 of the Labor Code, the general prevailing wage rates in the county, or 
counties, in which the work is to be done have been determined by the Director of the California 
Department of Industrial Relations.  These wages are set forth in the General Prevailing Wage 
Rates for this project, available at County of Inyo and available from the California Department of 
Industrial Relations’ Internet web site at http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSR/PWD.  Future effective 
general prevailing wage rates, which have been predetermined and are on file with the California 
Department of Industrial Relations are referenced but not printed in the general prevailing wage 
rates. 
 
The Contractor shall procure all required permits and licenses, pay all charges, fees and taxes, and 
give all notices necessary and incidental to the due and lawful prosecution of the work. 
 
The County Board of Supervisors, reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and to waive any 
formalities in the proposal. 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 4 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Bid Form 
 
Proposal to County of Inyo for the construction of 
 
Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project 
 
Bidder Information: 
 

Name:  

Address:  

  

Phone:  

Email:  

 
To the Inyo County Council: 
Pursuant to and in compliance with your Notice to Bidders inviting sealed proposals (bids) and the 
other documents relating thereto, the undersigned bidder, being fully familiar with the terms of the 
contract documents, local conditions affecting the performance of the contract, the character, 
quality, quantities, and scope of work, and the cost of the work at the place where the work is to be 
done, hereby proposes and agrees to perform within the time stipulated in the contract, including all 
of its component parts and everything required to be performed, and to furnish any and all of the 
labor, material, tools, equipment, transportation, services, permits, utilities, and all other items 
necessary to perform the contract and complete in a workman like manner, all of the work required 
in connection with the construction of said work all in strict conformity with the plans and 
specifications and other contract documents, including Addenda _______, _______, _______, and 
_______, for the prices hereinafter set forth. 
 
The bidder, under penalty of perjury, certifies that, except as noted on an attached page, he/she or 
any other person associated therewith in the capacity of owner, partner, director, officer, and 
manager:  Is not currently under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion, or determination of 
ineligibility by any federal agency;  Has not been suspended, debarred, voluntarily excluded or 
determined ineligible by any federal agency within the past 3 years;  Does not have a proposed 
debarment pending; and Has not been indicted, convicted, or had a civil judgment rendered against 
it by a court of competent jurisdiction in any matter involving fraud or official misconduct within 
the past 3 years.  If there are any exceptions to this certification, insert the exceptions on an attached 
page. 
 
The undersigned as bidder, declares that the only persons or parties interested in this proposal as 
principals are those named herein and that this proposal is made without collusion with any person, 
firm, or corporation; and he proposes and agrees, if the proposal is accepted, that he will execute a 
contract with the County in the form set forth in the contract documents and that he will accept in 
full payment thereof the unit prices on the following 3 pages. 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 5 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Bid Form: Base Bid 
Item Unit Description Unit Price QTY Total Price 

1 LS Mobilization   1   

2 LS Erosion Control   1   

3 LF Relocate (E) Fence   322   

4 EA Remove Tree   16   

5 EA Sign   16   

6 EA Relocate (E) Fire Hydrant   2   

7 EA Relocate Mailbox   1   

8 EA Relocate Water Meter   1   

9 EA Adjust Utility Box   10   

10 EA 8 inch Water Valve   4   

11 EA Adjust Water Meter and Install Traffic Rated Lid   2   

12 EA Adjust Manhole   2   

13 EA Remove (E) Construct Infiltration Chamber   1   

14 LF 12 inch Storm Drain   126   

15 EA Sidewalk Cross Drain   1   

16 EA Install 2 inch Water Service   2   

17 LF 12 inch Water Pipe    87   

18 LF 6 inch Water Pipe    100   

19 SF Remove (E) Construct Sidewalk   9,557   

20 LF Remove (E) Construct Curb & Gutter   2,610   

21 SF Remove (E) install PCC Spandrel   325   

22 LF Remove (E) Construct PCC Curb   20   

23 EA Remove (E) Construct PED Ramp Case A or C   19   

24  EA  Remove (E) Construct Corner Ramp   4   

25 EA Remove (E) Construct Ramp with Hand Rail   2   

26 EA Remove (E) Construct Stairs with Hand Rail   1   

27 SF Remove (E) Construct Driveway   1,155   

28 SF Remove (E) Construct Commercial Driveway   2,082   

29 SF Remove (E) Construct Alley   1,619   

30 SF 
Remove (E) Construct N Jackson PCC Flatwork 
Extension 

  220   

31 SF Remove (E) Construct Pavement Patch   20,298   

32 SF Accessible Pavement Marking   289   

33 LF Paint Curb Red   832   

34 LF Paint Curb White   43   

35 EA Stop Marking   7   

36 LF 4 inch Solid White Line (paint)   742   

37 LF 12 inch Solid Line (paint)   892   

38 LS Traffic Control   1  



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 6 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Item Unit Description Unit Price QTY Total Price 
39 LS SWPPP   1   

40 LS Construction Staking   1   

    Total Base Bid   

CY is cubic yard; EA is each; LF is linear foot; LS is lump sum; SF is square foot 
 
 
 
Bid Form: Add Alt 1 

Work shown in Add Alt 1 on C1 SITE PLAN  sheet only. 

Item Unit Description Unit Price QTY Total Price 

5* EA Sign   5   

19* SF Remove (E) Construct Sidewalk   949   

20* LF Remove (E) Construct Curb & Gutter   1,224   

23* EA Remove (E) Construct PED Ramp Case A or C   5   

27* SF Remove (E) Construct Driveway   971   

31* SF Remove (E) Construct Pavement Patch   1,486   

33* LF Paint Curb Red   177   

35* EA Stop Marking   1   

37* LF 12 Inch Solid Line (paint)   262   

38  LS Traffic Control (47% of Base Bid)   1    

39 LS Construction Staking (47% of Base Bid)  1  

 Total Add Alt 1 Bid   

CY is cubic yard; EA is each; LF is linear foot; LS is lump sum; SF is square foot 
*Unit prices shall be the same as in the Base Bid 
 
  



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 7 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Bid Form: Add Alt 2 
Work shown in Add Alt 2 on C1 SITE PLAN sheet only. 

Item Unit Description 
Unit 
Price 

QTY Total Price 

4* EA Remove Tree   3   

5* EA Sign   1   

9* EA Adjust Utility Box   2   

19* SF Remove (E) Construct Sidewalk   886   

20* LF Remove (E) Construct Curb & Gutter   235   

23* EA Remove (E) Construct PED Ramp Case A or C   2   

28* SF Remove (E) Construct Commercial Driveway   386   

29* SF Remove (E) Construct Alley   310   

31* SF Remove (E) Construct Pavement Patch   2,872   

33* LF Paint Curb Red   90   

38  LS Traffic Control (9% of Base Bid)    1   

39 LS Construction Staking (9% of Base Bid)  1  

 Total Add Alt 2 Bid   

CY is cubic yard; EA is each; LF is linear foot; LS is lump sum; SF is square foot 
*Unit prices shall be the same as in the Base Bid 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bid Form Total Summary: 
 

Total Base Bid   

Total Add Alt 1 Bid   

Total Add Alt 2 Bid   

    

Base Bid with Add Alt 1   

Base Bid with Add Alt 2  

Base Bid with Add Alt 1 & 2   

 
 
 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 8 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

The contract will be awarded based on the base bid. 
 
In the event the total amount for an individual bid item does not agree with the product of the 
estimated quantity and unit price bid for that item, the unit price stated for the individual item shall 
govern and the incorrect total amount for that item shall be corrected.  In the event the Total Base 
Bid, Total Add Alt 1, or Total Add Alt 2 do not agree with the sum of the total amounts bid for the 
respective bid items, the total amounts for the respective bid items shall govern and the incorrect 
Totals shall be corrected. 
 
Unit prices for all items, extensions and total amount of bid must be shown.  The proposal submitted 
shall be in effect for 30 days after the opening of bids. 
 
Accompanying this proposal is a deposit in the form of a _________________(Insert words 
"certified check", "cashier's check", "bid bond", "cash", or appropriate description of substitute 
security, as the case may be) in the amount of $________________ which amount is not less than 
10% of the total Base Bid, payable to the COUNTY OF INYO. 
 
The undersigned deposits the above-named security as a proposal guarantee and agrees that it shall 
be forfeited to the County in case this proposal is accepted by the County and the undersigned fails 
to execute a contract with the County as specified in the contract documents or fails to furnish the 
required payment and performance bonds, or substitute, and insurance certificates and 
endorsements.  Should the County be required to engage the services of an attorney in connection 
with the enforcement of this bid, bidder promises to pay County’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
incurred with or without suit. 
 
The names of all persons interested in the foregoing proposals as principals are as follows.  If bidder 
is a corporation, state legal name of corporation, also names of the president, secretary, treasurer, 
and manager thereof; if a general partnership, state true name of firm, also names of all individual 
partners composing firm; if a limited partnership, the names of all general partners and limited 
partners; if an individual, state first and last names in full; if the bidder is a joint venture, state the 
complete name of each party. 

 

 

 

 
 
Authorized Bidder Representative: 
 

Name (typed or printed):   ___________________________________________ (SEAL) 
 
By:   ___________________________________________________________________  

(Individual’s signature – attach evidence of authority to sign) 
 

Title:   __________________________________________________________________  



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 9 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Bid Bond 
 

(10% of Total Bid Amount) 
 
 
We, _________________________________________________________________________________as Principal, 
 
and ___________________________________________________________________________________as Surety, 
jointly and severally, bind ourselves, our heirs, representatives, successors and assigns, as set forth herein to the 
 

County of Inyo, California 
 
(herein called County) for payment of the penal sum of ___________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________ Dollars ($_________________________), lawful money of the United 
States.  Principal has submitted the accompanying bid for the construction of 
 
 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project 
 

If the Principal is awarded the contract and enters into a written contract, in the form prescribed by the County, at the price 
designated by his bid, and files two bonds with the County, or substitute security in lieu thereof, one to guarantee payment 
for labor and materials and the other to guarantee faithful performance, in the time and manner specified by the County, 
and carries all insurance in type and amount which conforms to the contract documents, and furnishes required certificates 
and endorsements thereof, then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
Forfeiture of this bond, or any deposit made in lieu thereof, shall not preclude the County from seeking all other remedies 
provided by law to cover losses sustained as a result of the Principal’s failure to do any of the foregoing. 
 
Principal and Surety agree that if the County is required to engage the services of an attorney in connection with the 
enforcement of this bond, each shall pay County’s reasonable attorney’s fees incurred with or without suit. 
 
 

Executed on ________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________ 
PRINCIPAL 

 
(Seal of Corporation)          By _____________________________________ 
 

Title ____________________________________ 
 
(Attach Acknowledgment of Authorized Representative of Principal) 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 10 of 33 Bid Bond 
 

Any claims under this bond may be addressed to: 
 
___________________________________________(Name and address of Surety) 
 
___________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________ 
 
 
___________________________________________(Name and address of Surety’s agent for service of  
        process in California, if different from above)                              
___________________________________________  
 
___________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________ (Telephone number of Surety’s agent in California) 
 
 
(Attach Acknowledgement)   ____________________________________ 

SURETY 
 

By__________________________________ 
         (Attorney-in-Fact)



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 11 of 33 Non-collusion 
Declaration 

 

Non-collusion Declaration 
 
The undersigned declares: 

I am 
the _______________________________________________________________________ 

of ______________________________________________________________________, 

the party making the foregoing bid. 
 
The bid is not made in the interest of, or on behalf of, any undisclosed person, partnership, 
company, association, organization, or corporation. The bid is genuine and not collusive or sham. 
The bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to put in a false or 
sham bid. The bidder has not directly or indirectly colluded, conspired, connived, or agreed with 
any bidder or anyone else to put in a sham bid, or to refrain from bidding. The bidder has not in any 
manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement, communication, or conference with anyone to 
fix the bid price of the bidder or any other bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit, or cost element of 
the bid price, or of that of any other bidder. All statements contained in the bid are true. The bidder 
has not, directly or indirectly, submitted his or her bid price or any breakdown thereof, or the 
contents thereof, or divulged information or data relative thereto, to any corporation, partnership, 
company, association, organization, bid depository, or to any member or agent thereof, to effectuate 
a collusive or sham bid, and has not paid, and will not pay, any person or entity for such purpose.  
 
Any person executing this declaration on behalf of a bidder that is a corporation, partnership, joint 
venture, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, or any other entity, hereby 
represents that he or she has full power to execute, and does execute, this declaration on behalf of 
the bidder. 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true 
and correct and that this declaration is executed on 

Date _______________________________________________________________ at 

County, State _________________________________________________________________ 

Signature _________________________________________________________________ 

Printed Name ______________________________________________________________ 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 12 of 33 Workers Compensation 
Certificate 

 

Contractor’s Certificate Regarding Worker’s Compensation 
 

 
 
Description of Contract:  County of Inyo Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA 
Improvement Project 
 
 
Labor Code Section 3700 Provides (in part): 
 

“Every employer except the State shall secure the payment of compensation in one or more 
of the following ways: 
 
A. By being insured against liability to pay compensation in one or more insurers duly 

authorized to write compensation insurance in this State. 
 

B. By securing from the Director of Industrial Relations a certificate of consent to self-
insure, which may be given upon furnishing proof satisfactory to the Director of 
Industrial Relations of ability to self-insure and to pay any compensation that may 
become due to his employees.” 

 
I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which require every employer to be 
insured against liability for worker’s compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance 
with the provisions of that code, and I will comply with such provisions before commencing the 
performance of the work of this contract. 
 
 
 
Dated:  _______________________________ __________________________________ 
         (Contractor) 
 
 
      By ________________________________________ 
 
 
           ________________________________________ 
         (Official Title) 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 13 of 33 Proposed Equipment 
and Material 

 

Proposed Equipment And Material Manufacturers 
 
 
Awarding of a contract will not imply approval by the County of the manufacturers or suppliers 
proposed by the Contractor.  The proposed equipment and materials to be incorporated in the work, 
their manufacturers, and suppliers are: 
 
             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

              

 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 14 of 33 Proposed 
Subcontractors 

 

Proposed Subcontractors 
 
 
As required by Section 4100-4107 of the Public Contract Code, the Contractor shall list the 
subcontractors proposed for this project.  No substitution will be permitted after award of contract 
except upon written approval of the County.  The proposed subcontractors on this project are listed 
below. If small business subcontracting preference is claimed, provide percentage of total bid for 
each small business subcontractor. 
 
 

Description of % of  Name of Subcontractor Location of Mill 
Work Bid Subcontractor License Number Shop, or Office 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 15 of 33 Contractor Licenses 
 

Contractor Licenses 
 
The Contractor’s license classifications required for this project are as follows: 
 
Class A – General Engineering Contractor or 
Class C8 - Concrete Contractor 
 
These classifications are provided for information purposes only.  The Engineer does not warrant that 
all classifications required for the project are listed. 
 
It is the County’s intent that “plans,” as used in Public Contract Code Section 3300, is defined as the 
construction contract documents, which include both drawings and specifications. 
 
The contractor hereby confirms that it has all licenses and permits required by federal, state, and 
local statutes, regulations, and ordinances.  The following are the Contractor’s applicable license 
numbers: 
 
Contractor’s License Number     Expiration Date 
 
              

             

             

              

 
I state under penalty of perjury that all information submitted by me and included in this contract is 
true and correct. 
 
Signature of Bidder:  __________________________________________________________ 
  
      __________________________________________________________   
 
      __________________________________________________________   
 
      __________________________________________________________   
  
 
Dated:  __________________________________ 
 
 

 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 1 of 6 
  110822 

CONTRACT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE COUNTY OF INYO  
and 

______________________________________________, CONTRACTOR 
for the 

___________________________________________________ PROJECT 

  
 THIS CONTRACT is awarded by the COUNTY OF INYO to CONTRACTOR on and 
made and entered into effective, ___________________, 20_____, by and between the COUNTY 
OF INYO, a political subdivision of the State of California, (hereinafter referred to as 
"COUNTY"), and _______________________________________ (hereinafter referred to as 
“CONTRACTOR”), for the construction or removal of ___________________________ 
PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "PROJECT"), which parties agree, for and in consideration 
of the mutual promises, as follows: 
 
1. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED.  CONTRACTOR  shall furnish, at his/her own 
expense, all labor, materials, methods, processes, implements, tools, machinery, equipment, 
transportation, permits, services, utilities, and all other items, and related functions and otherwise 
shall perform all work necessary or appurtenant to construct the Project in accordance with the any 
and all Contract Documents specified within section 4 of this Contract, within the Time for 
Completion set forth, as well as in all other in the Contract Documents, for: 
     
  Title:  __________________________________________________PROJECT 
 
2. TIME OF COMPLETION.  Project work shall begin within _____ calendar days after 
receipt of the Notice to Proceed (NTP) (or on the start of work date identified in the NTP) and 
shall continue until all requested services are completed.  Said services shall be completed no later 
than the Time of Completion as noted in the Project’s Special Provisions or Scope of Work 
Attachment. Procedures for any extension of time shall be complied with as noted in the Project’s 
Special Provisions or Scope of Work Attachment. 
 
3. PAYMENT/CONSIDERATION.  For the performance of all such work, COUNTY 
shall pay to CONTRACTOR for said work the total amount of: 
__________________________________________________ dollars ($                             .       ), 
adjusted by such increases or decreases as authorized in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, and payable at such times and upon such conditions as otherwise set forth in the 
Contract Documents. 
 
4. ALL PROVISIONS SET FORTH HEREIN.  CONTRACTOR and COUNTY agree that 
this Contract shall include and consist of (collectively “the Contract Documents”):  
 ___  The Bid Proposal Form 

___ The Bid Bond 
___ The Faithful Performance Bond 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 2 of 6 
  110822 

___ The Labor and Materials Payment Bond  
___ Insurance Specifications 
___ All documents as described in Section 5-1.02, “Definitions,” of the Standard 

Specifications of the Inyo County Public Works Department, dated May 2020 
___ The Standard Specifications of the Inyo County Public Works Department, dated 

May 2020 
___ The Special Provisions concerning this Project including the Appendices and the 

Plans 
___ Scope of Work Attachment [negotiated contracts only] 
___ Any and all amendments or changes to any of the above-listed documents 

including, without limitation, contract change orders, and any and all documents 
incorporated by reference into any of the above-listed documents. 

 
All Contract Documents are attached hereto.    

 
5. STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE.  Contractor represents that he/she is qualified and 
licensed to perform the work to be done as required in this Contract.  County relies upon the 
representations of Contractor regarding professional and/or trade training, licensing, and ability to 
perform the services as a material inducement to enter into this Contract.  Acceptance of work by 
the County does not operate to release Contractor from any responsibility to perform work to 
professional and/or trade standards. Contractor shall provide properly skilled professional and 
technical personnel to perform all services under this Contract.  Contractor shall perform all 
services required by this Contract in a manner and according to the standards observed by a 
competent practitioner of the profession.  All work products of whatsoever nature delivered to the 
County shall be prepared in a manner conforming to the standards of quality normally observed 
by a person practicing in Contractor’s profession and/or trade. 
 
6. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  Nothing contained herein or any document executed 
in connection herewith, shall be construed to create an employer-employee, partnership or joint 
venture relationship between County and Contractor, nor to allow County to exercise discretion or 
control over the manner in which Contractor performs the work or services that are the subject 
matter of this Contract; provided, however, the work or services to be provided by Contractor shall 
be provided in a manner consistent with reaching the County’s objectives in entering this Contract.  

 
 Contractor is an independent contractor, not an employee of County or any of its 
subsidiaries or affiliates.  Contractor will not represent him/herself to be nor hold her/himself out 
as an employee of County. Contractor acknowledges that s/he shall not have the right or 
entitlement in or to any of the pension, retirement or other benefit programs now or hereafter 
available to County's employees.  The consideration set forth in Paragraph 3 shall be the sole 
consideration due Contractor for the services rendered hereunder. It is understood that County will 
not withhold any amounts for payment of taxes from the Contractor‘s compensation hereunder.  
Any and all sums due under any applicable state, federal or municipal law or union or professional 
and/or trade guild regulations shall be Contractor’s sole responsibility. Contractor shall indemnify 
and hold County harmless from any and all damages, claims and expenses arising out of or 
resulting from any claims asserted by any  third party, including but not limited to a taxing 
authority, as a result of or in connection with payments due it from Contractor’s compensation.  
 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 3 of 6 
  110822 

7. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING.  The parties recognize that a substantial 
inducement to County for entering into this Contract is the professional reputation, experience and 
competence of Contractor.  Assignments of any and/or all rights, duties or obligations of the 
Contractor under this Contract will be permitted only with the express consent of the County.  
Contractor shall not subcontract any portion of the work to be performed under this Contract 
without the written authorization of the County.  If County consents to such subcontract, 
Contractor shall be fully responsible to County for all acts or omissions of the subcontractor.  
Nothing in this Contract shall create any contractual relationship between County and 
subcontractor, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of the County to pay any monies due 
to any such subcontractor, unless otherwise required by law. 
 
8. INDEMNIFICATION. Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and 
its officers, officials, employees and volunteers from and against all claims, damages, losses, and 
expenses, including attorney fees arising out of the performance of the work described herein, 
caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable, except where caused by the active negligence, sole negligence, or willful misconduct of 
the County. 
 
9. POLITICAL REFORM ACT. Contractor is not a designated employee within the 
meaning of the Political Reform Act because Contractor: 

a.    Will conduct research and arrive at conclusions with respect to his/her rendition of 
information, advice, recommendation or counsel independent of the control and direction of the 
County or of any County official, other than normal Contract monitoring; and 

b. Possesses no authority with respect to any County decision beyond rendition of 
information, advice, recommendation or counsel [FPPC Reg. 18700(a)(2)]. 
 
10. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS.   

Performance Standards:  Contractor shall use the standard of care in its profession and/or 
trade to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances and regulations 
that relate to the work or services to be provided pursuant to this Contract.   

a. Safety Training:  
i. Contractor shall provide such safety and other training as needed to assure work 

will be performed in a safe and healthful manner "in a language" that is understandable to 
employees receiving the training.  The training shall in all respects be in compliance with 
CAL OSHA;  and  

ii. Contractor working with employees shall maintain a written Injury and Illness 
Prevention (IIP) Program, a copy of which must be maintained at each worksite or at a 
central worksite identified for the employees, if the Contractor has non-fixed worksites; 
and 

iii. Contractor using subcontractors with the approval of the County to perform the 
work which is the subject of this Contract shall require each subcontractor working with 
employees to comply with the requirements of this section. 
b. Child, Family and Spousal Support reporting Obligations:  

i. Contractor shall comply with the state and federal child, family and spousal 
support reporting requirements and with all lawfully served wage and earnings assignment 
orders or notices of assignment relating to child, family and spousal support obligations. 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 4 of 6 
  110822 

c. Nondiscrimination: 
i. Contractor shall not discriminate in employment practices or in the delivery of 

services on the basis of membership in a protected class which includes any class 
recognized by law and not limited to race, color, religion, sex (gender), sexual orientation, 
marital status, national origin (Including language use restrictions), ancestry, disability 
(mental and physical, including HIV and Aids), medical Conditions (cancer/genetic 
characteristics), age (40 and above) and request for family care leave.  

ii. Contractor represents that it is in compliance with federal and state laws 
prohibiting discrimination in employment and agrees to stay in compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. sections 12101, et. seq.), Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 5101, et. seq.), Title VII (42 U.S.C. 
2000, et. seq.), the California Fair Employment Housing Act (California Government 
Code sections 12900, et. seq.) and regulations and guidelines issued pursuant thereto. 

 
11. LICENSES.  Contractor represents and warrants to County that it has all licenses, 
permits, qualifications, insurance and approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required 
of Contractor to practice its trade and/or profession. Contractor represents and warrants to County 
that Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, keep in effect or obtain at all times during the 
term of this Contract, any licenses, permits, insurance and approvals which are legally required of 
Contractor to practice its profession.  
 
12. PREVAILING WAGE.  Pursuant to Section 1720 et seq. of the Labor Code, 
Contractor agrees to comply with the Department of Industrial Relations regulations, to which this 
Contract is subject, the prevailing wage per diem rates in Inyo County have been determined by 
the Director of the State Department of Industrial Relations. These wage rates appear in the 
Department publication entitled "General Prevailing Wage Rates," in effect at the time the project 
is advertised. Future effective wage rates, which have been predetermined and are on file with the 
State Department of Industrial Relations are referenced but not printed in said publication. Such 
rates of wages are also on file with the State Department of Industrial Relations and the offices of 
the Public Works Department of the County of Inyo and are available to any interested party upon 
request.  Contractor agrees to comply with County and the Department of Industrial Relations 
regulations in submitting the certified payroll. 
 
13. CONTROLLING LAW VENUE. This Contract is made in the County of Inyo, State 
of California.  The parties specifically agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the Superior Court of 
California for the County of Inyo. 
 
14. WRITTEN NOTIFICATION.  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or 
communication that either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing 
and either served personally or sent prepaid, first class mail.  Any such notice, demand, et cetera, 
shall be addressed to the other party at the address set forth herein below.  Either party may change 
its address by notifying the other party of the change of address.  Notice shall be deemed 
communicated within 48 hours from the time of mailing if mailed as provided in this section. 

 
If to County:  County of Inyo 

                     Public Works Department 
   Attn: __________________________ 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 5 of 6 
  110822 

       168 N. Edwards 
   PO Drawer Q 
   Independence, CA 93526 
 

If to Contractor: ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 

 
15. AMENDMENTS.  This Contract may be modified or amended only by a written 
document executed by both Contractor and County and approved as to form by Inyo County 
Counsel. 
 
16. WAIVER.  No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder.   
 
17. TERMINATION.  This Contract may be terminated for the reasons stated below: 

a.    Immediately for cause, if either party fails to perform its responsibilities under 
this Contract in a timely and professional manner and to the satisfaction of the other 
party or violates any of the terms or provisions of this Contract; or 

b.    By County upon oral notice from the Board of Supervisors based on funding 
ending or being materially decreased during the term of this Contract.  

 
18. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence for every provision. 
 
19. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Contract is held to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the provision and/or provisions shall remain in full force and effect 
and shall not be affected, impaired or invalidated. 
 
20. CONTRACT SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS.  It is 
understood and agreed by the parties that this Contract is subject to the review and approval by the 
Inyo County Board of Supervisors upon Notice.  In the event that the Board of Supervisors declines 
to enter into or approve said Contract, it is hereby agreed to that there is, in fact, no binding 
agreement, either written or oral, between the parties herein. 
 
21. ATTACHMENTS.  All attachments referred to are incorporated herein and made a 
part of this Contract.  
 
22. EXECUTION.  This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, each of which 
shall constitute one and the same instrument and shall become binding upon the parties.  In 
approving this Contract, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 
counterpart.   

 
23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Contract, including the Contract Documents and all 
other documents which are incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the complete and 
exclusive agreement between the County and Contractor.  All prior written and oral 
communications, including correspondence, drafts, memoranda, and representations, are 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 6 of 6 
  110822 

superseded in total by this Contract.   
---o0o--- 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, COUNTY and CONTRACTOR have each caused this Contract to be 
executed on its behalf by its duly authorized representative, effective as of the day and year first 
above written. 
 
COUNTY      CONTRACTOR 
 
COUNTY OF INYO           
 
By:        By:       
 
Name:        Name:       
 
Title:        Title:       
 
Dated:        Dated:       
 
        
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:        
        
_________________________________    
County Counsel 
        
APPROVED AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM:   
                                
__________________________________              
County Auditor 
 
APPROVED AS TO INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: 
 
__________________________________ 
County Risk Manager  
 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND 

__________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE _____________________________________________________ PROJECT 

 
  

INSURANCE PROVISIONS 
 
 



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for Construction Contracts 
Agreements under Civil Code 2783 or 2782.5 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for MOST LIGHT CONSTRUCTION 20230403/ah 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract, and for five years thereafter, 
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees, or subcontractors.  

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an 
“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily 
injury and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $5,000,000 per occurrence. If a 
general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this 
project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the 
required occurrence limit.  

1. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any 
auto), or if Contractor has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less 
than $5,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

2. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, 
and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. (Not required if consultant provided written verification it has no employees.) 

3. Builder’s Risk (Course of Construction) insurance utilizing an “All Risk” (Special Perils) coverage 
form, with limits equal to the completed value of the project and no coinsurance penalty 
provisions.  

4. Surety Bonds as described below.  
5. Professional Liability (if Design/Build): Insurance appropriate to the Contractor’s profession, 

with limit no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $2,000,000 aggregate.  
6. Contractors’ Pollution Legal Liability and/or Asbestos Legal Liability and/or Errors and 

Omissions (if project involves environmental hazards) with limits no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence or claim, and $2,000,000 policy aggregate.  

If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, 
Inyo County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained 
by the contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of 
insurance and coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  

Self-Insured Retentions 

Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo County may require the 
Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of ability to pay losses and 
related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention. The policy 
language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be satisfied by 
either the named insured or Inyo County. The CGL and any policies, including Excess liability policies, 
may not be subject to a self-insured retention (SIR) or deductible that exceeds $25,000 unless approved 
in writing by Inyo County. Any and all deductibles and SIRs shall be the sole responsibility of Contractor 
or subcontractor who procured such insurance and shall not apply to the Indemnified Additional Insured 
Parties. Inyo County may deduct from any amounts otherwise due Contractor to fund the 
SIR/deductible. Policies shall NOT contain any self-insured retention (SIR) provision that limits the 



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for Construction Contracts 
Agreements under Civil Code 2783 or 2782.5 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for MOST LIGHT CONSTRUCTION 20230403/ah 

satisfaction of the SIR to the Named. The policy must also provide that Defense costs, including the 
Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, will satisfy the SIR or deductible. Inyo County reserves the right to 
obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification. 

OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

Additional Insured Status: Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be 
covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or 
operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or equipment 
furnished in connection with such work or operations and automobiles owned, leased, hired, or 
borrowed by or on behalf of the Contractor. General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an 
endorsement to the Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not 
available, through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if a 
later edition is used).  

Primary Coverage: For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory and at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo 
County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. This requirement shall also apply to any Excess or Umbrella liability policies.  

Notice of Cancellation: Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be 
canceled, except with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Builder’s Risk (Course of Construction) Insurance  
Contractor may submit evidence of Builder’s Risk insurance in the form of Course of Construction 
coverage. Such coverage shall name Inyo County as a loss payee as their interest may appear. If the 
project does not involve new or major reconstruction, at the option of Inyo County, an Installation 
Floater may be acceptable. For such projects, a Property Installation Floater shall be obtained that 
provides for the improvement, remodel, modification, alteration, conversion or adjustment to existing 
buildings, structures, processes, machinery and equipment. The Property Installation Floater shall 
provide property damage coverage for any building, structure, machinery or equipment damaged, 
impaired, broken, or destroyed during the performance of the Work, including during transit, 
installation, and testing at Inyo County’s site. 
 
Claims Made Policies: If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning 

of contract work.  
2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years 

after completion of the contract of work.  
3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form 

with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must purchase 
“extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.  

4. A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to Inyo County for review. 
5. If the services involve lead-based paint or asbestos identification/remediation, the Contractors 

Pollution Liability policy shall not contain lead-based paint or asbestos exclusions. If the services 



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for Construction Contracts 
Agreements under Civil Code 2783 or 2782.5 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for MOST LIGHT CONSTRUCTION 20230403/ah 

involve mold identification/remediation, the Contractors Pollution Liability policy shall not contain a 
mold exclusion, and the definition of Pollution shall include microbial matter, including mold.  

Umbrella or Excess Policy: The Contractor may use Umbrella or Excess Policies to provide the liability 
limits as required in this agreement. This form of insurance will be acceptable provided that all of the 
Primary and Umbrella or Excess Policies shall provide all of the insurance coverages herein required, 
including, but not limited to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured Retentions 
(SIRs), indemnity, and defense requirements. The Umbrella or Excess policies shall be provided on a true 
“following form” or broader coverage basis, with coverage at least as broad as provided on the 
underlying Commercial General Liability insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional 
Insureds, whether primary or excess, and which also apply to a loss covered hereunder, shall be called 
upon to contribute to a loss until the Contractor’s primary and excess liability policies are exhausted. 
 
Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the 
state with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation: Contractor hereby agrees to waive rights to subrogation which any insurer of 
Contractor may acquire from contractor by virtue of the payment of any loss. Contractor agrees to 
obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision 
applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement 
from the insurer. The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in 
favor of Inyo County for all work performed by the Contractor, its employees, agents, and 
subcontractors.  
 
Verification of Coverage: Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original certificates and amendatory 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause and 
a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy and any Excess policies listing all 
policy endorsements. All certificates and endorsements and copies of the Declarations and 
Endorsements pages are to be received and approved by Inyo County before work commences. 
However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the 
Contractor’s obligation to provide them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any 
time. Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature 
of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.  
 
Subcontractors: Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting 
all the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional insured 
on insurance required from subcontractors. For CGL coverage, subcontractors shall provide coverage 
with a form at least as broad as CG 20 38 04 13. 
 
Duration of Coverage: CGL & Excess liability policies for any construction related work, including, but 
not limited to, maintenance, service, or repair work, shall continue coverage for a minimum of 5 years 
for Completed Operations liability coverage. Such Insurance must be maintained and evidence of 
insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 
 
Surety Bonds  
Contractor shall provide the following Surety Bonds in accordance with the bid package directions:  
1. Bid Bond  



Attachment C: 2023 Insurance Requirements for Construction Contracts 
Agreements under Civil Code 2783 or 2782.5 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards for MOST LIGHT CONSTRUCTION 20230403/ah 

2. Performance Bond  
3. Payment Bond  
4. Maintenance Bond  
 
The Payment Bond and the Performance Bond shall be in a sum equal to the contract price. If the 
Performance Bond provides for a one-year warranty a separate Maintenance Bond is not necessary. If 
the warranty period specified in the contract is for longer than one year a Maintenance Bond equal to 
10% of the contract price is required. Bonds shall be duly executed by a responsible corporate surety, 
authorized to issue such bonds in the State of California and secured through an authorized agent with 
an office in California. 
 
Special Risks or Circumstances: Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including 
limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special 
circumstances. 
 
-end- 



____________________________________________ PROJECT 
 

LABOR AND MATERIALS PAYMENT BOND 
(100% OF CONTRACT AMOUNT) 

 
 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that _____________________________________ 
        (Name of Contractor) 
 
______________________________________ as Principal, hereinafter “CONTRACTOR,” 
 
and __________________________________________________________________________ 
    (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
as Corporate Surety, hereinafter called SURETY, are held and firmly bound unto the County of 
Inyo as Obligee, hereinafter called COUNTY, for the use and benefit of claimants as hereinafter  
defined in the amount of                         
dollars ($          _______       ._____   ) for the payment whereof Contractor and Surety bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assignees, jointly and severally, 
firmly by these presents. 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor has by written contract dated _________________________, 20 _____, 
entered into an Contract with the County for the construction of the _________________ 
PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "PROJECT"), to be constructed in accordance with the terms 
and conditions set forth in the contract for the PROJECT, which contract is by reference 
incorporated herein, and is hereinafter referred to as the "CONTRACT.” 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall 
promptly make payment to all claimants as hereinafter defined, for all labor and materials used or 
reasonably required for use in the performance of the Contract, then this obligation shall be void; 
otherwise, it shall remain in full force and effect, subject, however, to the following conditions: 

 
1. A claimant is defined as one having a direct contract with the Contractor, or with a 

Subcontractor of the Contractor, for labor, materials, or both, used or reasonably required 
for use in the performance of the Contract. Labor and materials is construed to include, but 
not limited to, that part of water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service or 
rental of equipment directly applicable to the Contract. 

 
2. The above named Contractor and Surety hereby jointly agree with the County that every 

claimant as herein defined, who has not been paid in full before the expiration of a period 
of ninety (90) calendar days after the date on which the last of such claimant's work or labor 
was done or performed, or materials were furnished by such claimant, may sue on this Bond 
for the benefit of such claimant, prosecute the suit to final judgment for such sum or sums 
as may be justly due claimant, and have execution thereon. The County shall not be liable 
for the payment of any costs or expenses of any such suit. 



 
3. No suit or action shall be commenced hereunder by any claimant: 

 
a) Unless claimant, other than one having a direct contract with the Contractor, shall have 

given written notice to any two of the following: the Contractor, the County, or the 
Surety above named, within ninety (90) calendar days after such claimant did or 
performed the last of the work or labor, or furnished the last of the material for which 
said claim is made, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name 
of the party to whom the materials were furnished, or for whom the work or labor was 
done or performed. Such notice shall be served by mailing the same by registered mail 
or certified mail, postage prepaid, in any envelope addressed to the Contractor, County, 
or Surety, at the address below, or at any place where an office is regularly maintained 
for the transaction of their business. Such notice may also be served in the state in which 
the aforesaid project is located, save that such service need not be made by a public 
officer. 

 
b) After the expiration of one (1) year following the date on which County accepted the 

work done under the Contract. However, if any limitation embodied in this Bond is 
prohibited by any law controlling the construction hereof, such limitation shall be 
deemed to be amended so as to be equal to the minimum period of limitation permitted 
by such law. 

 
c) Other than in a State Court of competent jurisdiction in and for the County or other 

political subdivision of the state in which the Project, or any part thereof, is situated, 
and not elsewhere. 

 
4. The amount of this Bond shall be reduced by and to the extent of any payment or payments 

made in good faith hereunder, inclusive of the payment by Surety of mechanics' liens which 
may be filed or recorded against said Project, whether or not claim for the amount of such 
lien be presented under and against this Bond. 

 
---o0o--- 

 
 

Signed and sealed this _________ day of _______________, 20 ___. 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
           (Name of Contractor)  
                    
       By: ________________________________ 
            (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
       ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 



                
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
 
        ___________________________________ 
         (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
       By: ________________________________ 
            (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
        ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
NOTE: 
THE SIGNATURES OF THE CONTRACTOR AND THE SURETY MUST BE 
ACKNOWLEDGED BEFORE A NOTARY PUBLIC (OR OTHER OFFICER 
AUTHORIZED UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW).  
The Labor and Materials Payment Bond must be executed by a corporate surety on this form. No 
substitutions will be accepted. If an attorney-in-fact signs for the surety, an acknowledged 
statement from the surety appointing and empowering the attorney-in-fact to execute such bonds 
in such amounts on behalf of the surety, must accompany the Labor and Materials Payment Bond. 
 
ADDRESS OF COUNTY FOR NOTICES TO BE SENT TO: 
   County of Inyo 
   224 N. Edwards, P.O. Box N 
   Independence, California 93526 



________________________________________ PROJECT 
 

FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE BOND 
(100% OF CONTRACT AMOUNT) 

 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That                            

         as Principal, hereinafter “Contractor,”  
 (Name of Contractor) 
and                   

 (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 

as Corporate Surety, hereinafter called Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the County of Inyo  
as Obligee, hereinafter called County, in the amount of                 
         dollars ($                _______   .  _    ), for the 
payment whereof Contractor and Surety bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors and assignees, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor has, by written Contract, dated ____________________, 20____, entered 
into an Contract with the County for the Construction of the _______________________   
_________________PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "Project"), to be constructed in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Contract for the Project, which contract 
is by reference incorporated herein and is hereinafter referred to as the "Contract.” 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall 
promptly and faithfully perform said Contract, then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise 
it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
The Surety hereby waives notice of any alteration or extension of time made by the County. 
 
Whenever Contractor shall be, and is declared by County to be, in default under the Contract, the 
County having performed Owner's obligations thereunder, the Surety may promptly remedy the 
default, or shall promptly either: 
 1. Complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions; or, 
 
 2. Obtain a Bid or Bids for completing the Contract in accordance with its terms and   
  conditions, and upon determination by Surety of the lowest responsible Bidder, or if 

the County elects, upon determination by the County and the Surety jointly of the 
lowest responsible Bidder, arrange for a Contract between such Bidder and County, 
and make available as work progresses (even though there should be a default or a 
succession of defaults under the Contract or contracts of completion arranged under 
this paragraph) sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the 
Contract price; but not exceeding, including other costs and damages for which the 
Surety may be liable hereunder, the amount set forth in the first paragraph hereof. The 
term "balance of the Contract price", as used in this paragraph, shall mean the total 



amount payable by County to Contractor under the Contract and any amendments 
thereto, less the amount properly paid by County to Contractor. 

 
Any suit under this Bond must be instituted before the expiration of two (2) years from the date 
on which final payment under the Contract falls due, or the date on which any warranty or 
guarantee period expires, whichever is later. 
 
No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to or for the use of any person or corporation other 
than the County named herein. 
 

---o0o--- 
 

Signed and sealed this ______ day of _________________, 20 _____. 

 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
         (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
       By: _______________________________ 
           (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
       ____________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
           (Name of Contractor) 
 
       By: _______________________________ 
           (Signature) 
  (SEAL)                              
       ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
NOTE:  THE SIGNATURES OF THE CONTRACTOR AND THE SURETY MUST 
EACH BE ACKNOWLEDGED BEFORE A NOTARY PUBLIC (OR OTHER OFFICER 
AUTHORIZED UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW) AND THE ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS BOND.  



The Faithful Performance Bond must be executed by a corporate surety on this form. No 
substitutions will be accepted. If an attorney-in-fact signs for the surety, an acknowledged 
statement from the surety appointing and empowering the attorney-in-fact to execute such bonds 
in such amounts on behalf of the surety must accompany the Faithful Performance Bond. 
 
ADDRESS OF COUNTY FOR NOTICES TO BE SENT: 
     County of Inyo 
     224 North Edwards Street, P.O. Box N 
     Independence, California 93526 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 22 of 33 Special Provisions 
General Provisions 

 

Special Provisions 
 
A. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
1. GENERAL 
Unless otherwise stated, the work embraced herein shall be done in accordance with the 
current Inyo County Standard Specifications and Standard Details and the 2018 Standard 
Specifications and the Standard Plans of the State of California, Department of 
Transportation (Caltrans) insofar as the same may apply and in accordance with these Special 
Provisions.  Copies of the Inyo County Standard Specifications and Standard Details are 
available on the county website. Caltrans Standard Plans and the Standard Specifications 
may be obtained from the Department of Transportation. 
 
When approved by the Engineer, forms, documents, and standards equivalent to those 
specified may be used. 

 
2. GLOSSARY 
All definitions and terms in the Inyo County Standard Specifications and in Section 1-1.07B, 
Glossary, of the Caltrans Standard Specifications shall apply, except whenever the following 
terms are used the intent and meaning shall be as follows. 
Bid Item List:  The bid form corrected for math errors. 
Contract:  Executed agreement between the County and Contractor. 
Contract Documents:  The documents which make up the Contract, including any and all 
documents incorporated therein; also, any and all written agreements between the County 
and Contractor which amend or change the Contract.  Referred to as the Bid Book in the 
Standard Specifications. 
Department of Transportation:  The Public Works Department of the County of Inyo, 
except when Department of Transportation publications are cited, such cites are to remain as 
written and refer to the State of California, Department of Transportation, also known as 
Caltrans. 
Laboratory:  The Laboratory of the Public Works Department or other laboratories 
authorized by the Public Works Department of the County of Inyo to test materials and work 
involved in the Contract. 
Engineer:  The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement. 
Owner:  The County. 
State or State of California:  The County except when State publications or standards are 
cited, such cites are to remain as written and refer to the State of California. 
 
3. CHANGES TO STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 
In addition to the changes to the Caltrans Standard Specifications in the Inyo County 
Standard Specifications, the following sections are deleted from the Caltrans Standard 
Specifications: 
2-1.02, Bid Ineligibility 
2-1.18, Small Business and Non-Small Business Subcontractor Preferences 
2-1.27, California Companies 
2-1.33D, Opt Out of Payment Adjustments for Price Index Fluctuations 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 23 of 33 Special Provisions 
General Provisions 

 

3-1.08, Small Business Participation Request 
 
Delete the numbered list in Section 3-1.18, Contract Execution 
 
Deleted the second and third paragraphs of Section 2-1.33A, Bid Document Completion - 
General. 
 
Modify Section 5-1.23, Submittals, to identify each sheet by the project name. 
 
Delete the column "Umbrella or excess liability" from Liability Limits table of Section 7-
1.06D(2), Liability Limits / Additional Insureds. 
 
 
4. BONDS  
The Contractor, simultaneously with the execution of the contract, shall furnish a payment 
bond and a performance bond each in an amount equal to 100 percent of the contract amount, 
or equivalent cash or security in lieu of bonds pursuant to Section 995.710 of the Code of 
Civil Procedures.  Bonds shall be furnished by surety companies satisfactory to the County 
on the forms furnished as part of the contract documents.  Surety companies, to be acceptable 
to the County, must be authorized to do business and have an agent for service of process in 
California.  
 
5. SCOPE OF WORK  
The scope of the work shall consist of the work described in the contract documents for the 
Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project and as provided in the 
improvement plans. 
 
6. PRE-CONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE 
Prior to issuance to the Notice to Proceed, the County will hold a pre-construction conference 
for the purpose of discussing essential matters pertaining to the pursuit of the satisfactory 
completion of the project. The Contractor’s representatives at this conference shall include all 
major superintendents for the work and may include subcontractors. 
 
7. CONSTRUCTION STAKES  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all construction staking. 

 
8. SUBMITTALS  
In addition to submittals required in the Inyo and Caltrans Standard Specifications and 
elsewhere in these Special Provisions, the Contractor shall submit the following information 
to the County 7 working days prior to beginning of work for review and approval. 

a) A schedule of work conforming to Section 8-1.02B, Level 1 Critical Path Model 
Schedule, of the Standard Specifications. 

b) A health and safety plan. 
c) A traffic control plan 

 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 24 of 33 Special Provisions 
General Provisions 

 

Each submittal shall include a cover sheet clearly describing the purpose of the submittal and 
containing a statement that the contractor has examined and verified all field dimensions and 
measurements, field construction criteria, materials, and similar data, and they meet the 
requirements for the project.  Submittals shall provide sufficient information to determine 
that the item is in compliance with the requirements. 
 
9. PERMITS AND LICENSES  
The following permits and licenses are known to be required for the work: 

a) County of Inyo Business License 
b) California Contractors License Classification A or C8. 
c) SWPPP Permit 

 
10. TIME OF COMPLETION 
The Contractor shall have 85 working days to complete the work. 
 
11. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES  
Liquidated damages shall be $1,000 per day. 
 
12. MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT  
All work will be measured and paid for as shown on the bid form and the contract 
documents. 

 
Item quantities shall be measured by planned, actual, or lump sum in accordance with these 
special provisions.  Item quantities to be measured for payment by planned quantities shall be 
based on theoretical or calculated quantities of completed work based on the plans.  Item 
quantities to be measured for payment by actual quantities shall be determined by 
measurement of completed work. 
 
The price paid for bid items shall include full compensation for furnishing all labor, 
materials, tools, equipment, and incidentals, and for doing all the work involved in 
completing those items of work complete in place in accordance with the contract 
documents. 
 
When the contract does not include a contract pay item for work required by the contract, full 
compensation for that work is included in the prices paid for the contract pay items included 
in the contract. 
 
Attention is directed to the provisions in Sections 10262 and 10262.5 of the Public Contract 
Code concerning prompt payment to subcontractors. 

 
13. RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS  
All public works claims between the Contractor and County relating to this contract where 
the total claims of both parties are equal or less than $375,000 shall be resolved in 
accordance with Public Contract Sections 20104 et seq., which are incorporated herein by 
reference.  There shall be no claims for labor compliance issues. 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 25 of 33 Special Provisions 
General Provisions 

 

 
14. TRAFFIC CONTROL  
The contractor's traffic control plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 Construction signing 
 Types and location of traffic control devices 
 Draft notification letters 
 Caltrans encroachment permit for elements on state right of way 

 
The plan shall conform to the California Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 
 
The County Engineer will review the submittal and provide written comments on the 
proposed plan.  Upon resolution of issues the Engineer shall accept the plan in writing. 
 
Acceptance by the Engineer of a traffic control plan shall in no way relieve the Contractor of 
his responsibility for safety.  Acceptance of the traffic control plan by the County Engineer 
indicates that the plan generally appears to conform to the contract requirements.  Such 
acceptance shall in no way be construed as confirmation of the technical accuracy or 
adequacy of the contents of the plan and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to 
institute traffic control measures in full compliance with contract requirements, and which 
function safely and correctly, and are in conformance with applicable statutes, ordinances, 
and regulations. 
 
Notifications: Draft notifications to properties shall be submitted to the Engineer for review 
and approval before Contractor distributes notices.  The Contractor shall submit a copy to the 
Engineer of all notifications delivered. 
 
The Contractor shall prepare and deliver project information notices to all properties adjacent 
to the project to ensure properties receive the notices no less than 7 calendar days prior to 
beginning any construction.  The notice will include: 
 

 Impacts of construction to property 
 General scope of project including description of project and limits, hours and days of 

operation, phasing information, lane closure, and parking restrictions 
 Contractor contact and telephone number 
 Other appropriate information requested by the Engineer. 

 
When temporary full-street and driveway closures are necessary for vehicles, the Contractor 
shall notify the affected properties 3 working days prior to each closure event. Contractor 
shall notify the Fire Department and EMS and coordinate any closures. At least one access 
point to the Lo-Inyo School on Locust is to be kept open at all times. 
 
Flagging: Flagging shall be paid entirely by the contractor. Assigned flaggers must control 
traffic and warn public of any dangerous conditions resulting from work activities. All 
flaggers must maintain flagging apparel. Flaggers shall be used during active construction 
operations whenever one-way traffic control is used on a two-way street. 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 26 of 33 Special Provisions 
General Provisions 

 

Drop Offs: All longitudinal drop-offs shall be delineated and signed. Where public traffic is 
exposed to longitudinal drop-offs greater than 4 inches during non-working hours temporary 
durable safety slopes 4 horizontal to every 1 vertical or flatter shall be constructed and 
maintained. 
 
Open Trenches and Excavation: Except for the minimum area needed to resume construction 
the following day, trenches and excavation shall be plated or backfilled and compacted to at 
least the bottom of the pavement section by the end of each work day. 
 
Phasing and Access Requirements: No more than one block or intersection shall be closed to 
vehicle traffic at a time. Such single blocks or intersections may only be closed when 
construction operations are underway. Except at isolated locations, at least two smooth firm 
lanes at least 11 feet wide shall be open on all two way streets when construction operations 
and not underway.  At isolated locations approved by the Engineer, at least one smooth firm 
lane at least 11 feet wide shall be open on all streets when construction operations are not 
underway. One smooth and firm continuous walkway at least 4 feet wide shall be maintained 
on all streets at all times. Pedestrian access shall me maintained to all properties at all times 
and delivery access to businesses shall be allowed and maintained to the maximum extent 
practical. Some businesses require daily deliveries of heavy freight. The contractor shall 
coordinate with police and fire to minimize impacts of contractor activities on emergency 
response. 
 
15. GENERAL SAFETY 
Contractor shall transmit to the County copies of reports and other documents related to 
accidents and injuries encountered during this work.  Where there is conflict between 
applicable safety orders, laws and regulations and policies, the more stringent measures shall 
apply. 

 
16. CHEMICALS 
The Contractor shall provide two copies of Material Safety Data Sheets to the County for all 
chemicals used during this project at least three days prior to bringing them on site.  Use of 
all such chemicals and disposal of residues shall be in strict accordance with the printed 
instructions of the manufacturer.   
 
If the Contractor encounters hazardous substances during this work, he shall immediately 
notify the County and the County Environmental Services Office.  Hazardous substances 
shall be disposed of in accordance with the requirements of Inyo County Department of 
Environmental Health.



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 27 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

B. BID ITEMS 
 

1. Mobilization 
Mobilization shall be measured lump sum. 
 
2. Erosion Control 
Erosion Control shall include materials and labor necessary to prevent storm water pollution. 
Erosion control shall be measured lump sum and paid based on percentage of contract time 
expired. 
 
3. Relocate (E) Fence 
Relocate fence consists of relocating existing wood, chain link, hog wire, or other type of 
fence to outside of Right of Way typically at the back of sidewalk. If existing fence cannot be 
salvaged, fence shall be replaced in kind. Fence relocation shall be measured actual. 
 
4. Remove Tree 
Remove Tree shall include removal and disposal of tree, stump, and roots greater than 4 
inches in diameter within 2 feet below finished grade. Remove Tree shall be measured actual.  
 
5. Sign 
Sign shall consist of street signs including street name signs and new posts as indicated on 
the plans. Sign shall use new components or existing relocated components if approved by 
the Engineer. Street name signs shall conform to Inyo county standards. More than one panel 
on one post shall be counted as one sign. Sign shall be measured actual.  
 
6. Relocate (E) Fire Hydrant 
Relocate existing fire hydrant shall include relocating existing fire hydrant to a new location 
in accordance with the Inyo standard plans for new fire hydrants and may include 
replacement of lateral, thrust blocks, shock pad, valve, valve box, tracer wire and other 
materials necessary for installation. Existing tee shall be abandoned with a blind flange 
installed on hydrant leg of tee. Relocate Existing Fire Hydrant shall be measured actual.  
 
7. Relocate Mailbox 
Relocate Mailbox shall include permanent relocation of existing mailbox in coordination 
with the Post Office and may include temporary location of the mailbox to maintain public 
access to it during construction. Relocate Mailbox shall be measured actual.  
 
8. Relocate Water Meter 
Relocate Water Meter shall include relocating existing water meter and service lines to a new 
location in accordance with the Inyo standards and the plans. In the case of some water 
meters, the utility may preform adjustment activities in conjunction with the contractor’s 
work. The contractor shall coordinate work with utility work. Relocate water meter shall be 
measured actual.  
 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 28 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

9.  Adjust Utility Box 
Adjust Utility Box shall include bringing existing water meter boxes, water valves and other 
similar utility boxes and structures to finish grade in accordance with Inyo standards. In the 
case of some communication boxes the utility may perform relocation and adjustment 
activities in conjunction with the contractor’s work. The contractor shall coordinate work 
with utility work. Adjust Utility Box shall be measured actual.  
 
10.  Install 8” Water Valve  
Install 8” Water Valve shall include furnishing and installing water valve, valve box and 
tracer wire; and adjusting to valve box to finish grade in accordance with Inyo standards. 
Install 8” Water Valve shall be measured actual.  
 
 11. Adjust Water Meter & Install Traffic Rated Lid 
Adjust Utility Box and Install Traffic Rated Lids shall include bringing existing water meter 
boxes to finish grade and furnishing and installing traffic rated lid in accordance with Inyo 
standards. Adjust Water Meter & Install Traffic Rated Lids shall be measured actual.  
 
12. Adjust Manhole 
Adjust Manhole shall include bringing existing sanitary sewer manholes to finish grade in 
accordance with Inyo standards. Adjust Manhole shall be measured actual. 
 
13.Infiltration Chamber 
Infiltration Chamber shall include removal of an existing materials (sidewalk, curb & gutter, 
aggregate base, subgrade, etc.) for the installation of concrete distribution box, crushed rock, 
depressed curb, and concrete sidewalk cutoff walls. Infiltration Chamber shall be measured 
actual. 
 
14. Storm Drain 
Storm Drain shall be 12 inch diameter HDPE pipe, smooth interior wall, or conform to 
special provisions for sewer pipe. Storm Drain shall include removal of existing storm drain, 
slurry backfill to bottom of pavement section where depth to top of drain is less than 1 foot 
and be measured actual. 
 
15. Sidewalk Cross Drain 
Sidewalk Cross Drain shall include removal of existing cross drain and sidewalk,  
construction of new cross drain including placing aggregate diamond plate, forming and 
placing concrete.  Sidewalk Cross Drain shall be measured actual. 
 
16. Install 2 inch Water Service 
Install 2 inch Water Service shall include excavation, bedding, backfill, valves, pipes and 
fittings. Water service shall be constructed in accordance with Inyo County and the plans. 
Installation of the Water Services shall include coordination with the water utility connection 
to the water main. Any water service appurtenance laid by the contractor shall include 
pressure, sanitation and quality testing in accordance with Inyo requirements. Install 2 inch 
Water Service to be measured actual. 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 29 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

17. and 18.  Water Pipe 
Water Pipe shall be Ductile Iron.  Water Pipe shall include excavation, bedding, backfill,  
reducers, tees, elbows, blow offs, casings, thrust blocks and other required fittings and 
materials. Water Line shall include pressure, sanitation and quality testing in accordance with 
Inyo County requirements. Water Pipe shall be measured actual. 
 
19. Remove (E) Construct Sidewalk 
The width of sidewalk shall be adjusted as approved by the Engineer to avoid permanent 
encroachments on right of way. Sidewalk shall include sawcut and removal of existing 
sidewalk, removal or relocation of other features as shown on the plans, removal of roots 
over 4 inches in diameter, 4 inches of aggregate base, 6 inch curbs, and matching existing 
grades behind sidewalk that may require either cutting or filling to provide a smooth 
transition. Sidewalk shall be 1.5% cross slope plus or minus 0.5% unless shown otherwise on 
the plans. In planter areas the top 12 inches of soil shall be appropriate for landscaped areas, 
free from rocks over 1 inch greatest dimension, and free of debris. Finish grade in planter 
areas shall be flush with adjacent sidewalk. Driveways and curb ramps shall not be included 
in the measurement of sidewalk.  Sidewalk shall be measured actual. 
 
20. through 22. Remove (E) Construct Curb  
Curb consists of the construction of PCC Curb or Curb and Gutter generally between 
sidewalk and roadway surface and shall include removal of the existing curb or curb and 
gutter, subgrade preparation, placement and compaction of 6 inch aggregate base, and 
adjacent spandrel including spandrel surrounding inlets and shall not include 6 inch curbs 
constructed in conjunction with sidewalk and curb ramps. No deduction for driveways or 
curb ramps shall be made in the measurement of curb.  Curb shall be measured actual. 
 
23. and 24. Remove (E) Construct Ramp  
Ramp shall consist of the construction of ped ramp case A or C or corner ramp shall include 
removal of existing curb ramp, corner ramp or existing facilities in conflict, subgrade 
preparation and compaction, placement and compaction of 6 inches of aggregate base, 
detectable warning, gutter, 6 inch curbs, and other concrete necessary to construct ramps, 
matching existing grades behind and adjacent to ramp that may require either cutting or 
filling to provide a smooth transition. Ramp shall be measured from outside edge of flare to 
outside edge of flare. Where corner ramps are used, each corner shall be counted as two 
ramps. Ramp shall be measured actual. 
 
25. Ramp with Hand Rail 
Ramp with Hand Rail consists of the construction of ramps other than curb or corner ramps 
and includes removal of existing features in conflict, subgrade preparation and compaction of 
6 inches of aggregate base, placement and compaction of necessary fill to 95% relative 
compaction, and construction of ramp including hand rails. Hand Rails shall be painted black 
and shall require a submittal. Maximum longitudinal grade shall be 7.5%. Ramp with Hand 
Rail shall be measured actual. 
 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 30 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

26. Stairs with Hand Rail 
Stairs include removal of existing features in conflict, subgrade preparation and compaction, 
placement and compaction of 6 inches of aggregate base and of necessary fill to 95% relative 
compaction, and construction of stairs generally as shown on the plans and in conformance 
with building code requirements, including Hand Rails painted black. Stairs and hand rails  
shall require a submittal. Stairs with Hand Rails shall be measured actual. 
 
27. through 30. Remove (E) Construct Driveways 
Driveways include Driveways, Commercial Driveways, Alleys, and N Jackson PCC 
Flatwork Extension. Driveways shall include removal of existing driveway and matching 
existing grades behind driveways that may require either cutting or filling to provide a 
smooth transition. Driveways consist of removal of existing features in conflict, subgrade 
preparation and compaction, placement and compaction of necessary fill to 95% relative 
compaction, 6” aggregate base, welded wire mesh and 4” PCC concrete. Driveways shall be 
measured between points where curb is full height on either side of each driveway at the 
front, shall be measured by actual width at the back and shall be measured to include the 
flared areas near the curb. Driveways shall be measured actual, except maximum slopes shall 
be assumed. 
 
31. Remove (E) Construct Pavement Patch 
Pavement patch shall include saw cutting existing pavement, removing existing pavement 
and underlying material, and placing aggregate base and Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA). HMA 
shall be Type B.  Sawcut shall be 2 feet minimum from lip of gutter or spandrel unless shown 
otherwise. All damaged pavement edges against which HMA will be placed shall be sawcut 
parallel and perpendicular to the street centerline.  The grading of the aggregate on the top 
lift shall be 1/2 inch, maximum, medium.  Asphalt binder shall be Grade PG 64-28 
conforming to current California Department of Transportation specifications. Pavement 
Patch shall be measured actual. 
 
32. Accessible Pavement Marking 
Accessible Pavement Marking shall include all markings for two accessible stalls and 10 foot 
aisle on Locust Street. Accessible Pavement Marking shall be two coat traffic paint and shall 
be measured actual. 
 
33. and 34. Paint Curb 
Paint Curb shall include painting two faces (counted as one stripe) of curbs either red or 
white as shown on the plans. Paint Curb shall be two coats traffic paint in the color indicated. 
Paint Curb shall be located in the plans and/or as directed in the field by the Engineer. Paint 
Curb shall be measured actual.  
 
35.Stop Marking 
Stop Markings shall be two coats traffic paint in the color and position indicated on the plans 
or as directed in the field by the Engineer. Stop Marking shall be measured actual. 
 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 31 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

 
36. through 37. Pavement Stripes 
Pavement stripes shall consist of 4 inch solid white line (paint), 12 inch solid yellow line 
(paint) for crosswalk markings, and 12 inch solid white line (paint) stop bars. Pavement 
Stripes shall be two coat traffic paint and shall be measured actual. 
 
 
38. Traffic Control 
Traffic control shall include construction area signs and development, implementation, and 
maintenance of traffic control plan and be measured lump sum and paid based on percentage 
of contract time expired. 
 
39. Construction Staking 
Construction staking consists of all staking necessary to install improvements to the lines and 
grades shown on the plans.  Construction staking shall be measured lump sum and paid based 
on percentage of contract time expired. 
 
40.  SWPPP 
A SWPPP as determined necessary for the construction of this project by the California 
Water Boards shall be completed prior to the construction of this project. The SWPPP shall 
be completed and kept on-site in accordance with California Water Boards  guidance.  A 
signed, stamped and approved copy of the SWPPP must be approved prior to any 
construction. To be measured lump sum and paid based on percentage of contract time 
expired. 
 

C. MATERIALS 
1. Portland Cement Concrete 
Portland Cement Concrete shall be Class “B” (5 ½ sack) 3000 psi concrete per Section 90 of 
the Caltrans Standard Specifications.  
 
2. Hot Mix Asphalt 
The grade of asphalt binder shall be PG 64-28 neat (non-modified).  The asphalt binder shall 
conform to the provisions in Section 92, “Asphalts,” of the Standard Specifications. 
Aggregates used in Asphalt Concrete shall conform to the requirements for ¾-inch Type A in 
Section 39 of the Standard Specifications.  All aggregates (regardless of source) are required 
to be lime treated in accordance with Section 39 of the Standard Specifications. 

 
3. Ductile Iron Water Pipe and Pipe Casing 
Water pipe shall be Ductile Iron Class 350 or C900 PVC DR-14 with a 305 pressure rating. 
Service and fittings shall be per the Inyo County Standards. 
Location wire shall be 14 gauge THWN, insulated, copper, soft drawn.  Warning tape shall 
be blue color, three inches (3") in width, 5 mil thickness, 50-gauge solid aluminum foil core, 
permanently printed "CAUTION: BURIED WATER LINE BELOW." 

 
 
 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 32 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

4. Storm Drain Pipe HDPE  
HDPE pipe shall conform to the provisions in Section 64; “Plastic Pipe” of the Standard 
Specifications and these special provisions.  All plastic pipe shall be smooth wall interior. 
HDPE pipe shall have a minimum slope of 0.5% and a minimum cover of 12”, where 
attainable, to top of finished grade.  Backfill for plastic pipe shall be cement slurry. 

 
 

5. Bedding Material 
Bedding material and placement shall conform to the Caltrans Standard Specifications. Sand 
bedding must consist of sand, free of clay or organic material, suitable for the purpose 
intended, comply with the following gradation requirements:  

Sieve size Percentage passing 
No. 4 90–100 
No. 200 0–5 

 
6. Aggregate Base 
Aggregate base shall comply with Section 26, "Aggregate Bases," of the Caltrans Standard 
Specifications and these special provisions. Aggregate base shall be Class 2, 3/4-inch 
maximum and shall have a minimum wet density of 130 pounds per cubic foot, when tested 
in accordance with California Test 216 or California Test 231.  Aggregate base shall not be 
cinder type in nature and/or include processed glass. Do not store reclaimed asphalt concrete 
or aggregate base with reclaimed asphalt concrete within 100 feet measured horizontally of 
any culvert, watercourse, or bridge.. 

 



 

Lone Pine Sidewalks Construction and ADA Improvement Project Page 33 of 33 Special Provisions 
Materials 

 

Crushed Rock 
Crushed rock shall be the product of crushing rock or gravel. The portion of the material that 
is retained on a 3/8-inch sieve shall contain at least 50 percent of particles having three or 
more fractured faces.  Not over 5 percent shall be pieces that show no such faces resulting 
from crushing.  Of that portion which passes the 3/8-inch sieve but is retained on the Number 
4 sieve, not more than 10 percent shall be gravel particles.  Crushed rock will be designated 
by nominal size and shall conform to the following gradations: 
 

 Percent Passing 
Sieve Size 1” 3/4” 1/2” 
1 ½ inch 100 - - 
1 inch 90-100 100 - 

3/4 inch 30-60 90-100 100 
1/2 inch 0-20 30-60 90-100 
3/8 inch - 0-20 20-60 

Number 4 0-5 0-5 0-15 
Number 8 - - 0-5 

ASTM C 131 Test Grading A B B 
 

 Percent Passing 
Sieve Size 3/8” 1/4” 3/16” Rock Dust 
1/2 inch 100 - - - 
3/8 inch 90-100 - - 100 
1/4 inch - 100 - - 

Number 4 30-60 75-100 100 90-100 
Number 8 0-10 0-25 40-75 - 
Number 16 - 0-5 0-10 - 
Number 30 - - - 20-60 
Number 200 - 0-2 0-2 5-20 

ASTM C 131 Test Grading C D D - 
 

Crushed rock shall meet the following requirements: 
 

TEST Test Method Number Requirements in percent 
Percentage Wear ASTM C 131  
100 Revolutions  15 Maximum 
500 Revolutions  52 Maximum 

 
 

 



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-3799  

 

First Reading of an Ordinance and Public Hearing to 
Consider Adopting a Resolution Revising the Drinking 

Driver Program Fees 
Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Marilyn Mann, HHS Director Marilyn Mann, HHS Director 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
A) Waive further reading of the proposed ordinance titled, "An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of 
the County of Inyo, State of California, Repealing Ordinance No. 1172 (2012) Regarding Fees for the 
Inyo County Driving Under the Influence Program," and schedule enactment for August 15, 2023 at 10 
a.m., in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, County Administrative Center, Independence; 
B) Pursuant to Government Code section 66018, conduct a public hearing regarding Resolution No. 
2023-22, which proposes to increase fees for the Inyo County Drinking Driver Program; and 
C) Adopt the proposed Resolution 2023-22 titled, "A Resolution of the Board of Supervisors, County of 
Inyo, State of California, Revising Inyo County Drinking Driver Program (DDP) Fees," which will go into 
effect upon the repeal of Ordinance No. 1172. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
The Health and Human (HHS) Services' Drinking Driver Program (DDP), also known as the Driving 
Under the Influence (DUI) program, is licensed by the California Department of Health Care Services 
(DHCS) and governed by the California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 9, Division 4, Chapter 3, 
commencing with Section 9795 and Health and Safety Code, Chapter 9, commencing with Section 
11836.  CCR, Title 9, Section 9878 (b) states, in part, "...the DUI program shall set participant fees at a 
level sufficient to cover the cost of program services, including each participant's share of personnel and 
operating expenses incurred by the DUI program in providing program services."  The fee schedule for 
the DUI programs has not been updated since 2012.  Since that time, program costs have increased 
annually as a result of increases in salaries and related payroll taxes, increased benefit costs, and 
increases in general overhead costs.  The program has not generated revenue from fees sufficient to 
meet the requirements of CCR Title 9, Section 9878 (CCR Section 9878) for a number of years, and has 
redirected other funding to cover cost overruns.   
 
The process to increase fees is outlined in CCR Section 9878 and includes submitting a cover letter 
indicating the proposed program fee and rationale for the increase, as well as providing DHCS with a line 
item revenue and expenditure report for the prior fiscal year, as well as a line item revenue and 
expenditure budget reflecting the proposed fee increase for the next fiscal year.   The department 
forwarded these documents with a draft payment agreement and payment schedule to DHCS on May 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

18, 2023 for their review. The Department received a request for additional information on or around July 
6, 2023, which was forwarded to DHCS on July 13, 2023.  DHCS forwarded a letter approving the 
proposed fee schedule on July 14, 2023.   
 
The Department respectfully requests your Board repeal Ordinance No. 1172, which established the 
current DDP fee schedule in 2012 and adopt, instead, a Resolution that will allow the department to 
assess fees and submit a request for fee adjustments to DHCS annually.  The Resolution will take effect 
upon the repeal of Ordinance No. 1172, which will occur on September 14, 2023, due to the fact that 
ordinances go into effect 30 days after the second reading of the ordinance.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

Client fees and payments and Behavioral Health 
Realignment 

Budget Unit 045312 

Budgeted? Yes Object Code 4743 
Recurrence Ongoing Expenditure  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
This will move budget to be sufficient to fund itself with fees.  
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Your Board could choose not to follow the recommendation which may result in either no change in 
current DDP program fees or a delay in increasing the fees.   
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
California Department of Health Care Services 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. DDP Resolution 
2. Ordinance No.1172 
3. Fee Increase Approval Letter 
4. Ordinance Repealing No. 1172 (DDP fees) 
  
APPROVALS: 
Marilyn Mann Created/Initiated - 7/14/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/18/2023 
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 7/18/2023 
Grace Chuchla Approved - 7/18/2023 
Amy Shepherd Approved - 7/19/2023 
Marilyn Mann Approved - 7/24/2023 
Nate Greenberg Approved - 8/3/2023 
Grace Chuchla Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023 - ___

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, 
COUNTY OF INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

REVISING INYO COUNTY DRINKING DRIVER PROGRAM (DDP) FEES

WHEREAS, Inyo County, through its Drinking Driver Program provides education and 
counseling services for individuals convicted of driving under the influence of drugs and alcohol; 
and

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Drinking Driver Program is licensed through the California 
Department of Health Care Services (herein referred to as Department) pursuant to Health and 
Safety Code §11837.4; and

WHEREAS, the Department requires the County to charge fees sufficient to make the program 
self-supporting and places responsibility for approving all DDP fee schedules with the 
Department; and

WHEREAS, Inyo County’s DDP fees have not been adjusted since 2012, and program costs 
exceeds the revenue generated by DDP program fees; and

WHEREAS, the fees proposed herein have been based on an examination of the cost of the 
current program and do not exceed the reasonable cost to the County of providing the services to 
which they apply; and

WHEREAS, the Department has approved the proposed fees; and 

WHEREAS, Government Code §66018 provides the procedure for adopting and revising such 
fees; and 

WHEREAS, the Drinking Driver Program fees are hereby established as follows, per participant:

Wet and Reckless Educational Program (W&R) $728
First Offender Program (FOP – 3 month) $1,778
First Offender Program (FOP – 6 month) $2,576
First Offender Program (FOP – 9 month) $3,486
Multiple Offender Program (MOP) – 18 month $4,340

With additional fees set as follows:

Missed activity fee $20
Transfer In/Out to another DDP program $10
Reinstatement after non-compliance $40 
Returned check fee $20
Proof of enrollment fee $10
Notice of completion fee – duplicate $10
Late payment fee $20



WHEREAS, fee waivers and extended payment schedules shall be as established by the 
Department,

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Supervisors of Inyo County hereby 
establishes fee schedules for the County’s Drinking Driver Program as outlined above.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the fee schedules established herein shall be adjusted annually 
based on actual costs of service during the prior fiscal year as approved by the Department.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, annual adjustments shall be effective following publication of 
Notice of Adjustment and the adjustment schedule in the County pursuant to Government Code 
§66018.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the DDP fee schedules approved herein shall become effective 
as of the date of repeal of Ordinance No. 1172 (2012).

PASSED AND ADOPTED this __day of _____, 2023, by the Board of Supervisors of Inyo 
County by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSTAIN:
ABSENT:

Dated: ___________________ ____________________________
Jennifer Roeser, Chair
Inyo County Board of Supervisors

Attest:  NATE GREENBERG
   Clerk of the Board

 
 







Michelle Baass | Director 

Licensing & Certification Division  

DUI Licensing, Disaster Response & Level of Care Designation Section 

P.O. Box 997413, MS 2602  

Sacramento, CA 95899-7413 

Phone (916) 322-2964 | www.dhcs.ca.gov 

State of California 

Gavin Newsom, Governor 

California Health and Human Services Agency

July 14th, 2023 

THIS LETTER SENT BY MAIL AND EMAIL

Dr. Kimball Pier  
Deputy Director 
Inyo County Dept. of Health and Human Services 
1360 North Main Street, Suite 201 
Bishop, California 93514 

FEE INCREASE REQUEST – NOTICE OF APPROVAL, 

LICENSE NUMBER: 14-00-101-*120 

Dear Dr. Pier: 

This letter is in response to your Driving-Under-the-Influence program fee 

increase request received from Inyo Substance Abuse Services, License 

number 14-00-101-120 by the Department of Health Care Services on May 

18th, 2023.  Upon review of the information received, approval is granted to 

increase the fees as follows:  

Program Type: 

• Wet Reckless $ 728.00 

• 3 Month $ 1778.00 

• 6 Month $ 2576.00 

• 9 Month $ 3486.00 

• 18 Month $ 4340.00 

Additional Fees: 

• Returned Check $ 20.00 



Mr. Kimball Pier 
Page 2 
July 14th, 2023 

 

 

   

   

   

   

   

• Duplicate DL 101 $ 10.00 

• Late Payment $ 20.00 

• Missed Activity $ 20.00 

• Reinstate $ 40.00 

• Proof of enrollment fee 

• Transfer Out/In 

$ 

$ 

10.00 

10.00 

 

 

 

 
 

  

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at  

(916) 404-9796, or Kristin.hughes@dhcs.ca.gov. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Kristin M. Hughes 
Analyst 
 

cc:  Marilyn Mann, HHS Director 

 Melissa Best-Baker, HHS Deputy Director – FOSO 

 Catie Grisham, SUD Program Supervisor 

  

 



1

ORDINANCE NO. _______

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE COUNTY OF INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 

REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 1172 (2012) REGARDING FEES FOR THE INYO 
COUNTY DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE PROGRAM

The Board of Supervisors of Inyo County ordains as follows:

SECTION ONE. PURPOSE.

The purpose of this Ordinance is to repeal Ordinance No. 1172 (2012) in its entirety and create 
an updated system for setting the fees for the Inyo County Driving Under the Influence Program.  

SECTION TWO. AUTHORITY.

This Ordinance is enacted pursuant to the general police power granted to the Inyo County Board 
of Supervisors.  

SECTION THREE. REPEAL OF ORDINANCE NO. 1172.

Ordinance No. 1172 (2012) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

SECTION FIVE. SEVERABILITY.

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to 
be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The Board hereby 
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each and every section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, or phrase not declared invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether any 
portion of this Ordinance would be subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

SECTION SIX. CEQA COMPLIANCE.

This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15060(c)(2) (the activity will not result in a direct or reasonably 
foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment) and Section 15060(c)(3) (the activity is 
not a project as defined in Section 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines, because it has no potential for 
resulting in physical change to the environment, directly or indirectly.) 

SECTION SEVEN. EFFECTIVE DATE.

This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its adoption.
Before the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the adoption hereof, this ordinance shall be 
published as required by Government Code Section 25124. The Clerk of the Board is hereby 
instructed and ordered to so publish this ordinance together with the names of the Board 
members voting for or against the same.



2

PASSED AND ADOPTED this _______ day of May, 2023 by the following vote:

AYES: _______
NOES: _______
ABSTAIN: _______
ABSENT: _______

________________________________
JENNIFER ROESER, Chairperson
Inyo County Board of Supervisors

ATTEST: Nate Greenberg 
Clerk of the Board

By: _____________________________
Darcy Ellis
Assistant Clerk of the Board



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4019  

 

Public Health and Prevention Community Health 
Assessment  

Health & Human Services 
 NO ACTION REQUIRED 

   
ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Public Health and Prevention Stephanie Tanksley, Deputy Director - Public Health 

& Prevention, Jynx Frederick 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Conduct a joint workshop with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. regarding Inyo County Public Health and 
Prevention's upcoming Community Health Assessment. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
Public Health and Prevention is contracted with Stantec Consulting Services Inc., to conduct a 
Community Health Assessment, Strategic Plan, and Community Health Improvement Plan. This 
presentation is to inform the Board and the community about the upcoming survey.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

N/A Budget Unit  

Budgeted? N/A Object Code  
Recurrence N/A  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:  
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

1. CHS Presentation 
  
APPROVALS: 
Stephanie Tanksley Created/Initiated - 7/31/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/31/2023 
Anna Scott Approved - 7/31/2023 
John Vallejo Approved - 8/1/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Empowering 
Our 
Community’s 
Well-Being

Inyo County 
Community Health 
Assessment



• Stantec Health Sciences – Who We Are

90 scientists

Disciplines include 
Epidemiology, Environmental 
Health, Risk Assessment, 
Toxicology, and Industrial Hygiene

Partners including 
government, non-profit, energy, 
consumer/industrial products, and 
legal 

300+ peer reviewed 
scientific publications to-date



• Briefly introduce yourself and your role as a local epidemiologist working with the [County 
Name] Health Department.

• Provide an overview of the presentation's purpose: to discuss the significance of the 
Community Health Assessment and its potential impact on the community's health and well-
being.

Purpose of this presentation

To discuss the significance of the Community Health 
Assessment and its potential impact on the community's 
health and well-being.

• Introduction



• Agenda

Importance of the Community 
Health Assessment

Conducting the Community 
Health Survey

Impact on community health 
programs and policies

Addressing challenges through 
community involvement



• Briefly introduce yourself and your role as a local epidemiologist working with the [County 
Name] Health Department.
• Provide an overview of the presentation's purpose: to discuss the significance of the 
Community Health Assessment and its potential impact on the community's health and well-
being.

• Importance and Objectives of the Community 
Health Assessment

Understand the unique health challenges faced by Inyo 
County1

Identify key health issues2

Assess community health status and perceptions3

Determine and engage existing resources 4



• Briefly introduce yourself and your role as a local epidemiologist working with the [County 
Name] Health Department.

• Provide an overview of the presentation's purpose: to discuss the significance of the 
Community Health Assessment and its potential impact on the community's health and well-
being.

• Launch Date: August 18, 2023

• Systematic process to assess health needs, behaviors, and perceptions
• Design and launch survey
• Monitor response rate
• Collect, analyze, interpret, and report data
• Share survey results with the community and engage in meaningful discussion
• Implement recommendations based on survey results and community input
• Cyclic process with the goal of continuous improvement

• Conducting the Community Health Survey



• Briefly introduce yourself and your role as a local epidemiologist working with the [County 
Name] Health Department.

• Provide an overview of the presentation's purpose: to discuss the significance of the 
Community Health Assessment and its potential impact on the community's health and well-
being.

• Potential Impact on Community Health 
Programs and Policies

Identify priority 
health issues

Address health 
disparities

Stakeholder 
collaboration

Community 
engagement

Targeted 
interventions

Evaluation of 
existing 

programs

Advocacy and 
funding

Evidence-based 
decision-making

Long-term 
strategic 
planning

Measure 
progress



POTENTIAL CHALLENGES THAT MAY 
ARISE DURING THE ASSESSMENT 

PROCESS.

ROLE OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT IN 
OVERCOMING THESE CHALLENGES.

INDIVIDUALS, COMMUNITY 
ORGANIZATIONS, AND LOCAL 

BUSINESSES CAN ACTIVELY SUPPORT 
AND CONTRIBUTE TO THE SUCCESS OF 

THE ASSESSMENT.

Challenges Community 
involvement

Individual and 
local health 
initiatives

• Addressing Survey Challenges Through 
Community Involvement



• Q & A



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4047  

 

Emergency Contract for Whitney Portal Road Repairs 
Public Works 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Nolan Ferguson, Assistant Engineer Michael Errante, Public Works Director 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
A) Amend the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Preliminary County Budget as follows: increase appropriation in the 
Road Budget 034600, Construction in Progress Object Code 5700 by $300,000 utilizing the Road Fund 
Balance (4/5ths vote required);  
B) Find, by a 4/5ths vote, that an emergency situation exists on Whitney Portal Road that will not permit 
a delay resulting from a competitive solicitation for bids, and that the action is necessary to respond to 
the emergency; and 
C) Approve the contract between the County of Inyo and Clair Concrete, Inc. of Bishop, CA for the 
provision of emergency culvert repair services in an amount not to exceed $1,290,548 and authorize the 
Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
On July 24, 2023, it was discovered that two major culverts that channel Lone Pine Creek underneath 
Whitney Portal Road were failing, and water was undercutting the culverts and the roadway. This failure 
is currently causing severe erosion and asphalt collapse.  These culverts have approximately 120 cubic 
feet per second running through them, which means that the damage is rapidly worsening every day.  If 
Public Works does not take prompt action, there is a potential that the road could collapse. If the road 
gives way due to the compromised culverts, Lone Pine Creek will be obstructed from its natural flow path 
under the road. This obstruction will cause the creek's waters to divert uncontrollably towards the Los 
Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) aqueduct and the town of Lone Pine.  This 
emergency presents significant risks to public safety, local infrastructure, and the natural environment. 
 
Public Works and the Road Department began an emergency repair process pursuant to Public Contract 
Code section 20395(c).  While Public Works is not required to solicit any bids in an emergency situation, 
in the interest of ensuring that the County receives the best value, Public Works reached out to two local 
construction companies.  Below are the quotes that were received to fix the compromised culverts: 
 
 -Spiess Construction Co. of Santa Maria, CA in the amount of $1,406,430 
 -Clair Concrete Inc. of Bishop, CA in the amount of $1,173,225 
 
Accordingly, Public Works is requesting that your Board approve a contract in the amount of $1,290,548 
with Clair Concrete Inc.  This represents Clair's bid of $1,173,225 with a 10% contingency added for 
unexpected expenses. 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

Non-General Fund  Budget Unit 034600 

Budgeted? Yes (with this budget amendment). By approving this 
budget amendment, this expenditure will be 
authorized and completed prior to the adoption of the 
FY 23-24 Budget and the Board will not have the 
ability to reconsider this item again during the 
adoption of the budget.  

Object Code 5700 

Recurrence Ongoing expenditure through project completion  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
The road fund balance will be impacted until reimbursement is received by FHWA or CalOES.  
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
Public Works will apply for FHWA or CalOES funding for reimbursement. 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
If the contract is not awarded, the road will continue to degrade until the road fully collapses. This has the 
potential of causing large scale further damage to not only county assets, but also private public 
property. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Speiss Construction Proposal 
2. Clair Concrete Proposal 
3. Contract 
  
APPROVALS: 
Nolan Ferguson Created/Initiated - 8/2/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/3/2023 
Nolan Ferguson Approved - 8/3/2023 
Breanne Nelums Approved - 8/3/2023 
Denelle Carrington Approved - 8/3/2023 
John Vallejo Approved - 8/3/2023 
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/3/2023 
Michael Errante Approved - 8/3/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ABBREVIATIONS

LS = LUMP SUM

BID ITEM LIST

WHITNEY PORTAL ROAD EMERGENCY REPAIR PROJECT

Spiess Construction Co., Inc.

LF= LINEAR FEET SF = SQUARE FEET EA = EACH

ITEM
NO.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

DESCRIPTION*

Mobilization/Demob

Saw Cut and Removal of Asphalt
320'x24'

Survey Work for Culvert
and Road Elevations

Survey Work for DOI
Landmark restoration

Guardrail Removal

and Replacement

Remove 46'xl'x7.5'head walls

Supply Pour and Finish 46'xl'x7.5' head walls

Excavate and dispose of old culverts

Excavate and remove material for box

culvert install (60'xl5'xl0')

Excavate and remove material for

bypass install (100'xl2'xl0')

Supply and install HDPE 36" Dia
bypass cuverts

Backfill bypass pipes with slurry

Supply and install l'x60'xl5' of
crushed gravel

Supply and install 6" Concrete slab (6"xl5'x60'

Supply and install 6'x8' box culverts

(60' span for 2 culverts)

Supply and install Type II Road Base

UNIT
MEAS

LS

SF

LS

LS

LF

LS

LS

LS

CY

CY

LF

CY

CY

CY

LF

TON

EST.

QUANTITY

1

7680

1

1

500

2

2

1

335

440

300

220

34

17

120

400

UNIT
PRICE

73,OOO.OC

6.00

T6,000.00

2,000.00

200,00

^0,700.00

80,300.00

13,500.00

$
290.00

265.00

150.00

415.00

$
650.00

$2,100.00

$
2,530.00

130.00

TOTAL
DOLLARS

73,000.00

$ 46,080.00

16,000.00

2,000.00

100,000.00

81,400.00

160,600.00

13,500.00

$
97,150.00

116,600.00

45,000.00

91,300.00

22,100.00

$ 35,700.00

303,600.00

52,000.00



BID ITEM LIST

WHITNEY PORTAL ROAD EMERGENCY REPAIR PROJECT

ABBREVIATIONS •ie$'r C& 14^ <-/^/ 0-^3^ C/o., '^4c.

LS = LUMP SUM LF= LINEAR FEET SF = SQUARE FEET EA = EACH

ITEM
NO.

17

18

DESCRIPTION*

Supply and install new hot mix asphalt

Supply QC from 3rd party (Compaction)

TOTAL

UNIT
MEAS

TON

LS

EST.

QUANTITY

288

1

UNIT
PRICE

425.00

?8,000.00

$

$

TOTAL
DOLLARS

'122,400.00

28,000.00

$

$

$

$1,406,430.00







_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 1 of 6 
  110822 

CONTRACT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE COUNTY OF INYO  
and 

______________________________________________, CONTRACTOR 
for the 

___________________________________________________ PROJECT 

  
 THIS CONTRACT is awarded by the COUNTY OF INYO to CONTRACTOR on and 
made and entered into effective, ___________________, 20_____, by and between the COUNTY 
OF INYO, a political subdivision of the State of California, (hereinafter referred to as 
"COUNTY"), and _______________________________________ (hereinafter referred to as 
“CONTRACTOR”), for the construction or removal of ___________________________ 
PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "PROJECT"), which parties agree, for and in consideration 
of the mutual promises, as follows: 
 
1. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED.  CONTRACTOR  shall furnish, at his/her own 
expense, all labor, materials, methods, processes, implements, tools, machinery, equipment, 
transportation, permits, services, utilities, and all other items, and related functions and otherwise 
shall perform all work necessary or appurtenant to construct the Project in accordance with the any 
and all Contract Documents specified within section 4 of this Contract, within the Time for 
Completion set forth, as well as in all other in the Contract Documents, for: 
     
  Title:  __________________________________________________PROJECT 
 
2. TIME OF COMPLETION.  Project work shall begin within _____ calendar days after 
receipt of the Notice to Proceed (NTP) (or on the start of work date identified in the NTP) and 
shall continue until all requested services are completed.  Said services shall be completed no later 
than the Time of Completion as noted in the Project’s Special Provisions or Scope of Work 
Attachment. Procedures for any extension of time shall be complied with as noted in the Project’s 
Special Provisions or Scope of Work Attachment. 
 
3. PAYMENT/CONSIDERATION.  For the performance of all such work, COUNTY 
shall pay to CONTRACTOR for said work the total amount of: 
__________________________________________________ dollars ($                             .       ), 
adjusted by such increases or decreases as authorized in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, and payable at such times and upon such conditions as otherwise set forth in the 
Contract Documents. 
 
4. ALL PROVISIONS SET FORTH HEREIN.  CONTRACTOR and COUNTY agree that 
this Contract shall include and consist of (collectively “the Contract Documents”):  
 ___  The Bid Proposal Form 

___ The Bid Bond 
___ The Faithful Performance Bond 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 2 of 6 
  110822 

___ The Labor and Materials Payment Bond  
___ Insurance Specifications 
___ All documents as described in Section 5-1.02, “Definitions,” of the Standard 

Specifications of the Inyo County Public Works Department, dated May 2020 
___ The Standard Specifications of the Inyo County Public Works Department, dated 

May 2020 
___ The Special Provisions concerning this Project including the Appendices and the 

Plans 
___ Scope of Work Attachment [negotiated contracts only] 
___ Any and all amendments or changes to any of the above-listed documents 

including, without limitation, contract change orders, and any and all documents 
incorporated by reference into any of the above-listed documents. 

 
All Contract Documents are attached hereto.    

 
5. STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE.  Contractor represents that he/she is qualified and 
licensed to perform the work to be done as required in this Contract.  County relies upon the 
representations of Contractor regarding professional and/or trade training, licensing, and ability to 
perform the services as a material inducement to enter into this Contract.  Acceptance of work by 
the County does not operate to release Contractor from any responsibility to perform work to 
professional and/or trade standards. Contractor shall provide properly skilled professional and 
technical personnel to perform all services under this Contract.  Contractor shall perform all 
services required by this Contract in a manner and according to the standards observed by a 
competent practitioner of the profession.  All work products of whatsoever nature delivered to the 
County shall be prepared in a manner conforming to the standards of quality normally observed 
by a person practicing in Contractor’s profession and/or trade. 
 
6. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  Nothing contained herein or any document executed 
in connection herewith, shall be construed to create an employer-employee, partnership or joint 
venture relationship between County and Contractor, nor to allow County to exercise discretion or 
control over the manner in which Contractor performs the work or services that are the subject 
matter of this Contract; provided, however, the work or services to be provided by Contractor shall 
be provided in a manner consistent with reaching the County’s objectives in entering this Contract.  

 
 Contractor is an independent contractor, not an employee of County or any of its 
subsidiaries or affiliates.  Contractor will not represent him/herself to be nor hold her/himself out 
as an employee of County. Contractor acknowledges that s/he shall not have the right or 
entitlement in or to any of the pension, retirement or other benefit programs now or hereafter 
available to County's employees.  The consideration set forth in Paragraph 3 shall be the sole 
consideration due Contractor for the services rendered hereunder. It is understood that County will 
not withhold any amounts for payment of taxes from the Contractor‘s compensation hereunder.  
Any and all sums due under any applicable state, federal or municipal law or union or professional 
and/or trade guild regulations shall be Contractor’s sole responsibility. Contractor shall indemnify 
and hold County harmless from any and all damages, claims and expenses arising out of or 
resulting from any claims asserted by any  third party, including but not limited to a taxing 
authority, as a result of or in connection with payments due it from Contractor’s compensation.  
 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 3 of 6 
  110822 

7. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING.  The parties recognize that a substantial 
inducement to County for entering into this Contract is the professional reputation, experience and 
competence of Contractor.  Assignments of any and/or all rights, duties or obligations of the 
Contractor under this Contract will be permitted only with the express consent of the County.  
Contractor shall not subcontract any portion of the work to be performed under this Contract 
without the written authorization of the County.  If County consents to such subcontract, 
Contractor shall be fully responsible to County for all acts or omissions of the subcontractor.  
Nothing in this Contract shall create any contractual relationship between County and 
subcontractor, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of the County to pay any monies due 
to any such subcontractor, unless otherwise required by law. 
 
8. INDEMNIFICATION. Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and 
its officers, officials, employees and volunteers from and against all claims, damages, losses, and 
expenses, including attorney fees arising out of the performance of the work described herein, 
caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable, except where caused by the active negligence, sole negligence, or willful misconduct of 
the County. 
 
9. POLITICAL REFORM ACT. Contractor is not a designated employee within the 
meaning of the Political Reform Act because Contractor: 

a.    Will conduct research and arrive at conclusions with respect to his/her rendition of 
information, advice, recommendation or counsel independent of the control and direction of the 
County or of any County official, other than normal Contract monitoring; and 

b. Possesses no authority with respect to any County decision beyond rendition of 
information, advice, recommendation or counsel [FPPC Reg. 18700(a)(2)]. 
 
10. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS.   

Performance Standards:  Contractor shall use the standard of care in its profession and/or 
trade to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances and regulations 
that relate to the work or services to be provided pursuant to this Contract.   

a. Safety Training:  
i. Contractor shall provide such safety and other training as needed to assure work 

will be performed in a safe and healthful manner "in a language" that is understandable to 
employees receiving the training.  The training shall in all respects be in compliance with 
CAL OSHA;  and  

ii. Contractor working with employees shall maintain a written Injury and Illness 
Prevention (IIP) Program, a copy of which must be maintained at each worksite or at a 
central worksite identified for the employees, if the Contractor has non-fixed worksites; 
and 

iii. Contractor using subcontractors with the approval of the County to perform the 
work which is the subject of this Contract shall require each subcontractor working with 
employees to comply with the requirements of this section. 
b. Child, Family and Spousal Support reporting Obligations:  

i. Contractor shall comply with the state and federal child, family and spousal 
support reporting requirements and with all lawfully served wage and earnings assignment 
orders or notices of assignment relating to child, family and spousal support obligations. 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 4 of 6 
  110822 

c. Nondiscrimination: 
i. Contractor shall not discriminate in employment practices or in the delivery of 

services on the basis of membership in a protected class which includes any class 
recognized by law and not limited to race, color, religion, sex (gender), sexual orientation, 
marital status, national origin (Including language use restrictions), ancestry, disability 
(mental and physical, including HIV and Aids), medical Conditions (cancer/genetic 
characteristics), age (40 and above) and request for family care leave.  

ii. Contractor represents that it is in compliance with federal and state laws 
prohibiting discrimination in employment and agrees to stay in compliance with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. sections 12101, et. seq.), Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 5101, et. seq.), Title VII (42 U.S.C. 
2000, et. seq.), the California Fair Employment Housing Act (California Government 
Code sections 12900, et. seq.) and regulations and guidelines issued pursuant thereto. 

 
11. LICENSES.  Contractor represents and warrants to County that it has all licenses, 
permits, qualifications, insurance and approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required 
of Contractor to practice its trade and/or profession. Contractor represents and warrants to County 
that Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, keep in effect or obtain at all times during the 
term of this Contract, any licenses, permits, insurance and approvals which are legally required of 
Contractor to practice its profession.  
 
12. PREVAILING WAGE.  Pursuant to Section 1720 et seq. of the Labor Code, 
Contractor agrees to comply with the Department of Industrial Relations regulations, to which this 
Contract is subject, the prevailing wage per diem rates in Inyo County have been determined by 
the Director of the State Department of Industrial Relations. These wage rates appear in the 
Department publication entitled "General Prevailing Wage Rates," in effect at the time the project 
is advertised. Future effective wage rates, which have been predetermined and are on file with the 
State Department of Industrial Relations are referenced but not printed in said publication. Such 
rates of wages are also on file with the State Department of Industrial Relations and the offices of 
the Public Works Department of the County of Inyo and are available to any interested party upon 
request.  Contractor agrees to comply with County and the Department of Industrial Relations 
regulations in submitting the certified payroll. 
 
13. CONTROLLING LAW VENUE. This Contract is made in the County of Inyo, State 
of California.  The parties specifically agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the Superior Court of 
California for the County of Inyo. 
 
14. WRITTEN NOTIFICATION.  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or 
communication that either party desires or is required to give to the other party shall be in writing 
and either served personally or sent prepaid, first class mail.  Any such notice, demand, et cetera, 
shall be addressed to the other party at the address set forth herein below.  Either party may change 
its address by notifying the other party of the change of address.  Notice shall be deemed 
communicated within 48 hours from the time of mailing if mailed as provided in this section. 

 
If to County:  County of Inyo 

                     Public Works Department 
   Attn: __________________________ 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 5 of 6 
  110822 

       168 N. Edwards 
   PO Drawer Q 
   Independence, CA 93526 
 

If to Contractor: ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 

 
15. AMENDMENTS.  This Contract may be modified or amended only by a written 
document executed by both Contractor and County and approved as to form by Inyo County 
Counsel. 
 
16. WAIVER.  No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder.   
 
17. TERMINATION.  This Contract may be terminated for the reasons stated below: 

a.    Immediately for cause, if either party fails to perform its responsibilities under 
this Contract in a timely and professional manner and to the satisfaction of the other 
party or violates any of the terms or provisions of this Contract; or 

b.    By County upon oral notice from the Board of Supervisors based on funding 
ending or being materially decreased during the term of this Contract.  

 
18. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence for every provision. 
 
19. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Contract is held to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the provision and/or provisions shall remain in full force and effect 
and shall not be affected, impaired or invalidated. 
 
20. CONTRACT SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS.  It is 
understood and agreed by the parties that this Contract is subject to the review and approval by the 
Inyo County Board of Supervisors upon Notice.  In the event that the Board of Supervisors declines 
to enter into or approve said Contract, it is hereby agreed to that there is, in fact, no binding 
agreement, either written or oral, between the parties herein. 
 
21. ATTACHMENTS.  All attachments referred to are incorporated herein and made a 
part of this Contract.  
 
22. EXECUTION.  This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, each of which 
shall constitute one and the same instrument and shall become binding upon the parties.  In 
approving this Contract, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 
counterpart.   

 
23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Contract, including the Contract Documents and all 
other documents which are incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the complete and 
exclusive agreement between the County and Contractor.  All prior written and oral 
communications, including correspondence, drafts, memoranda, and representations, are 



_____________________________________  Project 
Construction Contract – No. 147 

Page 6 of 6 
  110822 

superseded in total by this Contract.   
---o0o--- 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, COUNTY and CONTRACTOR have each caused this Contract to be 
executed on its behalf by its duly authorized representative, effective as of the day and year first 
above written. 
 
COUNTY      CONTRACTOR 
 
COUNTY OF INYO           
 
By:        By:       
 
Name:        Name:       
 
Title:        Title:       
 
Dated:        Dated:       
 
        
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:        
        
_________________________________    
County Counsel 
        
APPROVED AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM:   
                                
__________________________________              
County Auditor 
 
APPROVED AS TO INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: 
 
__________________________________ 
County Risk Manager  
 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND 

__________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE _____________________________________________________ PROJECT 

 
  

INSURANCE PROVISIONS 
 
 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND 

__________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE _____________________________________________________ PROJECT 

SCOPE OF WORK 



____________________________________________ PROJECT 
 

LABOR AND MATERIALS PAYMENT BOND 
(100% OF CONTRACT AMOUNT) 

 
 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that _____________________________________ 
        (Name of Contractor) 
 
______________________________________ as Principal, hereinafter “CONTRACTOR,” 
 
and __________________________________________________________________________ 
    (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
as Corporate Surety, hereinafter called SURETY, are held and firmly bound unto the County of 
Inyo as Obligee, hereinafter called COUNTY, for the use and benefit of claimants as hereinafter  
defined in the amount of                         
dollars ($          _______       ._____   ) for the payment whereof Contractor and Surety bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assignees, jointly and severally, 
firmly by these presents. 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor has by written contract dated _________________________, 20 _____, 
entered into an Contract with the County for the construction of the _________________ 
PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "PROJECT"), to be constructed in accordance with the terms 
and conditions set forth in the contract for the PROJECT, which contract is by reference 
incorporated herein, and is hereinafter referred to as the "CONTRACT.” 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall 
promptly make payment to all claimants as hereinafter defined, for all labor and materials used or 
reasonably required for use in the performance of the Contract, then this obligation shall be void; 
otherwise, it shall remain in full force and effect, subject, however, to the following conditions: 

 
1. A claimant is defined as one having a direct contract with the Contractor, or with a 

Subcontractor of the Contractor, for labor, materials, or both, used or reasonably required 
for use in the performance of the Contract. Labor and materials is construed to include, but 
not limited to, that part of water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service or 
rental of equipment directly applicable to the Contract. 

 
2. The above named Contractor and Surety hereby jointly agree with the County that every 

claimant as herein defined, who has not been paid in full before the expiration of a period 
of ninety (90) calendar days after the date on which the last of such claimant's work or labor 
was done or performed, or materials were furnished by such claimant, may sue on this Bond 
for the benefit of such claimant, prosecute the suit to final judgment for such sum or sums 
as may be justly due claimant, and have execution thereon. The County shall not be liable 
for the payment of any costs or expenses of any such suit. 



 
3. No suit or action shall be commenced hereunder by any claimant: 

 
a) Unless claimant, other than one having a direct contract with the Contractor, shall have 

given written notice to any two of the following: the Contractor, the County, or the 
Surety above named, within ninety (90) calendar days after such claimant did or 
performed the last of the work or labor, or furnished the last of the material for which 
said claim is made, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name 
of the party to whom the materials were furnished, or for whom the work or labor was 
done or performed. Such notice shall be served by mailing the same by registered mail 
or certified mail, postage prepaid, in any envelope addressed to the Contractor, County, 
or Surety, at the address below, or at any place where an office is regularly maintained 
for the transaction of their business. Such notice may also be served in the state in which 
the aforesaid project is located, save that such service need not be made by a public 
officer. 

 
b) After the expiration of one (1) year following the date on which County accepted the 

work done under the Contract. However, if any limitation embodied in this Bond is 
prohibited by any law controlling the construction hereof, such limitation shall be 
deemed to be amended so as to be equal to the minimum period of limitation permitted 
by such law. 

 
c) Other than in a State Court of competent jurisdiction in and for the County or other 

political subdivision of the state in which the Project, or any part thereof, is situated, 
and not elsewhere. 

 
4. The amount of this Bond shall be reduced by and to the extent of any payment or payments 

made in good faith hereunder, inclusive of the payment by Surety of mechanics' liens which 
may be filed or recorded against said Project, whether or not claim for the amount of such 
lien be presented under and against this Bond. 

 
---o0o--- 

 
 

Signed and sealed this _________ day of _______________, 20 ___. 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
           (Name of Contractor)  
                    
       By: ________________________________ 
            (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
       ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 



                
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
 
        ___________________________________ 
         (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
       By: ________________________________ 
            (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
        ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
NOTE: 
THE SIGNATURES OF THE CONTRACTOR AND THE SURETY MUST BE 
ACKNOWLEDGED BEFORE A NOTARY PUBLIC (OR OTHER OFFICER 
AUTHORIZED UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW).  
The Labor and Materials Payment Bond must be executed by a corporate surety on this form. No 
substitutions will be accepted. If an attorney-in-fact signs for the surety, an acknowledged 
statement from the surety appointing and empowering the attorney-in-fact to execute such bonds 
in such amounts on behalf of the surety, must accompany the Labor and Materials Payment Bond. 
 
ADDRESS OF COUNTY FOR NOTICES TO BE SENT TO: 
   County of Inyo 
   224 N. Edwards, P.O. Box N 
   Independence, California 93526 



________________________________________ PROJECT 
 

FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE BOND 
(100% OF CONTRACT AMOUNT) 

 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That                            

         as Principal, hereinafter “Contractor,”  
 (Name of Contractor) 
and                   

 (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 

as Corporate Surety, hereinafter called Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the County of Inyo  
as Obligee, hereinafter called County, in the amount of                 
         dollars ($                _______   .  _    ), for the 
payment whereof Contractor and Surety bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors and assignees, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 
 
WHEREAS, Contractor has, by written Contract, dated ____________________, 20____, entered 
into an Contract with the County for the Construction of the _______________________   
_________________PROJECT (hereinafter referred to as "Project"), to be constructed in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Contract for the Project, which contract 
is by reference incorporated herein and is hereinafter referred to as the "Contract.” 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall 
promptly and faithfully perform said Contract, then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise 
it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
The Surety hereby waives notice of any alteration or extension of time made by the County. 
 
Whenever Contractor shall be, and is declared by County to be, in default under the Contract, the 
County having performed Owner's obligations thereunder, the Surety may promptly remedy the 
default, or shall promptly either: 
 1. Complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions; or, 
 
 2. Obtain a Bid or Bids for completing the Contract in accordance with its terms and   
  conditions, and upon determination by Surety of the lowest responsible Bidder, or if 

the County elects, upon determination by the County and the Surety jointly of the 
lowest responsible Bidder, arrange for a Contract between such Bidder and County, 
and make available as work progresses (even though there should be a default or a 
succession of defaults under the Contract or contracts of completion arranged under 
this paragraph) sufficient funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the 
Contract price; but not exceeding, including other costs and damages for which the 
Surety may be liable hereunder, the amount set forth in the first paragraph hereof. The 
term "balance of the Contract price", as used in this paragraph, shall mean the total 



amount payable by County to Contractor under the Contract and any amendments 
thereto, less the amount properly paid by County to Contractor. 

 
Any suit under this Bond must be instituted before the expiration of two (2) years from the date 
on which final payment under the Contract falls due, or the date on which any warranty or 
guarantee period expires, whichever is later. 
 
No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to or for the use of any person or corporation other 
than the County named herein. 
 

---o0o--- 
 

Signed and sealed this ______ day of _________________, 20 _____. 

 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
         (Name of Corporate Surety) 
 
       By: _______________________________ 
           (Signature) 
  (SEAL) 
       ____________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
           (Name of Contractor) 
 
       By: _______________________________ 
           (Signature) 
  (SEAL)                              
       ___________________________________ 
         (Title of Authorized Person) 
 
       ___________________________________ 
            (Address for Notices to be Sent) 
 
 
NOTE:  THE SIGNATURES OF THE CONTRACTOR AND THE SURETY MUST 
EACH BE ACKNOWLEDGED BEFORE A NOTARY PUBLIC (OR OTHER OFFICER 
AUTHORIZED UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW) AND THE ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS BOND.  



The Faithful Performance Bond must be executed by a corporate surety on this form. No 
substitutions will be accepted. If an attorney-in-fact signs for the surety, an acknowledged 
statement from the surety appointing and empowering the attorney-in-fact to execute such bonds 
in such amounts on behalf of the surety must accompany the Faithful Performance Bond. 
 
ADDRESS OF COUNTY FOR NOTICES TO BE SENT: 
     County of Inyo 
     224 North Edwards Street, P.O. Box N 
     Independence, California 93526 



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4038  

 

Personal Services Contract Amendments 
County Administrator - Personnel 

 ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Sue Dishion, Assistant County Administrator Keri Oney, Assistant Personnel Director 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve the following: Amendment No. 1 to the contract between County of Inyo and Allison Krohn for 
the provision of personal services effective August 17, 2023; Amendment No. 1 to the contract between 
County of Inyo and Christie Martindale for the provision of personal services effective August 17, 2023; 
and Amendment No. 1 to the contract between County of Inyo and Carolynn Phillips for the provision of 
personal services effective August 17, 2023. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
At the conclusion of the negotiations, the County and employees came to the following agreement.  The 
employee will receive 80 hours of administrative leave time, that is to be used within the fiscal year or 
lose the time.  There is no cash value to this benefit.  The County has agreed to do an analysis on 
vehicle allowance and renegotiated with employees depending on the outcome of the analysis. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

Various Budget Unit  

Budgeted? Yes Object Code  
Recurrence Ongoing Expenditure  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
There are no fiscal impacts associated with this item. 
  
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
Not approve the amendments and direct staff to re-negotiate the contract terms. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

County Counsel  
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Contract Amendment No. 1 - Allison Krohn 
2. Contract Amendment No. 1 - Christie Martindale 
3. Contract Amendment No. 1 - Carolynn Phillips 
  
APPROVALS: 
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 8/2/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/2/2023 
Keri Oney Approved - 8/2/2023 
John Vallejo Approved - 8/3/2023 
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/3/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



WHEREAS, the County of lnyo (
Allison Krohn of Bishop, CA

AMENDMENTNUMBER 1 TO
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND

Allison Krohn
FOR THE PROVISION OF PersonalServices

hereinafter referred to as "County") and

(hereinafter referred to as "Contrgctor"), haye ^e1ttered into an Agreement for the Provision of
Personal services 6"1"6 Janua4t 5, 2023 - 

, on county of lnyo standard
Contract No. 208 , for the term from Januarv 5.2023 to lermination

WHEREAS, County and Contractor do desire and consent to amend such Agreement as set forth
below;

WHEREAS, such Agreement provides that it may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or
subtracted from, by the mutual consenl of the parties thereto, if such amendment or change is in written
form, and executed with the same formalities as such Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement
to maintain continuity.

County and Contractor hereby amend such Agreement as follows:

4. County will provide a $250.00 per month vehicle allowance. The provision is subject to renegotiation
upon the County's completion of an analysis on vehicle allowances.

6. Assistant Assessor is entitled to eight (80) paid administrative hours ofi every fiscal year. The
administrative leave hours shall not accumulate and will be lost if not utilized during the fiscal year. The
administrative leave. The administralive leave shall have no cash value.

The effective date of this Amendment to the Agreement is

All the other terms and conditions of the Agreement are unchanged and remain the same.

County of lnyo Standard Contract - No. 208

Page 1

062912



Ltu*

AMENDMENT NUMBER 1 TO
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND

Allison Krohn

FOR THE PROVISION OF Personalservices

IN WITNESS TH , THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE SET THEIR HANDS AND SEALS THIS
DAY OF 1fr-2.-.

COUNTY OF INYO CONTRACTOR

By: By:
nature

DN
Type or

Dated

AP LEGALITY:

AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM:

AS TO PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS:

nel Services

APPROVED AS TO RISK ASSESSMENT:

Cou Risk Manager

County of lnyo Standard Contract - t{e. 208
Page 2

062912



AMENDMENT NUMBER lTO
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND

Christie Martindale FOR THE PROVISION OF

-Personal 
Seruices

WHEREAS, the County of lnyo (hereinafter referred to as "County") and
Christie Martinda le of Bishop, CA

(hereinafter referred to as "

Personal Services6slg6
Contract No. 208 

, fOf the tefm ffOm Deembet28,2o17 tO termination

WHEREAS, County and Contractor do desire and consent to amend such Agreement as set forth
below;

WHEREAS, such Agreement provides that it may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or
subtracted from, by the mutual consent of the parties thereto, if such amendment or change is in written
form, and executed with the same formalities as such Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement
to maintain continuity.

County and Contractor hereby amend such Agreement as follows:

4. County will provide a $250.00 per month vehicle allowance. This provision is subject to renegotiation
upon the County's completion of an analysis on vehicle allowances.

5. Assistant Auditor Controller is entitled to eighty (80) paid administrative hours off every fiscal year. The
administrative leave hours shall not accumulate and will be lost if not utilized during the fiscal year. The
administrative leave shall have no cash value.

TheeffectivedateofthisAmendmenttotheAgreementis

All the other terms and conditions of the Agreement are unchanged and remain the same.

County of lnyo Standard Contract - 1e 208
Page 1

Contractor"), have entered into an Agreement for the Provision of
November 17, 2017 , on County of lnyo Standard

062912



AMENDMENTNUMBER 1 TO
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND

Christie Martindale
FOR THE PROVISION OF Personal ces

IN WTNESS THEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE SET THEIR HANDS AND SEALS THIS
DAY OF

COUNTY OF INYO CONTRACTOR

By:

Dated:

APPROVED LEGALITY

County Counsel

AP TO ACCOUNTING FORM

Co

AS TO PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS:

Personnel Services

AP D AS TO RISK ASSESSMENT

Co Risk Manager

ay, &'taafa.%a.tb)*/o
Signature

Christie Martindale

Type or Print

Dated: 07t26t2023

County of lnyo Standard Contract -
No._208_

Page2
062912



AMENDMENT NUMBER 1 to
cb?"TytE$fiilflrBErweeru 

rHE couNrY oF lNYo AND

FOR THE PROVISION OF PersonalSeruices

WHE the County of lnyo (hereinafter referred to as "County") and
Carolvnn of Bio Pine. CA

of
Standard

WHEREAS, County and Contractor do desire and consent to amend such Agreement as set forth
below;

WHEREAS, such Agreement provides that it may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or
subtracted from, by the mutual consent of the parties thereto, if such amendment or change is in written
form, and executed with the same formalities as such Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement
to maintain continuity.

County and Coniractor hereby amend such Agreement as follows:

Attachment B - Schedule of Fees

4. County will provide a $250.00 per month vehicle allowance. This provision is subject to
renegotiation upon the County's completion of an analysis on vehicle allowances.

6. Assistant Treasurer-Tax Collector is entitled to eighty (80) paid administrative hours off every fiscal
year. The administrative leave hours shall not accumulate and will be lost if not utilized during the
fiscal year. The administrative leave shall have no cash value.

The effective date of this Amendment to the Agreement is

All the other terms and conditions of the Agreement are unchanged and remain the same

County ot lnyo Standard Contract - No. 208
Page 1

062912



AMENDMENTNUMBER 1 TO

- AGREEJVIENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF INYO AND
Carloynn Phillips

FOR THE PROVISION OF PersonalServtces

IN WITNESS THEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE SET THEIR HANDS AND SEALS THIS
DAY OF

COUNTY OF INYO

By: By:

hafar{,

5
Type or Print

Dated:

APPROVED RM AND LEGALITY:

AS TO UNTI FORM

PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS:

\
Personnel Services

APPROVED AS TO RISKASSESSMENT:

Risk Manager

County of lnyo Standard Contract - No. 208
Page2

062912



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4027  

 

Update on Regional Broadband Activities 
County Administrator 

 NO ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
This is an informational item only. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
Scott Armstrong, Regional Broadband Coordinator, will provide an update on broadband-related 
activities. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

N/A Budget Unit N/A 

Budgeted? N/A Object Code N/A 
Recurrence N/A  
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
None 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
None 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:  
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Inyo Broadband Update 2023 08 08 
  
APPROVALS: 
Scott Armstrong Created/Initiated - 8/2/2023 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/2/2023 
Scott Armstrong Approved - 8/2/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Broadband Update
Inyo County

August 8, 2023

https://ConnectedEasternSierra.net/

https://ConnectedEasternSierra.net/


Overview

• Grants Update
• Middle-Mile Broadband Initiative 
• IMBC Work Plan Updates
• Acronyms for Reference



Grant Updates

• CASF Consortia Grant
• CPUC FFA Grant
• CPUC LATA Grant
• BEAD
• CASF Infrastructure Account
• Other



Grants:  Consortia Grant

• 6-Month Report Preparation
• Budget Modification Request on August 17
• Grant Year 1:  February 1, 2023 – January 31, 2024



Grants:  FFA

• CPUC Last-Mile Federal Funding Account (FFA) Grant
• Mapping Tool:  https://fibermap.vetro.io/ 
• Application Portal:  https://broadbandportal.cpuc.ca.gov/s/ 
• Allocations:  $10,600,000 for Mono, $13,220,000 for Inyo
• Grants Due September 29, 4:00 p.m.
• Providers and Local Agencies can Apply
• Second Application Window Q1 2024

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/industries-and-topics/internet-and-phone/broadband-implementation-for-california/last-mile-federal-funding-account
https://fibermap.vetro.io/
https://broadbandportal.cpuc.ca.gov/s/


Grants:  LATA

• Contract for Phase 1 (1st of 4)
• Will Coordinate Design Work with FFA Timeline
• Phase 2 RFP will be out shortly
• Phase 3 RFP will be out in February (2nd Grant Year)



Grants:  BEAD

• NTIA BEAD Allocation for California:  $1.86M
• August 27, 2023 - CA 5-Year Action Plan Due
• (Summer) 2024 - NTIA Initial Approval, Challenges, etc.
• One Year Later (2025) – CA Final Proposal Due



Grants:  CASF Infrastructure

• CASF Infrastructure Account – Next window closes April 1, 2024
• Providers and Local Governments can Apply
• Allows Fixed Wireless for Last Mile

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/industries-and-topics/internet-and-phone/california-advanced-services-fund/casf-infrastructure-grant


Grants:  Other

• USDA RD Broadband Technical Assistance:
• Hammil & Furnace Creek applications submitted June 20

• FCC Affordable Connectivity Program Outreach:
• CA not eligible



Middle-Mile Broadband Initiative

• MMBI – CBC Asset Purchase 
• Asset Purchase Agreement is in Development
• CBC Board, CDT, Golden State Net (CENIC) and Legal Counsels
• “Business as Usual”
• Very Collaborative

• MMBI Advisory Committee Meeting (July 21)
• Phased Approach
• Working on Purchases, Leases and Joint Builds
• Very thorough Broadband Overview
• Current MMBI Network Map

https://middle-mile-broadband-initiative.cdt.ca.gov/pages/past-meeting-resources
https://site-cammbi.hub.arcgis.com/pages/statewide-middle-mile-network-map


Work Plan Updates

• IMBC Website Updates
• Comprehensive List of Potential Project Locations
• Provider Coordination (FFA Meetings & Info)
• Speed Test Links and Info
• Maps Page with GIS Broadband-Related Assets
• Regular Meetings with Agencies and Providers
• Acronyms and Terms

https://connectedeasternsierra.net/


Other Activities

• Regional concerns with 911 phone traffic redundancy
• Broadband Service Escalation Options & Tracking
• Seeking Clarification on MMBI Phase 1 Construction
• Requested Permission to Share High-Cost Investment Info



Acronyms

• BEAD – Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (NTIA grant program)
• CASF – California Advance Services Fund (within the CPUC)
• CBC – California Broadband Cooperative (Digital 395 network)
• CDT – California Department of Technology
• CPUC – California Public Utilities Commissions
• FCC – Federal Communications Commission
• IMBC – Inyo-Mono Broadband Consortium (ESCOG, CASF Consortia Grant)
• MMBI – Middle-Mile Broadband Initiative (State of California)
• NTIA – National Telecommunications & Information Administration
• RCRC – Rural County Representatives of California
• USDA RD – US Department of Agriculture Rural Development



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

             
 

AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 
 

August 8, 2023   Reference ID:  
2023-4042  

 

Bishop Emergency Medical Services Status Update 
County Administrator 

 NO ACTION REQUIRED 
   

ITEM SUBMITTED BY ITEM PRESENTED BY 
Nate Greenberg, County Administrative Officer Nate Greenberg, County Administrative Officer 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
A) Receive update on current status of 911 Emergency Medical Services in the greater Bishop area, 
including a brief overview of responses received for the interim Request for Proposals; and 
B) Provide staff direction as appropriate. 
  
BACKGROUND / SUMMARY / JUSTIFICATION: 
On July 24, 2023 Inyo County signed a 30-day agreement for 911 Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 
with REACH Air Medical Services. This agreement comes on the heels of a 90-day EMS agreement with 
Coast 2 Coast Public Safety (C2C), which was the winning responder to a Request for Proposals (RFP) 
released by the County in March. The RFP itself was developed in response to longtime EMS provider 
Symons Ambulance ceasing its operations for the Bishop area and relinquishing its hold on an Exclusive 
Operating Area agreement with the Inland Counties Emergency Medical Agency (ICEMA). 
 
The 90-day agreement with C2C expired July 23, 2023 – a week before the company announced it could 
not continue providing EMS services to the greater Bishop area without a subsidy. A C2C representative 
told the Inyo County Board of Supervisors at its July 18, 2023 meeting that the company was not able to 
bring in the revenue it had initially anticipated, due to the newly non-exclusive nature of the Operating 
Area around Bishop. Prior to C2C’s announcement, the County was prepared to renew the C2C EMS 
contract through December, 2024 while the search for and analysis of long-term options were in 
progress. However, C2C’s announcement came with the news that it could only continue to operate with 
some form of financial assurance – effectively $60,000/mo. –  which would cover their operating costs 
and payroll. 
  
The Board of Supervisors discussed the situation at length during its July 18, 2023 – receiving feedback 
from volunteer ambulance providers, hospital emergency department heads, and others in the process – 
and made clear its bottom line was maintaining ambulance service for its constituents. Given the time 
constraints, County staff underwent the informal bidding process outlined in the County’s Purchasing 
Policy, seeking bids from parties interested in stepping in to provide EMS for a 30-day period while a full 
RFP could be developed and released. Both of these activities took place on July 20, 2023. 
  
The County received two bids: one from C2C and one from REACH. While C2C submitted the preferred 
proposal, the firm ultimately withdrew its bid upon learning of competition for the contract. The County 
subsequently entered into a 30-day agreement with the other respondent, REACH, for a cost of $25,000 

INYO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
TRINA ORRILL •  JEFF GRIFFITHS •  SCOTT MARCELLIN •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  MATT  KINGSLEY

DAN TOTHEROH  •  JEFF  GRIFFITHS  •  RICK  PUCCI  •  JENNIFER  ROESER  •  M A T T  K I N G S L E Y

NATE GREENBERG
CO U N T Y  AD M I N I S T R A T I V E  OF F I C E R

DARCY ELLIS
AS S T .  CL E R K  O F  T H E  BO A R D



 

 
P. O. Drawer N | 224 N. Edwards Street | Independence, CA 93526 

(760) 878-0292 
 
 

through August 22, 2023. In the meantime, responses to the RFP for interim EMS service (from August 
22, 2023 - December 31, 2024) are due back to the County by August 7. 
 
This item will provide County staff with an opportunity to update the Board of Supervisors and general 
public, while also receiving comments and input from other interested parties. Though no specific action 
is associated with this item, it is anticipated that the Board will provide direction to staff in anticipation of 
future meetings. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding 
Source 

General Fund Budget Unit 010200 

Budgeted? Yes Object Code 5265 
Recurrence One-Time Expenditure   
Current Fiscal Year Impact 
$25,000 
Future Fiscal Year Impacts 
Unknown 
Additional Information 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES AND/OR CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION: 
No immediate action is required on this item. However, there is a need for the County to continue to 
discuss concepts and options around the future of 911 Emergency Medical Services (EMS) in the 
greater Bishop area as well as throughout the County. Lack of attention to this matter could result in a 
gap in service and/or other related issues. 
  
OTHER DEPARTMENT OR AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 
None. 
  
ATTACHMENTS:  
  
APPROVALS: 
Nate Greenberg Created/Initiated - 8/3/2023 
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/3/2023 
John Vallejo Approved - 8/3/2023 
Nate Greenberg Final Approval - 8/3/2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	 Call to Order
	1) Public Comment on Closed Session Item(s) Comments 

	 Closed Session
	2) Public Employee Performance Evaluation – Pursuant 
	3) Conference with County's Labor Negotiators – Pursu

	 Open Session
	4) Pledge of Allegiance
	5) Report on Closed Session as Required by Law
	6) Public Comment Comments may be time-limited
	7) County Department Reports

	 Consent Agenda
	8) Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes
	Agenda Request Form
	Draft August 2, 2023 Minutes
	Draft August 1, 2023 Minutes

	9) Approval of Broadband Network Design Contract with
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo Broadband Expansion Design Request for Proposals (RFP)
	Onward RFP Response
	Onward Contract

	10) Appointments to the Child Abuse Prevention Council
	Agenda Request Form
	CAPC Proof of Publication
	Nelson Application
	Pope Application
	Ortiz Application
	DeVincent Application
	Thomson Application
	Tanksley Application
	Rizo Application

	11) Lone Pine Sidewalk Construction and American with 
	Agenda Request Form
	Lone Pine Sidewalks Plans
	Lone Pine Sidewalks Bid Package


	 Regular Agenda
	12) First Reading of an Ordinance and Public Hearing t
	Agenda Request Form
	DDP Resolution
	Ordinance No.1172
	Fee Increase Approval Letter
	Ordinance Repealing No. 1172 (DDP fees)

	13) Public Health and Prevention Community Health Asse
	Agenda Request Form
	CHS Presentation

	14) Emergency Contract for Whitney Portal Road Repairs
	Agenda Request Form
	Speiss Construction Proposal
	Clair Concrete Proposal
	Contract

	15) Personal Services Contract Amendments
	Agenda Request Form
	Contract Amendment No. 1 - Allison Krohn
	Contract Amendment No. 1 - Christie Martindale
	Contract Amendment No. 1 - Carolynn Phillips

	16) Update on Regional Broadband Activities
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo Broadband Update 2023 08 08

	17) Bishop Emergency Medical Services Status Update
	Agenda Request Form


	 Additional Public Comment & Reports
	18) Public Comment Comments may be time-limited
	19) Board Member and Staff ReportsReceive updates on r


	Signature 2: 
	Signature 3: 
	Signature 4: 
	Signature 5: 
		2023-08-03T13:00:56-0700
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign


	Date: 
	Year: 
	CONTRACTOR: 
	Project: 
	calendar days after: 
	dollars: 
	Check Box1: Yes
	Check Box2: Yes
	Check Box3: Yes
	Text11: 
	Check Box4: Yes
	Check Box5: Yes
	Check Box6: Yes
	Check Box7: Yes
	Check Box8: Yes
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Yes
	Public Works Department: Ashley Helms
	Independence CA 93526 1: Clair Construction
	Independence CA 93526 2: 438 Arboles Dr.
	Independence CA 93526 3: Bishop, CA
	Independence CA 93526 4: 93514
	Name:            
	Title: 
	Name_2: 
	Title_2: 
	Date_1: 
	Date_2: 
	Date1: August 8
	Year1: 23
	CONTRACTOR1: Clair Concrete, Inc. 
	Project1: Whitney Portal Rd. Emergency Culvert Repair 
	calendar days after1: 
	dollars1: One Million One Hundred and Seventy Three Thousand Two Hundred and Twenty five and 00/100
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box31: Yes
	Text111:  $1,173,225.00  
	Check Box41: Yes
	Check Box51: Yes
	Check Box61: Yes
	Check Box71: Yes
	Check Box81: Off
	Check Box91: Yes
	Check Box101: Yes
	Public Works Department1: Nolan Ferguson 
	Independence CA 93526 11: Matt Clair
	Independence CA 93526 21: Clair Construction
	Independence CA 93526 31: 438 Arboles Dr.
	Independence CA 93526 41: Bishop, CA 93514
	Name1:            
	Title1: 
	Name_21: 
	Title_21: 
	Date_11: 
	Date_21: 
	FOR THE: Whitney Portal Rd. Emergency Culvert Repair
	Text1: Clair Concrete Inc.
	Text2: 1. Mobilization/Demobilization2. Saw Cut and Remove Asphalt:Using a saw to cut the existing asphalt into manageable sections.Removing the cut asphalt from the construction area.Disposing of the removed asphalt properly.3. Survey Work/Elevations (To be done by a third party):Contracting a third-party survey company to conduct survey work and collect data on the construction site and its surroundings.Determining elevations to ensure proper grading and drainage.4. LM Restoration (Land Mark Survey Marker):Replacing the Land Mark (LM) survey marker belonging to the Department of Interior as part of the construction project.5. Guardrail Removal and Replacement:Removing the existing guardrail along the road (if possible, reusing the same guardrail).Installing the existing or new guardrails after the culvert work is complete.6. Remove Headwall (Two head walls to remove):Removing the existing headwalls (both of them) at the inlet/outlet of the culverts.7. Pour New Headwall (Two new head walls to pour):Constructing and pouring two new headwalls to replace the old ones.8. Excavate and Dispose of Old Culverts:Digging and removing the old culverts from the construction area.Disposing of the removed culvert material properly.9. Excavate and Remove Material/Box Culv.:Excavating and removing material from the construction area to prepare the base for the box culverts.10. Supply and Install Crushed Gravel11. Supply and Install 6" Concrete Slab12. Supply and Install Box Culverts13. Backfill Bypass Culv. with Slurry14. Supply and Install Road Base:Supplying and placing road base material to support the road surface.15. Supply and Install HMA:Supplying and placing Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) for the road surface.16. Compaction QC (To be done by a third party)


